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Corporate Information
NAER

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE

OF BUSINESS IN THE PRC

25 Floor, Building B

No. 3300 Zhongshan North Road
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Chairman’s Statement

| am pleased to present our annual report for the year ended 31
December 2024.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Qur revenue increased to RMB6,792.5 million in the full year of
2024 from RMB4,190.7 million in the full year of 2023. Our gross
profit increased to RMB5,109.4 million in the full year of 2024 from
RMBS3,019.5 million in the full year of 2023. Our profit for the full year
of 2024 was RMB803.3 million whereas our profit for the full year of
2023 was RMB461.7 million.

Final Dividend of RMBO0.75 per share was proposed by the Board for
the year ended 31 December 2024. The final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2023 of RMBO0.75 per share was approved by
the shareholders at general meeting held on 30 May 2024. The interim
dividends for the six months ended 30 June 2024 of RMBO.75 per
share was approved by the shareholders at general meeting held on
30 September 2024.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

BUSINESS REVIEW

We are a multi-brand cosmetics company, focusing on research and
development, manufacturing and sales of skincare products, maternity
and childcare products, washing and personal care products and
makeup products. We focus on the implementation of multi-brand
strategy and have remained dedicated to it since our establishment.
With an operational history of more than 20 years, today we are
one of the front runners in China’s cosmetics industry, possessing
comprehensive multi-brand development, operational capability and
expertise, and we have successfully built a variety of popular cosmetic
brands. Our decisive strategy originally to embark on and persist with
a multi-brand strategy gives us an advantage to timely grasp market
opportunities and sets us apart from our peers.
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Chairman’s Statement
FTERE

KANS BER
Launched in 2003, KANS, being positioned as a “scientific anti- ZRN2003FHL  TUAIREBRE | EE R
aging” skincare brand, focuses on addressing the evolving anti- B EEMESFRBEDMNZE B2 TR

aging needs of Asian females of various age groups, with a broad R OBEBEZNBEERERE  EEMUNRES
target customer base, and is positioned to be a go-to brand in the MmTISH EERME - 20F 2K - BERFE RN
anti-aging skincare market. For more than 20 years, KANS has been AT TEELETNER  BAORIEE
deeply engaging in anti-aging research, and continues to launch better FITHER P E R BR G o

products and aims to build KANS into a super Chinese cosmetics

brand.

According to industry media reports, in 2024, the GMV of KANS on WETHEEREEM > 2024F - H#REFELERE

the online channel ranked second among domestic cosmetics brands, GMVAIFIZE MBI E M8 = ¢ 18R 5|30 i
with a growth rate ranking the first among top cosmetics brands. MR G R — o

POLYPEPTIDE

LLAGEN SOFTENING
LOTION

CYCLOPEPTIDE
KANS

YCLOPEPTIDE
KANS

CLOPEPTIDE
} kaANS |

CYCLOPEPTIDE
KANS
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In 2024, we upgraded the series of Polypeptide Collagen Softening (4L
I % %)) to version 2.0, and added a self-developed and filed new
ingredient, “CYCLOHEXAPEPTIDE-9 (3273k-9)”, with better anti-
wrinkle and firming effects. In 2024, we launched a single-product
“REVITALISING PLUMPING FIRMING SOFT CREAM (I/EZ&ZZ
BERTE)” (“X-peptide Cream”), which added an upgraded and
innovative “X-peptide” ingredient based on “CYCLOHEXAPEPTIDE-9”.
Upon launch, it achieved more than 40 million sales during Double
Eleven. We also launched KANS’s men’s Essence, “ILLUMINATING
PLUMPING SERUM (F§7t#%)”", as well as new categories such as
KANS’s makeup series, covering a wider consumer group.

In 2024, we continued to launch special programs in holidays, such
as the Spring Festival, International Women’s Day and Mother’s
Day, through social media platforms to help “KANS Red” become
a household name and deliver affective content such as love and
female power. The co-branded gift box between KANS and Suzhou
Silk Museum launched on Qixi Festival paid tribute to the intangible
cultural heritage classics, inherited the beauty of culture, and
expressed oriental romance. The case won the “Gold Award of the
Annual Event Marketing Case” (5 /E)& &) & 5 & 22) issued by the
China International Advertising Festival.

In addition, in 2024, the pick-up service point of KANS opened at
Shanghai Honggiao Railway Station, Beijing South Railway Station
and Hangzhou East Railway Station, creating a new business model
of “Promotion Online + Picking up Offline”, and one-stop solution for
consumers’ needs for cosmetics products on business trips, travel
and giving gifts. And we will continue to explore new strategies and
new tactics of balancing online and offline development to further
enhance consumer experience and enhance offline exposure of the
brand.
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Chairman’s Statement
FTERE

In 2024, “Polypeptide Collagen Softening Cream”, the product of
Polypeptide Collagen Softening (AL 2 Z7%I|) series, won the “2024
CBE Technology Innovative Best Formulation Award (2024 CBE %1#
BRI AR RER H88)” at China Beauty Expo; X-peptide Cream won
the “Annual Anti-wrinkle firming Cream of 2024 China’s Top Formula
Beauty Awards (2024 REISFEE T FE M EETE)” award from the
domestic cosmetics media HUAZHUANG (¥44€), and the “SIA100
Scientific Product of the Year 2024 (SIA100 2024 FERIZE &)
award from the SIA Association (I ESIAH ).

We strive to consolidate the market position of KANS as a leading
Chinese domestic scientific anti-aging brand to seize the market
potential of anti-aging skincare products in the PRC. We are devoted
to develop more advanced technologies, in order to meet the
increasing needs of the consumers of KANS.

The revenue generated from KANS in 2024 was RMB5,591.0 million,

representing an increase of 80.9% as compared to 2023 and
accounting for 82.3% of our total revenue for the year.
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One Leaf

One Leaf was launched in 2014. Targeting younger users, One Leaf
blends ingredients from nature using advanced techniques, creating
effective and natural skincare products.

In 1H2024, One Leaf started brand revamp based on a new brand
positioning of “Recover Self-healing Capability, Repair Youth Energy”
while making announcement on the new brand spokesperson with
a younger and simple image to interact with young consumers. In
2H2024, our wholly-owned subsidiary, Shanghai One Leaf Cosmetic
Co., Ltd. (EB—EFi#tmERZAT), and Hangzhou Mangken
Brand Management Co., Ltd. ({11 T528 @2 E 2B R A R]) established
a subsidiary, aiming to use the resources and advantages of both
parties to operate and further develop One Leaf and achieve good
results.

96"
REPAIR EMULSoy
o
One leaf iPRINEAS
9i8
s
i
o
90"
ot | semenn
‘
el | wemsmn £ =
oy
< Fa

e

Chairman’s Statement
FERE

—E7

—HFR2014FH T - TEHERFEAP - —
EFHRBLERITRE RAKS @ BIRBHRKRA
MM °

20244 EHF - —EFHRRBGBBRT - ER1E
RERGANINETREEN  RPEEMmE
2HREA - UEMFEGOMTRE R FEH
BE 2024 THF BN EFARLE—
ETbaBRAREMNERREEEERA

K
ol

AR FRA - EEMNBRMESERFE R
BERNEBY  KENE—FTER-EZEFIRER

SFHRRAR ©

]

Oneles SRS FIUATA
D MOSTURE CLEANSER

—otF

One lea

REPAIR ESSENCE
Repair+ Mot
Oneleat #PRIMES

90*

Annual Report 2024 FERE |

9



Chairman’s Statement
FTERE

In terms of awards, the brand One Leaf won the “2024 Asia-Pacific
Most Favorite Brand” (2024 ZEAmYX=E M%) award from Asia-
Pacific Newsweek (¥ # H|Z5 K hx), the washing and care products
of One Leaf won the “Influential Brand” (3221 &k2) of the 2024
Personal Care Awards from Beauty Headlines (E#AZZE1§), and One
Leaf's product, “Luminous Hydrating Repair Essence (—Z&FJti&
1EFEKRHE2E)” won “ICIC Technological, Innovative Anti-sensitive
and Repairing Product Award (ICIC BHEAIF MBS ER )" at
International Cosmetics Innovation Conference (ICIC) 2024 in 2024.

The revenue generated from One Leaf in 2024 was RMB229.3 million,

representing a decrease of 35.7% as compared to 2023, accounting
for 8.4% of the total revenue for the year.
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Chairman’s Statement
FERE

Baby Elephant FINZ=RIAF-

We launched Baby Elephant in 2015. With “simple ingredients, safe BFR2016FEHEAI B/ WIEERD » &
and effective” as its core, it is positioned as a professional maternity DER]AEZY  BETUREGTFEHEENES
and childcare brand that suits the skin of Chinese babies and children UEHEEEERRERENRNEXGBERR
to accompany each baby during its happy and healthy growth. h& o

In 2024, the brand image upgrade at brand level continued to be MH2024%F - MIEEW - B RALFFEEM -
implemented, focusing on the emotional content of the brand, PEMEBERARD  ERES - TESHBEERE
focusing on the gift giving mindset of makeup gift boxes on Children’s FHEESHEELIE  FERFEEE QB
Day, New Year’s Day and other festivals, continuing to refresh the R BAKABHMOERDE - R2024F K5
brand impression of consumers, and striving to become the preferred EHO4BEHREVMER  BEREHEDF
brand for mothers. In 2024, a total of 0.4 million children’s makeup RER2024FHH R E MG LHEEE — -
products were sold, and it was certified by Frost & Sullivan as the No.

1 online sales of children’s makeup in China in 2024.
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Chairman’s Statement
FTERE

At the product level, we have integrated and perfected our product
matrix, and our baby-children series covers the skincare and toiletry
needs of children aged 0-12 years old. The newly launched youth
QU series is aimed at teenagers aged 12-18 to solve the problem of
oily skin, acne and irritability in adolescent skin. We will continuously
refine the children’s makeup products under Baby Elephant and also
focus on core strategy of market of school-age children. Based on
skincare needs of children at different stages of development, we will
launch exclusive skincare products for infants, children and teenagers,
achieving simultaneous improvement of “beauty and skincare”.

At the marketing level, Lu Yi, the national father, was signed as the
brand spokesperson, and his daughter Belle (B %) was brought to
speak for the youth OU series. The brand continues to carry out public
welfare actions to care for children in need, conveying the brand’s
sense of social responsibility. Accompanying children of all ages to
grow up, it makes more safety and comfort for child growth with
scientific research strength, love and protection.

In 2024, Baby Elephant, as the first drafting unit, and under the
management of Shanghai Daily Chemistry Trade Association worked
with experts in various fields to formulate the group standard of
Evaluation Method of Cosmetics Formula with Tear-Free Claim {{ti&
G ESREC A ERAVAIE L)), improving the “tear-free test” standard
for infants and children washing care product formulas.

In 2024, the brand Baby Elephant won the “Outstanding Performance
Award for Children’s Cosmetics Brand of the Year” (FFE R Z1L it
fE 4t R 3R K #2) at the 9th Cherry Awards (4t X&) by myguancha.
com (FFEE7T¥#822) and the “2024 Red Dot Design Award” (2024 4T 24
&=t K #%) from the German Red Dot Award ({2 [ 4T 25 £%).

We seek to maintain the leading position of Baby Elephant in the
maternity and childcare segment in China. We intend to continue
to offer skincare products suitable for the skin type of Chinese
babies and children to adapt to the rising demand for high-quality
maternity and childcare products. We aim to conduct R&D activities
for additives-free, safe, organic, and simple products. We will devote
resources to the standardisation and advancement of the maternity
and childcare industry.

The revenue generated from Baby Elephant in 2024 was RMB376.0

million, representing an increase of 0.1% as compared to 2023,
accounting for 5.5% of the total revenue for the year.
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newpage

newpage was launched in May 2022. It is positioned as a functional
skincare brand focusing on sensitive skins of babies and children. It
was jointly established by Ms. Zhang Ziyi (£ %), a famous actress,
Mr. Cui Yutao (#£X%7F), a puericulturist, and our scientists. This
brand positioned in “medical + research”, forming a close-loop of
“user experience + pediatric experience + scientific research”, and
advocated natural and simple, professional science popularisation,
peace of mind and effectiveness and environmental friendliness.
In terms of products, newpage has laid out three major directions:
skincare, washing and cleaning.

For online channels, newpage’s Baby Balancing Cream (BE%Z /[
78) had repeatedly ranked No.1 in the best-selling list of baby face
cream on Tmall. For offline channels, newpage continued to expand
cooperation channels and reached strategic cooperation.

In 2024, newpage began to lay out age-specific product lines,
launching the “newpage612” and “newpage1218” series to provide
more targeted skincare solutions according to the standards of infants
and children skincare for 6-12 years old school-aged skin and 12-18
adolescent skin respectively.
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Chairman’s Statement
FTERE

In 2024, newpage placed more emphasis on building deeper and
more co-channel connections with consumers. newpage patrticipated
in the 2024 Cui Yutao National Lecture Tour (2024 & T /&2 BlX(EE
&), and cooperated to build a scientific parenting knowledge sharing
platform through offline lectures, parent-child family interactions
and parenting expert exchanges. At the same time, Dr. Cui Yutao’s
professional and scientific parenting knowledge was shared through
social media platforms, and a regular online program was planned to
discuss social topics related to parenting, so as to convey the brand
temperature to consumers.

In 2024, newpage won the “Green Consumption and High-quality
Development of Brands Innovation Case* (42 HE RifmE 8% E
Bl ZH)” award from People’s Daily. newpage’s “Baby Balancing
Cream (BEZ/[\FE)" won the title of “2024 Ingenuity Case of the
Year* (2024 £ E E M ZED)” of the “Treasure Domestic Products*”(E &

B &) initiated by Xinhuanet.

»

The revenue generated from newpage in 2024 was RMB375.6 million,
representing an increase of 146.3% as compared to 2023, accounting
for 5.5% of the total revenue for the year.

In 2024, we primarily generated revenue from these four brands with
the amount of RMB6,571.9 million, representing an increase of 65.3%
as compared to 2023, which in aggregate contributed 96.7% of our
total revenue.
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Other Brands

To meet the increased demands for high-quality products from
consumers, we have a multi-brand layout in multiple categories. In the
skincare category, we cooperated with KPC and launched a sensitive
skincare brand ARMIYO, which uses “artemisia annua oil AN+”" as
the core ingredient; preparation is underway to launch: TAZU, a high-
end anti-aging skincare brand developed in cooperation with scientist,
Kosaku Yamada. In the maternity and childcare category, preparation
is underway to launch the eponymous maternity and childcare brand
Anpanman (€ B A) which is licensed to use well-known IPs. In
the washing and care category, we launched a washing and care
brand KYOCA, which is committed to strengthening hair and scalp
decompression. In the makeup category, we will launch NAN beauty,
a makeup brand jointly established with make-up artist Chunnan.

skin care
EaliPS

maternity and childcare

(520
luxury A
e TAZU
§ ﬁyﬁt NEW PAQE
AIMIYO — 0
KANS &=R tea  OU
ONELEAF —+F A
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Chairman’s Statement
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Research and Development

We started our independent R&D activities in 2003 and have insisted
on product self-development. Our dual R&D centers are dedicated to
building powerful platforms for advanced fundamental research and
product development work. Staying close to consumers’ needs, we
focus on product development and new technology applications in
response to the changing market. We strive to attract and cultivate
talents and have formed a strong team with rich R&D experience.
We maintained high and effective R&D investment persistently. In
2024 and 2023, we incurred R&D expenses of RMB179.9 million and
RMB125.8 million, respectively, accounting for 2.6% and 3.0% of our
revenue, respectively.

In 2024, we worked with relevant industry departments and
associations to formulate and publish a number of industry group
standards, including Transdermal Penetration Test of Cosmetic
Ingredients by Human in Vivo Raman Spectroscopy {1tz 7 &
23 B A BETE RS 2 3¢ 8% ), Evaluation Method of Cosmetics
Formula with Tear-Free Claim {{bizs#RE 5 & A HIE 7%)), and
Sunscreen cosmetics — Sun protection test predictive methods in vitro
(Ultraviolet transformation methods) of the sun protection factor (SPF)

KBt dn b 18 45 BU(SPF &) 78 #IRITE TTA (KON EEIE))).

Ingredients

In 1H2024, we completed the raw material filing of
“CYCLOHEXAPEPTIDE-9” and obtained three invention patents,
providing the application of “CYCLOHEXAPEPTIDE-9” in the
synthesis process and other aspects of cosmetics. At present,
“CYCLOHEXAPEPTIDE-9” is used in many product lines such as the
series of Polypeptide Collagen Softening (AL%& 2 £7%1)) of KANS and
X-peptide series.

Patents
In 2024, we newly applied for 76 patents, including 36 invention
patents. We have been granted 27 patents, 5 of which are invention
patent.
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Articles

In 2024, we published a total of 15 scientific research papers,
covering the research on the mechanism of core raw ingredients
such as artemisia annua AN+, Tiracle Pro and olive oil ceramide,
cosmetic process optimisation and efficacy evaluation, forming a
complete scientific research system covering basic research, process
optimisation and clinical validation. The core achievements include:

1. Joint research — Cooperating with Chongqging Hospital of
Traditional Chinese Medicine and Signum Biosciences, 6 articles
on artemisia annua AN+ study have been published in domestic
and foreign journals, covering the improvement mechanism
of skin problems such as atopic dermatitis and psoriasis —
cooperating with Shanghai Jiaotong University, an article on the
study of extraction process optimisation of olive leaf polyphenols
was published in Molecules — cooperating with Shanghai Center
for Disease Control and Prevention, articles on the research
on exposure parameters of children’s cosmetics and industry
efficacy evaluation system analysis were published in the Journal
of Toxicology ( FIEE%#:5)) and Dermatology Bulletin €5 E &
BB R)) respectively — cooperating with Huazhong University
of Science and Technology, a survey on the use patterns of
children’s cosmetics in Wuhan was published in the Dermatology

Bulletin (2 BRI £/ TR );

2. Independent research — 4 innovative achievements were
published in domestic journals such as the Journal of Toxicology
(FBEET)),
peptides application, olive oil ceramide and anti-deactivator
compound system (B3 i/E 14 ¥3EECEE K) - Tiracle Pro anti-aging
research was published in the Journal of Cosmetic Dermatology,

involving panthenol photoprotection, cyclic

confirming that all research on in vitro skincare efficacy and anti-
aging protection focuses on technological innovation in the field
of skin health, forming a complete scientific research system
covering basic research, process optimisation and clinical
validation.

Awards

In 2024, “CYCLOHEXAPEPTIDE-9” won the “Ringier Technology
Innovation Awards — Raw Materials Award” (584& £l 8157 48 — R KK
#%) awarded by Ringier Trade Media, the “INPD International Innovative
Raw Material Award” (INPD EIFE8I%7[R#}£€) awarded by INPD, and
the “Great Chinese Raw Materials — China Ace Ingredient Award” (1
THERY AR B RE — R T H2 Ak 5 88) awarded by Chunlei Agency (B&
#1).
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Employees and Remuneration Policy

As at 31 December 2024, we had 2,086 full-time employees, amongst
which 2,007 full-time employees were based in the PRC and 79 full-
time employees were based in overseas. The total remuneration
cost for the year of 2024 was RMB551.3 million, as compared to
RMB494.6 million for the year of 2023, maintaining a reasonable
increase in remuneration to ensure the Group’s strong competitive
advantage in the human resources market.

We recruit our employees through on-campus recruitment, job fairs,
recruitment agencies and internal and external referrals. Committed to
providing fair and equal opportunities in all our employment practices,
we have adopted policies and procedures including candidate
competency analysis models designed by third parties to ensure a fair
selection and hiring process. As part of our retention strategy, we offer
our employees competitive salaries, additional insurance packages
and merit-based incentive schemes which are generally based on
performance of the individual employees and the overall performance
of our business.

We provide new hire training to new joiners on our culture, business
and industry to improve their understanding of the Company and
their abilities to perform their duties. We also regularly provide tailor-
made in-house training sessions to our employees that aim to
improve their technical skills or arrange for our employees to attend
training sessions provided by third parties. In addition, we provide
management skills training opportunities to certain employees to help
them transition into a management role.
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Capital Expenditures

The Group’s capital expenditure of RMB242.6 million in 2024 was
mainly related to the new items of property, plant and equipment
amounting to RMB233.4 million, and other intangible assets
amounting to RMB9.2 million.

Right-of-use Assets and Lease Liability

International Financial Reporting Standards No. 16 — Lease (IFRS 16)
came into effect on 1 January 2019. At the commencement date, the
Group should recognise a right-of-use asset and a lease liability. The
related right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are located in the PRC
and overseas. As of 31 December 2024, the Group’s right-of-use
assets were RMB125.7 million (RMB131.2 million as of 31 December
2023) and its lease liabilities were RMB51.5 million (RMB65.6 million
as of 31 December 2023). In 2024, depreciation charges of right-
of-use assets amounted to RMB38.2 million and interest charges of
lease liabilities amounted to RMB3.1 million.

OUTLOOK

We are committed to our “six-six” strategy to promote overall business
growth through six main competitive aspects and the planning of six
major sectors in order to support sustainable development of the
Group.
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Six main competitive aspects:

20

Maintain organisation-driven leadership and support sustainable
development of the Group with talents

We believe that talents with excellent management or technical
skills are our valuable assets as well as the impetus of providing
customers with products of continuous innovation and high
quality, and is the necessary condition for the achievement of
a multi-brand cosmetics group. Implementing our corporate
values of “Diversity, Optimism, Innovation and Legacy”, we plan
to continuously improve our corporate structure and corporate
culture to attract talents.

We will continue to focus on improving our recruitment
and training system to recruit talents with an international
perspective, such as graduates from prestigious schools such
as the world’s first-class universities and disciplines and the
QS200. By establishing joint training projects in cooperation with
universities, we can more effectively identify suitable talents. In
order to remain competitive in the recruitment market, we strive
to provide industry-leading salary and welfare systems and open
up promotion channels, forming a scientific talent selection
and incentive mechanism. In addition, we will implement job
rotation and duty rotation for our employees to promote the all-
rounder employee model, and prevent solidification of hierarchy.
By leveraging a flat and effective management system, we
encourage employees at the primary level to give play to
their creativity, and maintain the enthusiasm and stability of
management and technical staff. We aim to build up corporate
culture and team atmosphere among employees to enhance
their sense of belonging, and a talent training system for our
employees to achieve their personal growth and to support the
operation and development of multiple brands of the Group.
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Maintain R&D leadership, continue to invest in R&D to drive
product innovations and make popular products enjoyed by our
consumers

Leveraging our advanced R&D and production capabilities in the
PRC and overseas, we will increase investments in fundamental
research projects on trendy core ingredients in the skincare
area such as anti-aging technology and skin barrier repairing
technology, including development on new raw materials, new
technologies, and new formulas; and applied science projects
including application of the raw materials and formulas, and
improving the overall skin feel of consumers. We have now
established an independent scientific research system of
Chicmax, with the aim of breaking down international scientific
research barriers. We will continue to conduct pilot projects for
new brands and new products to improve consumer experience
and meet diverse consumer demands, and ultimately create
more growth opportunities.

Artificial intelligence (Al) leadership and introduce Al empowered
management tools to improve the Group’s management and
operation efficiency

We introduce leading Al empowered tools which will be used
to intelligently process large amounts of data and information
to conduct intelligent data analysis and prediction, providing
data and insights to support decision-making, further optimising
the allocation and utilization of resources, and thus improving
the Group’s management and operation efficiency, innovation
capabilities and competitiveness.
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Maintain marketing leadership and continue to enhance and
expand products marketing networks to penetrate users and
build a consumer-centric mindset

We will make full use of our advantageous resources and adopt
stronger and more effective competitive strategies and marketing
tools to increase the breadth and depth of our sales channels
and in particular, to further deepen the marketing and promotion
of our online e-commerce platforms and the offline omnichannel
strategy. In addition to continuing to maintain and enhance
KANS'’s leading position in the Douyin channel and driving more
of the Group’s brands to achieve breakthroughs in Douyin, we
aim to achieve better development on platforms such as Tmall/
Taobao, JD and Kuaishou.

Maintain intelligent production leadership and accelerate the
Group’s intelligent production to enhance the production
efficiency and standardized product quality

We will continue to design and establish the direction and plan
of the Group’s intelligent transformation in conjunction with our
practical production and operation, comprehensively applying
the artificial intelligence and other technologies to build and
refine intelligent production lines to increase the production
efficiency and improve standardized product quality of the
Group.

Promote the Group’s strategies from “personalization”
development to “generality” development and drive development
with platforms to further expand our business

We aim to achieve development of our business by diversified
cooperation with our talents and business partners. We are
committed to gathering talents and providing them with a broad
platform to assist them in achieving their development. We will
continue to strengthen cooperation with multiple partners to
build a brand incubation platform and to continuously cultivate
breakthroughs in various aspects of our business.
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Planning of six major sectors:

Based on our existing multi-brand matrix, we will have a broader
strategic layout in the next decade in building six major sectors
of mass skin care, washing and personal care, maternal and
baby products, skin medical beauty, makeup, high-end skin care
and instrument, hence expanding our business boundaries in the

cosmetics industry.

Looking forward, we are committed to conveying Chinese branding
power to the world and promoting the brand image of Chinese
domestic cosmetics products. Through developing our international
R&D capabilities, business presence and brand awareness, we aim to
become a world-class cosmetics group.

Best regards,

Lyu Yixiong

Chairman of the Board, Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer
EEEREmBROERAR

Shanghai Chicmax Cosmetic Co., Ltd.

Shanghai, the PRC

20 March 2025
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Financial Summary

LR A

Our revenue increased to RMB6,792.5 million in the full year of
2024 from RMB4,190.7 million in the full year of 2023. Our gross
profit increased to RMB5,109.4 million in the full year of 2024 from
RMB3,019.5 million in the full year of 2023. Our profit for the full year
of 2024 was RMB803.3 million whereas our profit for the full year of
2023 was RMB461.7 million.

Final Dividend of RMBO0.75 per share was proposed by the Board for
the year ended 31 December 2024. The final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2023 of RMBO0.75 per share was approved by
the shareholders at general meeting held on 30 May 2024. The interim
dividends for the six months ended 30 June 2024 of RMBO0.75 per
share was approved by the shareholders at general meeting held on
30 September 2024.

BB ABE2023F 2 FMARK410.7HE
TLEINE2024F 2 FMARKG,792.565E T °
MW ENB2023F2FMWARKE3,019588
T INE2024F 2 FMARKES 109458 T ©
B 2024 F 2 FHFHAARBE03.3EET -
Mk F20283F 2 FMFHAARK461.7ES
5o

EEERBRNEE2024F12A31BIEEFEERN
KRR B FIRARKE0.757T - HE 202312 A
31AIEFENRAKRESRARK0. 75T EER
WR2024F5 A0 A EITHREE LibE - B E
2024F 6 A30H LA E AT HRETRARE
0.75 T B EREMN2024F9 A0 B RITHR RS
HbE -

FY2020 FY2021 FY2022 FY2023 FY2024
20204 20214 20224 20234 20245
BERFE MRFE HRFE BRFE BREE
(Except per share data) RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(BB ARBFT ARBFTT AR®TT ARBTR ARET
Revenue WA 3,381,633 3,618,882 2,675,331 4,190,727 6,792,518
Cost of sales SHEKA 1,195,042 1,258,243 975,699 1,171,275 1,683,131
Gross profit EF 2,186,591 2,360,639 1,699,632 3,019,452 5,109,387
Profit before tax B F)E 279,626 408,124 154,232 559,213 926,970
Profit for the year REE A 203,182 338,771 137,080 461,663 803,297
Dividends Bl - 200,000 99,489 298,468 298,519
79,592 298,519%
Earning Per Share (EPS) BRRAF 0.57 0.94 0.41 1.16 1.96
Dividend Per Share (DPS) &I F - 0.56 0.25 0.75 0.750
0.20 0.75@
Total assets BEE 2,224,288 2,274,563 3,145,667 3,128,827 3,596,597
Total liabilities BeE 1,639,898 1,319,525 1,439,022 1,099,600 1,361,927
Net asset value EESE 584,390 955,038 1,706,645 2,029,227 2,234,670
Return on Equity (ROE) L ElE B 34.8% 44.0% 10.3% 24.7% 37.7%
Return on Total Assets (ROA) 42 & /&= bl i & 8.9% 15.1% 5.1% 14.7% 23.9%
Notes: Bt -
1) Final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2024 1) EZE2024F12 A31 B ILFEH RIS
@) Interim dividend for the six months ended 30 June 2024 2 HZE2024F6 A30H [E/ @AM FERE
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

We generated revenue primarily from the manufacture and sales
of cosmetic products. Revenue of the Group in 2024 increased by
62.1% to RMB6,792.5 million compared to RMB4,190.7 million in
2023 owing to the increased revenue generated from KANS, one of
the Group’s major brands.

Revenue by brands

BEENwN O

g JEINEE

KA

BPMWAEERBE A RERERIBE - BRAR
SEXERBr —H#REENBALN A&
ErRAH2023FHARE4,190.7 8 & T8N
62.1%Z 2024 F M ARKES, 79256 FH T

B &) 7 BT A

Year ended 31 December
HZE12A31HLEEE

2024 2023
2024%F 20234
% of % of
Revenue Revenue
Amount Amount Amount Amount
X WAELEE(%) TE HABE(%)

(RMB in millions, except percentages)

(AR BET  BDHEIN)

KANS #ER 5,591.0 82.3 3,090.4 73.7

One Leaf —EF 229.3 3.4 356.5 8.5

Baby Elephant A&/ 5 376.0 5.5 375.7 9.0

newpage newpage —H 375.6 5.5 162.5 3.6

Others Brands ™t H A, g h (W) 220.6 3.3 215.6 5.2

Total s 6,792.5 100.0 4,190.7 100.0
Note: Other brands primarily consist of ARMIYO, KYOCA etc. Wit BEMREXrERELHE - B L% o

The Group’s revenue attributable to KANS increased by 80.9% from
RMBS3,090.4 million in 2023 to RMB5,591.0 million in 2024, primarily
due to the overall upgrading of the KANS brand, and achieved rapid
increase in revenue across all channels.

The Group’s revenue attributable to One Leaf decreased by 35.7%
from RMB356.5 million in 2023 to RMB229.3 million in 2024, primarily
because we are in the process of transforming, upgrading and
adjusting One Leaf.

BER A A R E WA 2023 F 1) A R
3,090.4 BB ITEMNB0.9% E2024F M AR
5,501.08 87« TERENHFSIPOREFH
§ o EERERARTEE -

—EFEEAEENRAH22023FMARE
356.5 BB LML 35. 7% E2024 F AR
220.3AET FEEHRNKMREK —EFiE
RUAARAEERTEL o
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIEE AT

The Group’s revenue attributable to Baby Elephant increased by 0.1%
from RMB375.7 million in 2023 to RMB376.0 million in 2024, primarily
due to the newly launched infants and children series, covering a
variety of needs such as the skincare and washing care for the infants
and children.

The Group’s revenue attributable to newpage increased by 146.3%
from RMB152.5 million in 2023 to RMB375.6 million in 2024, primarily
due to the rapid growth in overall brand sales driven by star products
of the newpage series.

Revenue by sales channels

A REOREBNKABR22023FHARE
375.7EELIEN0.1% E2024FH AR ES76.0
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Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31HLEE

2024 2023
2024 20234
% of % of
Revenue Revenue
Amount Amount Amount Amount
£ WALLEE(%) E WABE(%)

(RMB in millions, except percentages)

(AR BET  BOHEIN)

Online Channels FEEE 6,149.7 90.5 3,586.9 85.6
Online direct sales =k 5,311.7 78.2 2,909.0 69.4
Sales to Online Retailers BRETER 539.9 7.9 364.8 8.7
Sales to Online Distributors ol L] 298.1 4.4 313.1 7.5
Offline Channels BT RE 578.1 8.5 539.6 12.9
Sales to Offline Retailers BTEERN 328.6 4.8 387.4 9.2
Sales to Offline Distributors BT DiER 249.5 3.7 152.2 3.6
Others Hith 64.7 1.0 64.2 1.5
Total e 6,792.5 100.0 4,190.7 100.0

The Group’s revenue attributable to online direct sales increased by
82.6% from RMB2,909.0 million in 2023 to RMB5,311.7 million in
2024 primarily due to the enhancement of KANS’s brand potential
energy and the improvement of online self-operating ability.

The Group’s revenue attributable to sales to online retailers increased
by 48.0% from RMB364.8 million in 2023 to RMB539.9 million in
2024, primarily due to the increase in revenue generated by KANS
and newpage from online retailers such as JD, Tmall Supermarket.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The Group’s revenue attributable to sales to online distributors
decreased by 4.8% from RMB313.1 million in 2023 to RMB298.1
million in 2024, primarily due to adjustments of our online sales
strategies to enhance our online direct sales channel.

The Group’s revenue attributable to sales to offline retailers decreased
by 15.2% from RMB387.4 million in 2023 to RMB328.6 million in
2024, primarily due to the changes in consumption habits.

The Group’s revenue attributable to sales to offline distributors
increased by 63.9% from RMB152.2 million in 2023 to RMB249.5
million in 2024, primarily due to strengthening the cooperation with
offline distributors and expanding the offline market.

Revenue by categories
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Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31HLEE

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
% of % of
Revenue Revenue
Amount Amount Amount Amount
£ WALLEE(%) E WABE(%)

(RMB in millions, except percentages)

(ANE¥BET  BEALES))

Skin Care EE 5,921.6 87.2 3,601.6 86.0
Maternity and childcare 8RR 766.7 11.3 542.6 12.9
Others HA 104.2 1.5 46.5 1.1
Total #Et 6,792.5 100.0 4,190.7 100.0

The Group’s revenue attributable to skin care increased by 64.4%
from RMB3,601.6 million in 2023 to RMB5,921.6 million in 2024,
primarily due to the increase in revenue generated from KANS.

The Group’s revenue attributable to maternity and childcare increased
by 41.3% from RMB542.6 million in 2023 to RMB766.7 million
in 2024, primarily due to the increase in revenue generated from
newpage.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIEE AT

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

The Group’s gross profit increased by 69.2% from RMB3,019.5 million
in 2023 to RMB5,109.4 million in 2024. Our gross profit margins were
75.2% and 72.1% in 2024 and 2023, respectively, primarily due to the
increase of gross profit margin under KANS.

Other Income and Gains

The Group’s other income and gains increased by 60.5% from
RMB156.5 million in 2023 to RMB251.2 million in 2024, primarily due
to the increase of government grants.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

The Group’s selling and distribution expenses as a percentage of the
Group’s revenue increased to 58.1% in 2024 compared with 53.5%
in 2023. The selling and distribution expenses increased by 76.2% to
RMB3,947.3 million in 2024 from RMB2,240.3 million in 2023.

Among which, the marketing and promotion expenses increased
by 90.0% to RMB3,316.6 million in 2024 from RMB1,745.9 million
in 2023, primarily due to increased brand exposure, seizure of new
channel opportunities, increased brand promotion and channel
construction investments. Employee benefits expenses in relation to
distribution work increased by 7.3% to RMB339.6 million in 2024 from
RMB316.4 million in 2023. Other key expenses included transportation
expenses of RMB249.0 million, travelling and entertainment expenses
of RMB27.1 million and others of RMB15.0 million in 2024.

Administrative Expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses increased by 15.8% to
RMB242.8 million in 2024 as compared to RMB209.6 million in
2023. Administrative expenses mainly comprised employee benefits
expenses (including directors’ emoluments) of RMB100.3 million,
profession and consulting fees of RMB17.7 million, depreciation and
amortisation charges of RMB51.5 million and office, utility expense of
RMB48.2 million and others of RMB25.1 million in 2024.

Research and Development Costs

The Group’s R&D costs increased by 43.0% from RMB125.8 million
in 2023 to RMB179.9 million in 2024, primarily due to the increase in
R&D activities.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Impairment Losses on Financial Assets, net

The Group’s impairment losses on financial assets, net changed from
the reversal of RMB15.3 million in 2023 to the loss of RMB7.0 million
in 2024, primarily due to the increase in provision for bad debts in
respect of trade receivables.

Other Expenses

The Group’s other expenses increased by 44.1% from RMB34.0
million in 2023 to RMB49.0 million in 2024, primarily due to increases
of inventory impairment and scrap.

Finance Costs

The Group’s finance costs decreased by 62.3% from RMB16.2 million
in 2023 to RMB6.1 million in 2024, primarily due to the decrease of
bank and other borrowings and the decrease in average interest rate
on borrowings.

Income Tax Expense
Income tax expense costs increased to RMB123.7 million in 2024
from RMB97.6 million in 2023.

Profit for the Year
In summary, our profit for the year was RMB803.3 million and
RMB461.7 million in 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash generated from operating activities of the Group in 2024 was
approximately RMB547.0 million, compared with RMB746.2 million
which were generated in 2023. As of 31 December 2024, the Group
had cash and cash equivalents of approximately RMB459.4 million
and external bank borrowings of approximately RMB60.1 million;
whereas as at 31 December 2023, the Group had cash and cash
equivalents of approximately RMB697.7 million and external bank
borrowings of approximately RMB100.0 million.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BIRE R Mo

In terms of gearing, the Group’s debt to asset ratios (defined as
total liabilities divided by total assets) in 2024 and 2023 were 37.9%
and 35.1%, respectively. The current ratios of the Group (defined as
current assets divided by current liabilities) as at 31 December 2024
and 31 December 2023 were 1.8 times and 2.0 times respectively.
The Group’s gearing ratios (defined as total interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings and lease liabilities divided by total equity)
in 2024 and in 2023 were 5.0% and 8.2%, respectively. As at 31
December 2024, the Group had no material contingent liabilities,
other than those disclosed in its consolidated financial statements
and the notes thereto. With the cash and bank balances in hand, the
Group’s liquidity position remains strong to meet its working capital
requirements.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings were RMB60.1 million, which comprised of bank
loans (current) of RMB60.1 million at effective interest rates of
1.71% to 3.00% per annum. The Group’s interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings decreased by 39.9% to RMB60.1 million as at 31
December 2024 from BRMB100.0 million as at 31 December 2023,
primarily due to the Group’s abundant working capital and proactive
reduction in the interest-bearing bank borrowings.

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any secured bank
borrowings (secured by investment properties with a net carrying
amounts values of approximately RMB8.1 million as at 31 December
2023).

As at 31 December 2024, the amount of the Group’s letter of credit

guarantee deposits and bank guarantee deposits was nil (nil as at 31
December 2023).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Significant Investments, Material Acquisitions and
Disposals of Subsidiaries, Associates and Joint
Ventures

On 22 August 2024, Shanghai One Leaf Cosmetic Co., Ltd. (E/&
—E i AR AR (“Shanghai One Leaf”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into a joint venture cooperation
agreement with Hangzhou Mangken Brand Management Co., Ltd.
(MR FEERERAT) (“Hangzhou Mangken”), pursuant to
which Shanghai One Leaf and Hangzhou Mangken agreed to establish
Shanghai One Leaf Skincare Products Co., Ltd.* (F/8—EF#ERE
fR/AF]) (the “One Leaf Skincare Products”), and Shanghai One Leaf
contributed RMB10.2 million in cash to One Leaf Skincare Products,
accounting for 51% of the total initial registered capital of One Leaf
Skincare Products. Hangzhou Mangken is a limited liability company
established in the PRC and is owned as to 99.5% by Mr. Lyu Zeqi
(B723) and 0.5% by Mr. Lyu Zecai (B/28f), both being cousin of
Mr. Lyu Yixiong (E#%), an executive Director, the chairman of the
Board, the chief executive officer and a controlling shareholder of the
Company as at the date of this annual report. Pursuant to the Listing
Rules, the establishment of One Leaf Skincare Products constitutes a
connected transaction of the Company under the Listing Rules.

Mr. Lyu Zedqi, the actual controller of Hangzhou Mangken, and his
team have been engaged in the cosmetics industry for over 15 years,
with extensive experience in operating in e-commerce channels and
the operational strength in brand building. Mr. Lyu Zeqi and his team
have developed a cosmetics brand, which was established in 2016,
into a brand with annual gross merchandise volume (GMV) exceeding
RMB1 billion within several years. Leveraging on the resources and
strengths of the Group and Mr. Lyu Zeqi and his team, the formation
of One Leaf Skincare Products aims to operate and further develop
One Leaf and to achieve favourable economic benefits.

The above transaction was approved by the shareholders of the
Company on 30 September 2024. For further details, please refer to
the Company’s announcement dated 22 August 2024 and the circular
dated 13 September 2024.

Save as disclosed herein, the Group did not have any significant
investments, material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures during the Reporting Period.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIEE AT

Treasury Policies and Exposure to Fluctuations in
Exchange Rates

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out in the PRC, with most
transactions settled in Renminbi, and the reporting currency of the
Group is Renminbi. The Group’s subsidiaries in Hong Kong and
overseas use local currencies as their functional currencies, including
Japanese yen, Hong Kong dollar, Singapore dollar, US dollar and
Vietnamese Dong. The Group has a partial amount of cash and bank
deposits denominated in Japanese yen, Hong Kong dollar, Singapore
dollar, US dollar and Vietnamese Dong. The Group continues to
adopt a conservative approach in its foreign exchange exposure
management. In 2024, the Group did not have a foreign currency
hedging policy in respect of foreign currency transactions, assets and
liabilities. The Group reviews its foreign exchange risks periodically
and uses derivative financial instruments to hedge against such risks
when necessary.
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Biographical Details of Directors, Supervisors and

Senior Management

B EENSAEEEB ZBERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lyu Yixiong (=), aged 46, is our executive Director and
chairman of the Board. Since our Company (previously known as
Shanghai Kaka Cosmetic Co., Ltd. (B FR{LiRERDF)) was
founded in June 2004, Mr. Lyu has been its chief executive officer,
responsible for overall management of the Group. Mr. Lyu is also one
of the Controlling Shareholders of the Group. Mr. Lyu holds positions
in various subsidiaries of our Group, including:

Position held

AR

Name of subsidiary

(IlEPNCIER

HITES

BEMERE 4658 WITER EFR-8%
EBEAQA (AR LERREARBERRR) N
20046 AN AR —EETEEREHTE - &
EAEENEEER c BAENARNEERLHF—
EEBRBRE - atEEAEEZRHBRRER
LATREBRAL - BIF -

Period of Appointment
ZEHAME

Shanghai Leading Investment Co., Ltd.

FEBRRERRAR EERRAFNITES
Nippon Shuichi Cosmetics Co., Ltd. Representative director
ARF—LimiR gt RERRAFR

Shanghai KPC Biotechnology Co., Ltd.
FERELEYBRERATF FEERKRAREEER

Mr. Lyu completed the executive management education courses at
Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business (K;IE2Fx) in the PRC
in November 2018.

Ms. Luo Yan (#3E), aged 37, is our executive Director. Ms. Luo
joined our Group in March 2012, and was once the Chief Operating
Officer of the Group and is currently the vice president of the Group,
responsible for the management and marketing of KANS influencer
broadcasting, One Leaf, Baby Elephant and OU.

Legal representative and Executive director

Legal representative and Chairman of the board

April 2016 — Present
2016F4AES
January 2019 - Present
20191 HES

August 2020 - Present
202058 AE S

B ER2018F 11 AEEF B R IHERMIT
KRERHRERRE °
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Biographical Details of Directors, Supervisors and

Senior Management

EX EELefREERBCERHS

In addition, Ms. Luo currently holds directorship in various subsidiaries
of the Group, primarily including serving as the executive director
of Shanghai Zhongyi Daily Chemical Co., Ltd. (F/&FR BB/ ERA
A]) since December 2018, the executive director of Nippon Shuichi
Cosmetics Co., Ltd. (HAF—{bAkmik=\&+L) since January 2019,
the executive director of Shanghai Kans Cosmetic Sales Service
Co., Ltd (BB R(bMMmIFERE AR AF]) since January 2019, the
executive director of Shanghai One Leaf Cosmetic Co., Ltd. (F/&—
ZE1eAmBR A7) since February 2019, the executive director of
Shanghai Baby Elephant Cosmetic Co., Ltd. (B84 &/ \RILAEBE
fR A 7F]) since March 2019, the executive director of Shanghai Baby
Elephant Cosmetic Sales Service Co., Ltd. (/A& /& LM
ERIEAER AT since July 2019, the executive director of Shanghai
Shumei Cosmetic Co., Ltd. (E/8REAABERAE]) since January
2021, and the executive director of Shanghai Kans Biotechnology Co.,
Ltd. (BB REMEHE B R A7) since March 2021.

Ms. Luo obtained a college degree in international trade and
economics from Shanghai Lixin University of Accounting and Finance
(BF7 85 &R ERR) in the PRC in June 2020.

Mr. Feng Yifeng (5—1#), aged 45, is our executive Director. Mr.
Feng was a senior audit manager of PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong
Tian LLP (¥ #E5kE R K :TAIEFT), the chairman of the supervisory
board of China National Accord Medicines Corporation (B#%25=E
—HEERMNARAT) (@ company listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange (stock code: 000028)), the head of finance and asset
management of Sinopharm Group Co., Ltd. (BZ&ZEREAL () AR A 7))
(a company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code:
1099)), and the independent director of Yaojin (Shanghai) Private
Equity Fund Management Co., Ltd. (B& (L&) REELERER
ANA] (with the former name of Sinopharma-CICC (Shanghai) Private
Equity Investment management Co., Ltd. (BZh & (i) ALK
KEERARAT). Mr. Feng joined our Group in July 2016, and is
currently the vice president and the chief financial officer of the Group,
responsible for financial matters.

In addition, Mr. Feng had held or currently holds directorship in
various subsidiaries of the Group. Mainly, Mr. Feng served as the
director of Shanghai Yuzi Technology Co., Ltd. (B8R TFREAR
A7) from July 2020 to December 2023; had been serving as the
director of Shanghai KPC Biotechnology Co., Ltd. (/& & ZA4 mRHL
BBRAR]) since August 2020; and had been serving as the chairman
of Shanghai Yiye Biotechnology Co., Ltd. (B8 B £ YR AR A F)
since January 2022.
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Biographical Details of Directors, Supervisors and
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Mr. Feng obtained a bachelor’s degree in management from Shanghai
University of Finance and Economics (/&8 AZ) in the PRC
in July 2001 and a Master of Business Administration from China
Europe International Business School (FEIEEE TEET) in the
PRC in October 2015. Mr. Feng was accredited as a certified public
accountant (non-practicing) by the Chinese Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (F BIzEft& 51 E11%E) and as a chartered certified
accountant by the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.

Ms. Song Yang (’¥), aged 36, is our executive Director. Ms. Song
joined our Group in December 2013, and was once the director of
projects, the general manager of our global new product innovation
center and the general manager of One Leaf brand division of our
Group, and is currently the vice president of our Group, responsible
for research and development, and product innovation of the Group.

Ms. Song currently serves as a director of various subsidiaries of the
Group, mainly including a director of Shanghai Nanfeng Biotechnology
Co., Ltd. (LBMREEMEEAER AR since March 2024 and the
chairman of Shanghai Abeibei Commodities Co., Ltd. (E/8fE B B
m AR A F)) since August 2024,

Ms. Song obtained a bachelor’s degree in literature from Xianda
College of Economics and Humanities, Shanghai International Studies
University (_E/&9MNEIRE K E B #4807 A XEP7) in the PRC in July 2012.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Li Hangiong (Z%E), aged 47, is our non-executive Director.
Ms. Li served as a vice president at Youngor (Hong Kong) Industrial
Company Limited (X (F8) BEEBMR2AA]), and the chief
executive officer of Youngor Garment Holdings Co., Ltd. (FX AR
R AR AT]). Ms. Liis currently the chairman of the board and
chief executive officer of Youngor Investment Co., Ltd. (HEXEIRE
AR 7]), the chairman of the board of Youngor Fashion (Shanghai)
Technology Co., Ltd. (#EX @K (&) B AR AF]), the chairman
of the board of Youngor Garment Holdings Co., Ltd. (H X ARE %
% BBRAF]), and the vice chairman of the board and chief executive
officer of Youngor Fashion Co., Ltd. (EXBRHRKRMDERAR)
(a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code:
600177))
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Ms. Li obtained a bachelor’'s degree in business administration
from California State University in the US in December 2000 and
an Executive Master of Business Administration from China Europe
International Business School (FFEIEIE T&ET) in the PRC in
September 2010.

Mr. Sun Hao (#&£), aged 34, is our non-executive Director. Mr. Sun
worked in Audit Department of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (Hong Kong
office) and Advisory Practice of PricewaterhouseCoopers Limited
in its Hong Kong office. Mr. Sun has been the executive director of
Shanghai Premium Bright Global Capital Co. Ltd. (/&84 EIRE
EE AR AF]) since May 2017, primarily focusing on investments in
consumer and retail sector.

Mr. Sun obtained a bachelor’s degree in Business Economics from
City University of Hong Kong in May 2013.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. Leung Ho Sun Wilson, aged 45, is our independent non-executive
Director. Mr. Leung has been appointed as Senior Advisor of
Shanghai Everbright Law Firm since February 2024. Previously, Mr.
Leung worked at Credit Suisse Group and Ernst & Young. Mr. Leung
obtained a bachelor’s degree in Business Administration (Accounting
and Finance) from the University of Hong Kong in December 2002. Mr.
Leung is also a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.

Ms. Luo Yan (Z%F), aged 42, is our independent non-executive
Director. Ms. Luo served as an associate professor at the School
of Management at Fudan University (fEE X&), and is currently a
professor at the School of Management at Fudan University. Ms. Luo
has also been serving as an independent non-executive director of
Shanghai CEO Environmental Protection Technology Co., Ltd. (E
BIEZIRREHEBR AT (@ company listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange (stock code: 688335)) since July 2021; an independent
non-executive director of 3 Peak Incorporated (BIEME TR
B (BN BB AR A E]) (a company listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange (stock code: 688536)) from December 2019 to January
2025; an independent non-executive director of Soochow Securities
Co., Ltd. (RRFEHMKMHBBMRAT]) (a company listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange (stock code: 601555)) since December 2023 ; and
an independent non-executive director of Zibuyu Group Limited (a
company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code:
2420)) since March 2025.
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Ms. Luo obtained a bachelor’s degree in management from Shanghai
University of Finance and Economics (/&84 KE) in the PRC in
June 2005 and a doctorate degree in philosophy from the University of
Hong Kong in November 2010. She was employed as a postdoctoral
fellow at the School of Economics and Finance of the University of
Hong Kong from November 2010 to February 2013.

Mr. Li Yang (Z5¥), aged 41. Mr. Li is an associate professor
of marketing, the academic director of EMBA program, and the
associate dean at Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business (&
JTREPT). He was previously an assistant professor of marketing at
Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business (K;IL&Z6z). Mr. Li has
been an independent non-executive director of 360 Ludashi Holdings
Limited (a company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock
code: 3601)) since June 2019; an independent non-executive director
of Dr Corporation Limited (a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange (stock code: 301177)) since January 2020; an independent
non-executive director of Westingarea Smart Supply Chain (Shanghai)
Co., Ltd. (B ZHEHE(LF)RHAF]) since February 2022; and
an independent non-executive director of Otor Technology Co., Ltd.
(FrR DB B BR A F)) since July 2022.

Mr. Li obtained a bachelor’s degree in electronics from Peking
University in the PRC in 2005, a master’'s degree in biomedical
engineering from Columbia University in the US in 2007, and a
master’'s degree and a doctor degree in marketing from Columbia
University in the US in 2012.

SUPERVISORS

Mr. Li Tao (&%), aged 49, is a Supervisor and the chairman of
the Supervisory Committee. Mr. Li served as an audit manager of
PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong Tian LLP (Z#FEkEHR X6 H5
FT) and the director of audit of Opple Lighting Co., Ltd. (& &2 R% 1%
ABRAF]) (@ company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock
code: 603515)). Mr. Li joined our Group in November 2016, and is
currently the audit director of our Group, responsible for the internal
audit matters. Mr. Li has also been serving as the supervisor of
various subsidiaries of the Group, primarily including Shanghai Shumei
Cosmetic Co., Ltd. (E/BRFE/AMBERAT) since January 2021,
Shanghai Kans Biotechnology Co., Ltd. (E/&8RAEYEHTER A F)
since March 2021, Shanghai Leading Investment Co., Ltd. (/&
BB AR]) since April 2021, and Shanghai Zhongyi Daily Chemical
Co., Ltd. (E8FHA{LEBRAF]), Shanghai One Leaf Cosmetic Co.,
Ltd. (EB—EFbitm AR AR]), Shanghai Baby Elephant Cosmetic
Co., Ltd. (B84 &/ &bt BRAF]), and Shanghai Kans Cosmetic
Sales Service Co., Ltd. (L8 R(LAzREERBER A R]) since May
2021.
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Mr. Li obtained a bachelor’s degree in physics from Nanjing University
(AR AE) in the PRC in July 1998. Mr. Li is a certified public
accountant, as accredited by Guam Board of Accountancy in June
2016, and a certified fraud examiner (FEff /& £ E M), as awarded
by the Association of Certified Fraud Examiner in January 2020.

Mr. Li was further employed as the expert of Enterprise Anti-Fraud
Alliance ({>ZREEEEEE) in January 2020, and recognized as a

member of Shanghai Criminology Society (L/8MIEFEEEE) in April
2020.

Ms. Shi Tenghua (FERTE), aged 40, is a Supervisor. Ms. Shi was
a manager of the finance department of Shanghai Robam Electric
Appliance Sales Co., Ltd. (E/8ZEERIEEFRAF]). Ms. Shi joined
our Group in September 2017, and was once the manager and
the senior manager of our finance department, the deputy financial
director, the general manager of the e-commerce department Il (&%
Z3Zf), the deputy general manager of One Leaf brand division, brand
director and deputy general manager of operation department. Ms.
Shi is currently the Chief Operating Officer of our Group.

Ms. Shi obtained a bachelor’s degree in finance from Shandong
University (LB K£2) in the PRC in July 2007.

Ms. Yang Min (##8), aged 40, is an employee representative
Supervisor. Ms. Yang served as the finance head at Shanghai Red
Star Macalline Yijia Decoration Engineering Co., Ltd. (/841 £ %8/l &E
BXREHMH TIRERAQR]); and as the finance and accounting director at
Shanghai Fenshang Network Science and Technology Co., Ltd.* (&
B HBEEIRBRAT). Ms. Yang joined our Group in July 2018
and is currently the director of the finance department, responsible
for construction of the Group’s financial management system and
business analysis.

Ms. Yang Min obtained a bachelor’s degree in accounting from Hubei
University of Economics (#3L48/%E £ kt) in the PRC in June 2008 and
a master’s degree in business administration from Shanghai University
of Finance and Economics (/8 84E K £2) in the PRC in June 2023.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Lyu is our executive Director, chief executive officer and the
chairman of the Board. See “Executive Directors” in this section for
the biographical details of Mr. Lyu.

Ms. Luo Yan (Z&#%) is our executive Director and vice president. See
“Executive Directors” in this section for the biographical details of Ms.
Luo.

Mr. Feng is our executive Director, vice president, and chief financial
officer. See “Executive Directors” in this section for the biographical
details of Mr. Feng.

Ms. Song is our executive Director and vice president. See “Executive
Directors” in this section for the biographical details of Ms. Song.

Mr. Lian Ming (5&88), aged 41, is the secretary of the Board. Mr. Lian
was once an employee of the Jiangsu branch of the China Petroleum
and Chemical Corporation (FEABETRODERABIEHABD AR
Al) (@ company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code:
600028) and on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 386)),
and served as the director and secretary of the board of directors of
Guangdong Marubi Biotechnology Co., Ltd. (B AZELDEITEND
BR7]) (@ company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock
code: 603983)). Mr. Lian joined our Group in September 2020, and is
currently the secretary of the Board of our Group.

Mr. Lian was recognized as “Guangzhou High-tier Financial Talent” by
the Guangzhou Municipal Financial Regulatory Bureau in June 2020.

Mr. Lian obtained a master’s degree in law from Tsinghua University
(BEAXE) in the PRC in July 2009.

Senior Management
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JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Mr. Lian is the secretary of the Board, and was appointed as the joint
company secretary of our Group (“Joint Company Secretaries”) on
21 December 2021 with his appointment taking effect on the Listing
Date. See “Senior Management” above for the biographical details of
Mr. Lian.

Mr. Li Kin Wai (=), has been appointed as the Joint Company
Secretary of our Group since 21 December 2021 with his appointment
taking effect on the Listing Date where he is responsible for company
secretarial matters of the Group.

Mr. Li Kin Wai has over 10 years of experience in the corporate
secretarial and compliance services field. He is a senior manager of
Corporate Services of Tricor Services Limited, a global professional
service provider. He currently serves as company secretary or joint
company secretary for a number of Hong Kong listed companies.

Mr. Li Kin Wai is a Chartered Secretary and a Chartered Governance
Professional. He is also an associate of both The Hong Kong
Chartered Governance Institute (HKCGI) and the Chartered
Governance Institute (CGl) in the United Kingdom.
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Corporate Governance Report

The board (the “Board”) hereby presents this corporate governance
report (the “Corporate Governance Report”) in the Company’s
annual report for the year ended 31 December 2024,

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CULTURE

Built on our vision, values and culture, we are committed to developing
a positive corporate governance culture that allows employees across
the Group to thrive, meet their full potential, and that enables our
Company to deliver long-term sustainable growth and success.

OUR VISION ¢
HFRFESR

BMMESEMEEEEENER °

OUR VALUES ®
RMEMNEE ~ 2z 28

B~ B

OUR CULTURE ¢
wREKx ©

Because We Love

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

The Board is committed to maintaining high corporate governance
standards.

The Board believes that high corporate governance standards are
essential in providing a framework for the Company to safeguard the
interests of the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholder(s)”),
enhance corporate value, formulate its business strategies and
policies, and enhance its transparency and accountability.

The Company has adopted the principles and code provisions of
the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) on the The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) as the basis
of the Company’s corporate governance practices.

Diversity, Optimism, Innovation, Legacy
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For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company has complied
with all the applicable code provisions as set out in the CG Code,
except for Code Provision C.2.1 described in the paragraph headed
“Chairman and Chief Executive Officer”. The Board will continue to
review and monitor the code of corporate governance practices of
the Company with an aim to maintaining a high standard of corporate

governance.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
contained in Appendix C3 to the the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing
Rules”) as its code of conduct regarding dealings in the securities of
the Company by the directors (the “Director(s)”) and the supervisors
of the Company (the “Supervisors”), and the Group’s employees who,
because of his/her office or employment, are likely to possess inside
information in relation to the Group or the Company’s securities.
Specific enquiries have been made to all Directors and Supervisors
and the Directors and Supervisors have confirmed that they have
complied with the Model Code during the Reporting Period.

No incident of non-compliance of the Model Code by the employees
was noted by the Company for the Reporting Period.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Company is headed by an effective Board which assumes
responsibility for its leadership and control and be collectively
responsible for promoting the Company’s success by directing and
supervising the Company’s affairs. Directors take decisions objectively
in the best interests of the Company.

The Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s
business and regularly reviews the contribution required from a
Director to perform his responsibilities to the Company and whether
the Director is spending sufficient time performing them that are
commensurate with their role and the Board responsibilities. The
Board includes a balanced composition of executive directors
and non-executive directors (including independent non-executive
directors) so that there is a strong independent element on the Board,
which can effectively exercise independent judgement.
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Board Composition
The composition of the Board as at the date of this annual report is as

follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Lyu Yixiong (Chairman of the Board and chief executive officer)
Ms. Luo Yan (Z## % T)

Mr. Feng Yifeng

Ms. Song Yang

Non-executive Directors
Ms. Li Hangiong
Mr. Sun Hao

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Leung Ho Sun Wilson

Ms. Luo Yan (¥ & +)

Mr. Li Yang (appointed on 30 May 2024)

The biographical information of the Directors is set out in the section
headed “Biographical Details of Directors, Supervisors and Senior
Management” on pages 33 to 40 of this annual report. Save as
disclosed therein, there is no other relationships (including financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationship(s)) between the
Board members and the Chief Executive Officer.

Board Meetings and Directors’ Attendance Records
Regular Board meetings should be held at least four times a year
involving active participation of the Directors, either in person or

through electronic means of communication.

During the Reporting Period, the Board held four Board meetings.
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The attendance record of each Director during their respective
tenure of office at the Board meeting of the Company held during the

Reporting Period is set out in the table below:

BREENEEEHALERR
MEFEEEEN pafﬁzﬁﬁ’s\Ti‘%-

Attendance/Number of Board Meetings

Name of Director EEME HERE B2 GH K
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Lyu Yixiong EEELE 4/4
Ms. Luo Yan (Z# %z +) iy 4/4
Mr. Feng Yifeng Vil 3ot 4/4
Ms. Song Yang RAFLZL 4/4
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Ms. Li Hangiong ZREZL 4/4
Mr. Sun Hao BRELE 4/4
Independent Non-executive Directors BIFHITES
Mr. Leung Ho Sun Wilson RIER 4/4
Ms. Luo Yan (@ z+) Pt L 4/4
Mr. Liu Yi (resigned on 30 May 2024) 2B e (702024 F 2/2
5 R 30 A fE)
Mr. Li Yang (appointed on 30 May 2024) FE LA (20244 2/2
5A30HRZft)
General Meeting BRRE
During the Reporting Period, two general meetings were held and the RBERR  ERTMARREHASESHEHRE
attendance record of each Director is set out in the table below: SEEN T

Attendance/Number of general meeting(s)

Name of Director BEEMA HERE IR E IR

Executive Directors HITES

Mr. Lyu Yixiong BERMESEE 2/2

Ms. Luo Yan (Z&#tZz+) BT 2/2

Mr. Feng Yifeng RIS 2/2

Ms. Song Yang RAFEZT 2/2

Non-executive Directors FHTES

Ms. Li Hangiong TEELL 2/2

Mr. Sun Hao RESE 2/2

Independent Non-executive Directors BUEHTES

Mr. Leung Ho Sun Wilson RIEF T 2/2

Ms. Luo Yan (Z##f7z 1) #t I+ 2/2

Mr. Liu Yi (resigned on 30 May 2024) %% 54 (702024 4F 1/1
5 A 30 A& E)

Mr. Li Yang (appointed on 30 May 2024) S (R2024%F 11
5HA30HZM)
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Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of
the Board and Management
The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and control
of the Company; and is collectively responsible for directing and
supervising the Company’s affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads and
provides direction to management by laying down strategies and
overseeing their implementation, monitors the Group’s operational and
financial performance, and ensures that sound corporate governance,
internal control and risk management systems are in place.

All Directors, including non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable
business experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for
its efficient and effective functioning. The independent non-executive
Directors are responsible for ensuring a high standard of regulatory
reporting of the Company and providing a balance in the Board for
bringing effective independent judgement on corporate actions and
operations.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information of the
Company and may, upon request, seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses for
discharging their duties to the Company.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices
held by them.

The Board reserves for its decision of all major matters relating to
policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management, material transactions (in particular those that may
involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of
Directors and other significant operational matters of the Company.
Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of the Board,
directing and coordinating the daily operation and management of the
Company are delegated to the management.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage on
Directors’, Supervisors’ and senior management’s liabilities in respect
of any legal actions taken against Directors, Supervisors and senior
management arising out of corporate activities.

TEERRS

EEEREEESENRE  SERERM
BEQRARBERERADAZEE  URE
BRARREREEARAZES -

EEeER M AREBREZRS  HRAREME
BYEERE  HIERBAEREER EREAE
BrzaBRMBERE  IWRBRRARFZEE
EOR - MEPEEE M AR EIE R -

2REFR (AN TESF BN TES) B
BREZNBEEBER ANBLBEXRES  AY
REFESURBREE - BUIFNTEFEE
BRARFRZEEEEERS  YEEFETRE
HFE - DR EETHNEERD AR ZBILH
B o

EREFHNEEY MERESARFMAEER A
RAEELEHERRATSHKBLEEER - U
AARBBITERE - BRABARBERE -

EZARNARARERERT 2EMBBBE 2

I o

EFURIAMEAFE  HMREH - NHE
TREREE  EARS (HHIRT RS
FRE)  MHAN  ECEBRALTRME
REBEEZHAEEEEL IR - BRI
EFGRE  HERHIHALTEHEEREE
IHERETELE -

ARRERERREIMELHHES BEER
PREEBZEMERTHRES EERSR
EEEBLHEENEERE

Annual Report 2024 £E#R% | 45



Corporate Governance Report
PEERME

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code states that the roles of
chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and should
not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Lyu Yixiong is both the
chairman of the Board and the chief executive officer of the Company.
Notwithstanding the deviation from Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG
Code, given Mr. Lyu Yixiong’'s extensive knowledge and experience
of the Group’s business, the Board considers that vesting the roles
of both chairman of the Board and chief executive officer of the
Company in the same person brings the benefit of ensuring consistent
leadership within the Group and enabling more effective and efficient
overall strategic planning for the Group. The Board believes that the
balance of power and authority for the present arrangement will not
be impaired and this structure will enable the Company to make and
implement decisions promptly and efficiently.

The Board will nevertheless continue to review the structure from time
to time and consider the appropriate move to take when appropriate.

Independent Non-executive Directors

During the Reporting Period, the Board at all times met the
requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at
least three independent non-executive Directors representing one-third
of the Board with one of whom possessing appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each
of the independent non-executive Directors in respect of his/her
independence in accordance with the independence guidelines set out
in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all
independent non-executive Directors are independent.

Board Independence Evaluation

The Company has established a Board Independence Evaluation
Mechanism which sets out the processes and procedures to ensure
a strong independent element on the Board, and allows the Board
effectively exercises independent judgment to better safeguard
Shareholders’ interests.

The objectives of the evaluation are to improve Board effectiveness,
maximise strengths, and identify the areas that need improvement
or further development. The evaluation process also clarifies what
actions of the Company need to be taken to maintain and improve the
Board performance, for instance, addressing individual training and
development needs of each Director.
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Pursuant to the Board Independence Evaluation Mechanism, the
Board had conducted annual review on its independence during the
Reporting Period.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Under the articles of association of the Company (the “Articles”
or “Articles of Association”), Directors (including non-executive
Directors) shall be elected or replaced at the general meeting with a
term of three years. The term of office of a director shall be from the
date of his appointment until the expiration of the term of office of the
current board of directors. Each of the current non-executive Directors
have been appointed on the following dates:

Directors

BF

TEERRS

REESSHIIENEHES  EFTECNREH
WS EB T FEE ©

ZEREEES
REARAER([ARAER])  EF (BEFH
TEE)ABRRGERELLER  SEEH=
F-BETHUREZBRAE  2XEEFE
EHERESL - REFUTEFHEAH TIIA
HIE R R AT

Appointment Date
ZERH

Non-executive Directors
FHITES

Ms. Li Hangiong
FERELLT

Mr. Sun Hao
REEE

Independent Non-executive Directors
BYFHITES

Mr. Leung Ho Sun Wilson

R

Ms. Luo Yan (Z&#fz+)
w2+

Mr. Li Yang
FHLLE

16 December 2020

202012 H16H
(re-appointed on 30 May 2024)
(202445 30 A EF L)
30 September 2022

20229 A30H

(re-appointed on 30 May 2024)
(FR202455 B30 H EXEZEE)

21 December 2021

2021412 A21H
(re-appointed on 30 May 2024)
(FA2024F5 30 B EHMEZEE)
21 December 2021

2021412 A21H
(re-appointed on 30 May 2024)
(R2024F5 30 B EFEZEE)
30 May 2024

202445 H30H
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A Director may serve consecutive terms if re-elected upon the expiry
of his/her term. A Director shall continue to perform his duties in
accordance with the laws, administrative regulations, department rules,
Listing Rules and Articles until a duly re-elected director takes office, if
re-election is not conducted in a timely manner upon the expiry of his
term of office, or if the resignation of directors results in the number
of directors being less than the quorum. The Articles also provides
that each Director appointed to fill a casual vacancy or as addition to
the Board shall hold office until the first general meeting after his/her
appointment. The retiring Directors shall be eligible for re-election.

Each of the executive Directors, non-executive Directors, independent
non-executive Directors and Supervisors has entered into a service
contract or appointment letter with the Company with a specific term.
Such service contracts are for a term commencing from the date of
appointment to the expiry of the current session of the Board.

Continuous Professional Development of Directors
Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and changes
in order to effectively perform their responsibilities and to ensure that
their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director has received a formal and
comprehensive induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment
to ensure appropriate understanding of the business and operations
of the Company and full awareness of Director’s responsibilities
and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory
requirements. Such induction shall be supplemented by visits to the
Company and meetings with senior management of the Company.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
Internally-facilitated briefings for Directors would be arranged and
reading material on relevant topics would be provided to Directors
where appropriate.

All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the
Company’s expenses.
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PEERWRSE
During the Reporting Period, the Company organized all Directors to RBERR - AR REESHESTHE
continuously learn regulatory information related to Directors’ duties EREEETSHEANEZTEM o 1o+ AQF]
and responsibilities. In addition, relevant reading materials covering MEFRENEEFREETEMNIEBEEMR
Directors’ duties and responsibilities have been provided to the NHRES2ERESE -

Directors for their reference and studying.

During the Reporting Period, the training records of the Directors are REEA - EFEIHOEIIRESRET
summarized as follows:

Type of Training Net

Directors e i 3 s
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Lyu Yixiong EEIELE A B
Ms. Luo Yan (Z#tZz+) AL A, B
Mr. Feng Yifeng B—Ig S E A B
Ms. Song Yang RAFZL A B
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Ms. Li Hangiong FEELL A, B, C,D,E
Mr. Sun Hao BRERAE A B
Independent Non-executive Directors BIFHITES
Mr. Leung Ho Sun Wilson RIER & A B C
Ms. Luo Yan (Z&#f 2z 1) H I+ A B
Mr. Liu Yi (resigned on 30 May 2024) Bl 4 (R20245F5 A30HEE) A B, C
Mr. Li Yang (appointed on 30 May 2024) A (202455 A30B £1T) A, B, C, E

Note: BE

Types of Training EIRE

A Reading articles and journals on the latest listing rules and regulations, the duties, A MEEMGEH 2 ETRAIAED - EREBEMEL KT

responsibilities and businesses of directors, and industry developments, etc. XERZHXERT
B. Obtaining learning resources related to new listing rules and regulations, the duties, B. FIRAR R EWAR RG] EFEBEMEBR
responsibilities and businesses of directors, and industry developments, etc. through TEERSHEZEER

the Internet

C. Attending seminars/conferences/forums/study workshops C. s g S eRk wiE S 2Ry
Giving a speech at seminars/conferences/forums/study workshops D. RS g% wiE ERHREREE

E. Attending internal training on ongoing compliance responsibilities, corporate E. 2MEBHBESRETE  RRAVABMEMABBREENA
governance and other relevant topics il
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, Remuneration and Appraisal Committee and Nomination
Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs.
All Board committees of the Company are established with specific
written terms of reference which deal clearly with their authority and
duties. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee, Remuneration
and Appraisal Committee and Nomination Committee are published
on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website and are
available to Shareholders upon request.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee consists of three members, namely Mr. Leung
Ho Sun Wilson, Ms. Luo Yan (&#Z 1) and Mr. Li Yang. All Audit
Committee members are independent non-executive Directors. Mr.
Leung Ho Sun Wilson is the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are of no less exacting
terms than those set out in the Corporate Governance Code and the
PRC laws. The primary responsibilities of the Audit Committee are
to review the financial position of the Company, review the financial
information of the Company, make judgments on the authenticity,
completeness and accuracy of the financial information, and check
the implementation and effectiveness of the internal control system.
The primary responsibilities of the Audit Committee are (a) to make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment, replacement
and removal of the external auditor, to consider and approve the
remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor,
and any questions of its resignation or dismissal; (b) to review and
monitor the external auditor’'s independence and objectivity and the
effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with applicable
standards. The Audit Committee shall discuss with the external
auditors the nature and scope of the audit and reporting obligations
before the audit commences; (c) to develop and implement policy
on engaging an external auditor to provide non-audit services; (d)
to monitor internal audit system of the Company and ensure the
implementation of such systems; (e) to facilitate communications
between the internal audit department and external auditors; (f)
to review the financial information and relevant disclosures of the
Company; and (g) to monitor the Company in respect of financial
reporting system, risk management and internal controls system. The
Audit Committee shall report to the Board on its work.
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During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee has reviewed
the annual results for the year ended 31 December 2023 and
the interim results for the six months ended 30 June 2024 ' and
reviewed the internal systems including financial reporting system,
risk management, internal control systems and Anti-Corruption,
Whistle-blowing and Rewarding System. The Audit Committee also
assessed its own performance, its working rules and the composition
of its members, and confirmed that the Company had complied with
applicable laws and regulatory requirements such as the Corporate
Governance Code and the Listing Rules.

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee met with the
external auditors twice to discuss audit issues.

During the Reporting Period, two Audit Committee meetings were held
and the attendance records of the Audit Committee member is set out
in the table below:

TEERRS

WEBMR  FAZESEEMEZE20285F12 A
STHIEFEMNFEEEMEE2024F6 A30H 1E
NEAMPEIEE  WEERMVBESRNE - &
eI - NEPESIE RS - REBRBHEBHES
WEHIE - B ZEBGMTETEESERE - T
VE4RAI KK B VERK - RIERA AR B E T
EEBRTRD (LEMRANDEHBEEREER
= o

RB|EHR - B LR B GRINERBENETMRIR
SRARMERFE

RBEMA - ERTHAENZ ez AE:t
ZEEREMHFLHEHNTE

Attendance/Number of meeting(s)

Name of Director BEHSR HERE S SR E

Mr. Leung Ho Sun Wilson (Chairman) P E (FE) 2/2

Ms. Luo Yan (@ &z +) E L 2/2

Mr. Liu Yi (resigned on 30 May 2024) 2B e (R20244F 1/1
5A30H&HT)

Mr. Li Yang (appointed on 30 May 2024) B (R2024%F 1/1
5A30HZ)

Remuneration and Appraisal Committee

The Remuneration and Appraisal Committee consists of three
members, namely Mr. Lyu Yixiong (executive Director), Ms. Luo Yan
(W22 L) (independent non-executive Director) and Mr. Li Yang
(independent non-executive Director). Ms. Luo Yan is the chairman of
the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee.

FHREKEZEE
FHEERZAGM-RERMARK BB BEE
£ (HTES) BT CBIIENTES) RS
A CESIETES) - BRFEZ L AFMES
REBRENR -
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The terms of reference of the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee
are of no less exacting terms than those set out in the Corporate
Governance Code and the PRC laws. The primary functions of
the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee include (a) to make
recommendations to the Board on our Company’s remuneration
policy and structure for all Directors, Supervisors and senior
management, and on the establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing the remuneration policy; (b) to review and
approve the remuneration proposals of senior management with
reference to the Board’s corporate goals and objectives; (c) to make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of
the executive Director and senior management or to determine, with
delegated responsibility, the remuneration packages of the executive
Director and senior management. The remuneration packages shall
include benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation payments
(including compensation for loss or termination of their office or
appointment); (d) to make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration of non-executive Directors; (e) to consider salaries paid
by comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities
and employment conditions elsewhere in our Group; (f) to review
and approve the compensation payable to the executive Director
and senior management for their loss or termination of office or
appointment to ensure that such compensation is consistent with
the contractual terms and is otherwise fair and not excessive; (g)
to review and approve the compensation arrangements relating to
dismissal or removal of the Directors for misconduct to ensure that
such compensation is consistent with the contractual terms and is
otherwise fair and not excessive; and (h) to ensure that no Director or
any of his associates is involved in deciding his own remuneration.

The following is a summary of work performed by the Remuneration
and Appraisal Committee during the Reporting Period: (a) reviewed
and made recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
package of the Directors and senior management; (b) reviewed and
made recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy
and structure for the remuneration of the Directors and senior
management; and (c) reviewed the performance of duties of Directors
and senior management of the Company.
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The remuneration of the Directors, Supervisors and senior
management of the Company, whose biographical details are included
in section headed “Biographical Details of Directors, Supervisors and
Senior Management” of this annual report, for the year ended 31
December 2024 falls within the following bands:

TEERRS

BHE2024F12A31ALLFE  ARARES - &
EREAERENGHIRATRER  EEFEF
BENRNAFERE(EE  EERafEREY
[BREFFIE ] —&f -

Number of Individuals

Remuneration (RMB) (AR AH
0-500,000 0%500,000 5
500,001-1,000,000 500,001 % 1,000,000 1
1,000,001-2,000,000 1,000,001 22,000,000 7

over 2,000,000 2,000,000 A £
The Company’s remuneration policy is to ensure that the remuneration
offered to the Directors, Supervisors and senior management,
is based on skill, knowledge, responsibilities and involvement
in the Company’s affairs. The remuneration and compensation
packages of the Directors, Supervisors and senior management
are also determined with reference to account salaries paid by
comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities of
the Directors and Supervisors and the performance of the Group.
The remuneration for the Directors and Supervisors comprises fees,
salaries, allowances, benefits in kind, performance-related bonuses,
equity-settled share-based compensation expense and pension
scheme contributions. Non-executive Directors and Independent
Non-executive Directors shall not receive options and awards to be
granted under the Company’s share option scheme and share award
scheme. Individual Directors and senior management have not been
involved in deciding their own remuneration.

During the Reporting Period, three Remuneration and Appraisal
Committee meetings were held and the attendance records of the
Remuneration and Appraisal Committee member is set out in the table
below:

ARBNFHBRERES EENSNEERE
R F BN DR IBRE « M - HARBEBWEE
REAREMNEE - EF  EEREREEREN
FMEFHEETMELEANELBRAR X NEH
& BEERESEMNEMNERERAENEENRL
AEENRAMETE - EEREZNHFHEER
T e RR - BEWER - RBEARBEEL - A
R A E D R ER B Hr IR X R 2 7T B
R FMTEERBUFRTEZETIEREAR
NER BB R RT &) R A {0 SRR AT B R T RE AR
KR - AREERSREEB I 2RBEER
FERGEOHFM o

RBERR - BEBRTZAFHEEZZEEER
BHMEELZZEERBMHFLCEHNTE

Attendance/Number of meeting(s)

Name of Director B4 RS SmIKE

Ms. Luo Yan (2 #f 2z t) (Chairman) BT+ (/&) 3/3

Mr. Lyu Yixiong B IELE 3/3

Mr. Liu Vi (resigned on 30 May 2024) 25554 (7020244 1/1
5A30HEHT)

Mr. Li Yang (appointed on 30 May 2024) S (R2024%F 2/2
5A30HZ)
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee consists of three members, namely Mr.
Lyu Yixiong (executive Director), Ms. Luo Yan (Z# % =£) (independent
non-executive Director) and Mr. Li Yang (independent non-executive
Director). Mr. Lyu Yixiong is the chairman of the Nomination
Committee.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are of no less
exacting terms than those set out in the Corporate Governance
Code and the PRC laws. The principal duties of the Nomination
Committee include (a) to review the structure, size and composition
of the Board (including the skills, knowledge and experience) at least
annually and make recommendations on any proposed changes to
the Board to complement our Company’s corporate strategy; (b)
to identify individuals suitably qualified to become board members
and select and make recommendations to the Board on the
selection of individuals nominated for directorships; (c) to assess the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors; and (d)
to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-
appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors (in
particular the chairman of the Board and the chief executive officer).

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee
would take into account various aspects as well as factors concerning
Board diversity as set out in the Company’s Board Diversity Policy.
The Nomination Committee would discuss and agree on measurable
objectives for achieving diversity on the Board, where necessary, and
recommend them to the Board for adoption.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships,
the Nomination Committee would consider the candidate’s relevant
criteria as set out in the Board Diversity Policy that are necessary
to complement the corporate strategy and achieve Board diversity,
where appropriate, before making recommendation to the Board.

During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee reviewed
Board Diversity Policy and the standardized procedures for nominating
Shareholders as the candidates for Directors, and reviewed the
structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge
and experience) of the Board annually. The Nomination Committee
also accessed the independence of the Independent Non-executive
Directors, and confirmed the time that the Non-executive Directors
and Independent Non-executive Directors devoted to fulfilling their
duties was sufficient.
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During the Reporting Period, one Nomination Committee meeting
was held and the attendance records of the Nomination Committee
member is set out in the table below:

TEERRS

Attendance/Number of meeting(s)

Name of Director EEMH RPN N

Mr. Lyu Yixiong (Chairman) BERELE (FE) 1/1

Ms. Luo Yan (@2 +) EMt L 1/1

Mr. Liu Yi (resigned on 30 May 2024) B3R 4 (120244 1/1
5 A30HEHE)

Mr. Li Yang (appointed on 30 May 2024) FEHRE (R20245 0/0
5R30HRZft)

SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE

The Supervisory Committee is a supervisory body of the Company
which is responsible for the supervision of the Board and its members
and senior management so as to prevent them from the misuse of
authority and infringement upon lawful rights of the Shareholders, the
Company and the Company’s employees. The number of members
and the composition of the Supervisory Committee are in line with the
provisions and requirements of the laws, regulations and the Articles.
The Supervisory Committee is comprised of three Supervisors, of
whom one was an employee representative democratically elected by
the employees of the Company.

The biographical information of the Supervisors is set out in the
section headed “Biographical Details of Directors, Supervisors and
Senior Management” on pages 33 to 40 of this annual report.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has adopted a Board Diversity Policy in order to
enhance the effectiveness of the Board and to maintain a high
standard of corporate governance.

Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, the Company seeks to achieve
diversity of the Board through the consideration of a wide range
of factors, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, industry experience, technical capabilities,
professional qualifications and skills, knowledge and length of
service. The ultimate decision will be based on merit of the selected
candidates and contribution that they will bring to the Board.
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The Board has a balanced mixed of knowledge and skills, including
overall management and strategic development, finance, accounting
and risk management in addition to industry experience in cosmetics.
The Directors obtained degrees in various majors including business
administration, finance, accounting, economics and laws. The
Company have three Independent Non-executive Directors with
different industry background, representing one-third of the members
of the Board.

For the purpose of implementation of the Board Diversity Policy, the
Board has set the following measurable objectives to implement the
Board Diversity Policy and review such objectives from time to time
to ensure their appropriateness and ascertain the progress made
towards achieving those objectives:

(A) at least one of the members of the Board shall be female;

(B) at least one-third of the members of the Board shall be
independent non-executive Directors;

(C) at least one of the members of the Board shall have obtained
accounting or other professional qualifications/knowledge of

environmental protection issues.

An analysis of the Board’s current composition based on the
measurable objectives is set out below:

Gender
5l
Male:
Bt
Female:

it

Designation

Bz

Executive Directors:

WITES

Non-executive Directors:
FMITES -

Independent Non-executive Directors:

BIFMITES
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Business Experience

Accounting & Finance:

BEHE -

Legal:

s

Experience Related to the Company’s Business:

HARBERABOER

The Nomination Committee and the Board are of the view that the
current composition of the Board has achieved the objectives set in
the Board Diversity Policy.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy
annually to ensure its effectiveness.

Gender Diversity

The Company values gender diversity across all levels of the Group.
The Company has taken, and will continue to take, steps to promote
gender diversity at all levels of the Company, including but not limited
to the Board and the senior management levels.

The following table sets out the gender ratio in the workforce of the
Group as at 31 December 2024

TEERRS

2 Directors
2HRES
1 Director
12EF
6 Directors

6RES

REZEGLEFERA  HARMEZTSAEKD
EREEELTLEREMANER -

REZEBEKEFEREESTELILLER © A
REBIE -

B it
ARRBERAEESZEABEMMUERNZ T - AR
B 2 ASBRER L A% 4 B SRR b A TR E AR R R) 5B
BEEMENZTL  BRETRNREZERER
EEEER -

TREFNEHE2024F 12 A31 0 - KEBEETH
MERIEE ] -

Female Male
pegis B
Overall workforce PHEET 1,239 847

The Board had targeted to achieve and had achieved at least 1 female
Director, and considers that the above current gender diversity is
satisfactory.

The Company will continue to work to enhance gender diversity of
the Board. The Board will use its best endeavors to appoint female
Directors to the Board and the Nomination Committee will use its
best endeavors to identify and recommend suitable female candidates
to the Board for its consideration of appointment of Directors. The
Company will also continue to ensure that there is gender diversity
when recruiting staff from mid to senior level, such that it will have a
pipeline of female management and potential successors to our Board
in due time to ensure gender diversity of the Board. The Group will
continue to emphasise training of female talents and provide long-term
development opportunities for the female staff.
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Director Nomination Policy

The Board has delegated its responsibilities and authority for selection
and appointment of Directors to the Nomination Committee of the
Company.

The Company has adopted a Director Nomination Policy, as contained
in the terms of reference of the Nomination Committee, which sets
out the selection criteria and nomination process and the Board
succession planning considerations in relation to nomination and
appointment of Directors of the Company and aims to ensure that the
Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the Company and the continuity of the Board and
appropriate leadership at Board level.

The nomination process of appointment of new Director set out in the
Director Nomination Policy is as follows:

(i) the Nomination Committee shall actively communicate with the
relevant departments of the Company to assess the Company’s
demand for new directors and senior management, and produce
materials in writing;

(i) the Nomination Committee may extensively seek for candidates
for directors and senior management within the Company, its
holding (shareholding) enterprises as well as the job market;

(i) the Nomination Committee shall collect and learn the information
of the occupation, education background, job title, detailed
working experience and all the part-time jobs of the initially
proposed candidates, and produce materials in writing;

(iv) to seek for the nominee’s written consent to the nomination,
otherwise, he/she shall not be considered as a candidate for
directors and senior management;

(v)  to convene Nomination Committee meetings to review the
qualifications of the initially proposed candidates according to
the job requirements of directors and senior management;

(vi)  to submit proposals and the relevant materials to the Board
in respect of candidates of directors and senior management
within a reasonable period of time prior to the election of new
directors and senior management; and

(vii)  to carry out other follow-up work according to the decision and
feedback of the Board.
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The Nomination Committee shall submit its decisions,
recommendations and/or proposals to the Board for consideration
and decision. Among which, the nomination of director candidates
must be submitted to the general meeting of shareholders for
review and approval after being reviewed by the Board and before
implementation.

The criteria for assessing the suitability and the potential contribution
to the Board of a proposed candidate as set out in the Board Diversity
Policy, including but not limited to the following, are gender, age,
cultural and educational background, industry experience, technical
capabilities, professional qualifications and skills, knowledge and
length of service.

During the Reporting Period, the following changes to the Board:

(i) Mr. Li Yang was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 30 May 2024.

(i) Mr. Liu Yi retired as an independent non-executive Director of
the Company on 30 May 2024.

Mr. Li Yang has obtained legal advice referred to under Rule 3.09D of
the Listing Rules on 28 May 2024 and confirmed he understood his
obligations as a Director of the Company.

The Nomination Committee will review the Director Nomination Policy,
as appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.

Corporate Governance Functions

In accordance with Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the
Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties
including:

° to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance;

° to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

° to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

° to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and
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° to review the Company’s compliance with Appendix C1 to
the Listing Rules (CG Code) and disclosure in the Corporate
Governance Report.

During the Reporting Period, the Board has performed the above
duties.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND
CONTROLS

INTERNAL

The Board has established a risk management and internal control
system in accordance with the requirements of paragraph D.2 under
Section Il of the CG Code, which is responsible for independently
reviewing the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control system of the Company, and continuously
monitoring and reviewing the effectiveness of its operation once a
year. The system aims to manage rather than eliminate the risk of
failure to achieve business objectives, promote effective and efficient
operations, reasonably ensure the reliability of financial reports and
comply with applicable laws and regulations and protect the assets
of the Group. The Board can only give reasonable but not absolute
assurance that there will be no material misrepresentation or loss.

Characteristics of the Risk Management and Internal
Control Organization System

In accordance with the requirements of code provision D.2.2 under
Section Il of the CG Code, the Group has established a sound risk
management and internal control organization system which includes
the Board, the Audit Committee, the Supervisory Committee, the
management of the Group, the office of the Board, the internal audit
department, the legal department and other departments to ensure
that the Group has sufficient resources, qualified and experienced
staffs, training courses and related budget for risk management and
internal audit. The various departments of the Group are the first line
of defense for risk management and internal control; the office of
the Board and the management of the Group are the second line of
defense; while the internal audit department, the legal department,
the Audit Committee and the Supervisory Committee are the third
line of defense. The Board bears the ultimate responsibility for the
establishment and improvement of the Group’s risk management and
internal control system as well as the effective implementation of the
risk management work, and serves as the highest decision maker for
the Group’s risk management and internal control.
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Implementation of Risk Management and Internal
Control

The Group reviews the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems every year and assesses all important
monitoring aspects including supervision on financial, operation and
compliance affairs, etc. based on the elements of internal control
such as the internal environment, risk assessment, control activities,
information and communication as well as internal supervision. After
risk assessment, the Company’s major risks during the Reporting
Period mainly involve business risks, financial risks, compliance risks,
inside information and internal control risks. According to our actual
situation, we have formulated practical and feasible response plans to
effectively manage risks:

Business risks: The business risks the Group mainly faces in
respect of its operations in the PRC include macro-economic risks,
competition risks, supply chain risks, reputation risks and sustainability
risks. The Board regularly reviews and identifies potential risks of
the Group, and adjusts strategies and policies in a timely manner, to
ensure that the business risks are controlled and managed.

Financial risks: The Group has adopted financial risk management
policies to control the Group’s financial risk exposure, such as
taxation risks and financial reporting risks. Also, the Board monitors
the financial results and key operating statistics with the assistance of
the Group’s internal finance department on a regular basis.

Compliance risks: The Group has adopted internal procedures to
monitor the Group’s compliance risks to ensure that the Group has
complied with the laws and regulations of the regions where the
Group conducts business. In addition, the Group engages professional
advisers from time to time to keep the Group updated with the latest
development in the regulatory environments.
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Formation of a Long-term Mechanism for Risk
Management and Internal Control

We continue to improve risk management policies and procedures,
specify the risk management structure and responsibilities. We identify
major risks that hinder the achievement of objectives and control
them within acceptable levels to ensure the achievement of business
objectives, the improvement of operational efficiency, the reliability of
financial reports and compliance with national regulations and other
compliance requirements. We evaluate and check the effectiveness of
our risk management and internal control systems through channels
such as the management, business units in the risk management
system, audit and inspection teams of the Group, external auditors,
and external legal advisor to improve risk response measures.
Meanwhile, in order to ensure the effective operation of the risk
management system, the Audit Committee reviews and supervises the
risk management work.

Our management focuses on business risks, financial risks
and compliance risks. Through agile audits, it achieves more
comprehensive and accurate risk control, identifies potential risks
more quickly, and promotes the improvement in management and
system processes to support the achievement of the mid- to long-term
vision and strategic goals of the Company. The Group’s management
procedures for financial reporting and information disclosure, etc. are
in strict compliance with the requirements of the Listing Rules. Office
of the Board conducts information reporting, reviewing and disclosure
in strict accordance with the Information Disclosure Management
formulated by the Company. Prior to disclosing relevant information
to the public, the Group will ensure that such information is kept
confidential properly and will perform the obligation to inform and
supervise the insiders of inside information as required.

The Board reviewed the risk management and internal control during
the Reporting Period and concluded that there had been no deficiency
in material risk control nor any weakness in material risk control based
on the outcome of the risk management and internal control work
implemented by the Group. The Board was of the view that the risk
management and internal control system of the Group is effective and
sufficient.
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Whistleblowing Policy

The Company has in place the Whistleblowing Policy for employees
of the Company and those who deal with the Company to raise
concerns, in confidence and anonymity, with the Audit Committee
about possible improprieties in any matters related to the Company.

Anti-Corruption Policy

The Company has also in place the Anti-Corruption Policy to
safeguard against corruption and bribery within the Company. The
Company has an internal reporting channel that is open and available
for employees of the Company to report any suspected corruption
and bribery. Employees can also make anonymous reports according
to the procedures as set out in the Whistleblowing Policy.

Disclosure of Inside Information Policy

The Company has developed its disclosure policy which provides a
general guide to the Company’s Directors, senior management and
relevant employees in handling confidential information, monitoring
information disclosure and responding to enquiries. Control
procedures have been implemented to ensure that unauthorized
access and use of inside information are strictly prohibited.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY
IN RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements with the support of the accounting and finance
team.

The Directors have prepared the financial statements in accordance
with the International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board. Appropriate accounting
policies have also been used and applied consistently except the
adoption of revised standards, amendments to standards and
interpretation.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. The financial
statements of the Company are prepared on a going concern basis,
the Directors are of the view that they give a true and fair view of
the financial position, performance and cash flow of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2024, and the disclosure of other
financial information and report therein complies with relevant legal
requirements.
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The statement of the external auditors of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report of this annual report.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid and payable to the external auditors of the
Company in respect of audit services and non-audit services for the
year ended 31 December 2024 is set out below:

Service Category

RABIMNEZBMAEERERTBERRZBRE
RSN AR FIRIBLIZHARERA -

% BB 7 A

HZE2024F 12 A1 AL FE » BRI RIE
ZERTS B 1 I FE S 2K X B NI X 8RR 2 S BN

FanT

Fees Paid/Payable

REEERI B ENER
(RMB’000)

(AR®BTIT)

Audit Services ZE R 75 3,820
Non-audit Services IERZ AR TS 100
Total et 3,920

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

The Company has appointed Mr. Lian Ming, a full-time employee of
the Company, and Mr. Li Kin Wai, a senior manager of corporate
services of Tricor Services Limited, a global professional services
provider specializing in integrated business, corporate and investor
services, as the Company’s joint company secretaries.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the joint
company secretaries on corporate governance and board practices
and matters. Mr. Lian, who is also the secretary to the Board, has
been designated as the primary contact person at the Company
which would work and communicate with Mr. Li on the Company’s
corporate governance and secretarial and administrative matters.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, Mr. Lian and Mr. Li have
undertaken not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training
respectively in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules. The
biographies of Mr. Lian and Mr. Li are set out in the “Biographical
Details of Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management” section of
this annual report.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting

Pursuant to Article 47 of the Articles, Shareholders severally or jointly
holding ten percent (10%) or more of shares of the Company have the
right to request the Board of Directors to convene an extraordinary
general meeting and such request shall be made in writing to the
Board of Directors. The Board of Directors shall, in accordance with
laws, administrative regulations and the Articles of Association, reply
in writing as to whether the Board of Directors agrees or disagrees
on the convening of the extraordinary general meeting within ten (10)
days upon the receipt of the requisition.

If the Board of Directors agrees to convene an extraordinary general
meeting, a convening notice shall be issued within five (5) days after
the resolution of the Board of Directors. Any modification to the
original requisition(s) shall be approved by the relevant shareholders.

If the Board of Directors disagrees to convene the extraordinary
general meeting, or fails to issue a reply within ten (10) days upon
receipt of the requisition(s), shareholders severally or jointly holding
ten percent (10%) or more of the shares of the Company are entitled
to propose to the Supervisory Committee to convene an extraordinary
general meeting, and shall make such requests in writing to the
Supervisory Committee.

If the Supervisory Committee agrees to convene the extraordinary
general meeting, a convening notice will be issued within five (5) days
upon the receipt of the request, and any modification to the original
requisition(s) shall be approved by relevant shareholders.

In the event that the Supervisory Committee fails to issue the
convening notice within the prescribed period, the Supervisory
Committee will be deemed as not to convene or preside the general
meeting. Shareholders severally or jointly holding ten percent (10%) or
more of the shares of the Company for consecutive ninety (90) days
may convene the general meeting and preside over on their own.
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Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

Pursuant to the Article 52 of the Articles, Shareholders individually or
collectively holding one percent (1%) or more of the total voting shares
of the Company shall be entitled to propose new resolutions to the
Company in writing which should be submitted to the convener ten
(10) days prior to the convening of the general meeting. The convener
of the general meeting shall issue a supplemental notice of general
meeting to other shareholders within two (2) days of the receipt of
such proposal to announce the contents of the provisional proposal
and incorporate such newly proposed matters falling within the scope
of duties of the general meeting into the agenda of such meeting for
consideration at the general meeting.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, Shareholders may
send written enquiries to the Company. The Company will not normally
deal with verbal or anonymous enquiries.

Contact Details
Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned
above to the following:

Address: 25 Floor, Building B, No. 3300 Zhongshan North Road,
Putuo District, Shanghai, The People’s Republic of China
(For the attention of the Board of Directors/Company
Secretary)

Telephone: (8621)52035333

Email: ir@kans.cn

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholders must deposit and send the
original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry
(as the case may be) to the above address and provide their full
name, contact details and identification in order to give effect thereto.
Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required by law.
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COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS/
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor
understanding of the Group’s business performance and strategies.
The Company is endeavoured to maintain an on-going dialogue with
Shareholders and in particular, through annual general meetings and
other general meetings. At the annual general meeting, Directors (or
their delegates as appropriate) are available to meet Shareholders and
answer their enquiries.

To safeguard Shareholder interests and rights, separate resolution
should be proposed for each substantially separate issue at general
meetings, including the election of individual Director. All resolutions
put forward at general meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant to
the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the websites of the
Company and of the Stock Exchange after each general meeting.

Shareholders Communication Policy

The Company has in place a Shareholders Communication Policy. The
policy aims at promoting effective communication with Shareholders
and other stakeholders, encouraging Shareholders to engage actively
with the Company and enabling Shareholders to exercise their rights
as Shareholders effectively.

The Board has considered and reviewed the Shareholders
Communication Policy and considers it to be effective.
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The Company has established a number of channels for maintaining

an on-going dialogue with its Shareholders as follows:

(a)

(b)

(c)

68

Corporate Communication

“Corporate Communication” as defined under the Listing
Rules refers to any document issued or to be issued by the
Company for the information or action of holders of any
of its securities, including but not limited to the following

documents of the Company: (a) the Directors’ report, annual
accounts together with a copy of the auditor’s report and,
(b) the interim

its summary interim report;

where applicable, its summary financial report;
report and, where applicable,
(c) a notice of meeting; (d) a listing document; (e) a circular;
and (f) a proxy form. The Corporate Communication of the
Company will be published on the Stock Exchange’'s website
(www.hkex.com.hk) in a timely manner as required by the
Listing Rules. Corporate Communication will be provided to
Shareholders and non-registered holders of the Company’s
securities in both English and Chinese versions or where
permitted, in a single language, in a timely manner as required
by the Listing Rules. Shareholders and non-registered holders
of the Company’s securities shall have the right to choose the
language (either English or Chinese) or means of receipt of the
Corporate Communication (in printed form or through electronic

means).

Announcements and Other Documents pursuant to the
Listing Rules

The Company shall publish announcements (on inside
information, corporate actions and transactions etc.) and
other documents (e.g. Articles of Association) on the Stock
Exchange’s website in a timely manner in accordance with the
Listing Rules.

Corporate Website

Any information or documents of the Company posted on
the Stock Exchange’s website will also be published on the
Company’s website (www.chicmaxgroup.com). Other corporate
information about the Company’s corporate governance will also
be available on the Company’s website.
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(d)

(e)

(f)

Corporate Governance Report

Shareholders’ Meetings

The annual general meeting and other general meetings of the
Company are primary forum for communication between the
Company and its Shareholders. The Company shall provide
Shareholders with relevant information on the resolutions(s)
proposed at a general meeting in a timely manner in accordance
with the Listing Rules. The information provided shall be
reasonably necessary to enable Shareholders to make an
informed decision on the proposed resolution(s). Shareholders
are encouraged to participate in general meetings or to
appoint proxies to attend and vote at the meetings for and on
their behalf if they are unable to attend the meetings. Where
appropriate or required, the Chairman of the Board and other
Board members, the chairmen of board committees or their
delegates, and the external auditors should attend general
meetings of the Company to answer Shareholders’ questions (if
any).

Shareholders’ Enquiries

Enquiries about Shareholdings

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their
shareholdings to the Company’s H share registrar, Tricor
Investor Services Limited, via its online holding enquiry service at
www.tricoris.com, or send emalil to is-enquiries@vistra.com or call its
hotline at (852) 2980 1333, or go in person to its public counter
at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong
Kong.

Enquiries about Corporate Governance or Other Matters to be
put to the Board and the Company

The Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous
enquiries. Shareholders may send any enquiries to the Board by
email: ir@kans.cn or by post to 25 Floor, Building B, No. 3300
Zhongshan North Road, Putuo District, Shanghai, The People’s
Republic of China.

Other Investor Relations Communication Platforms
Investor/analysts briefings, roadshows (both domestic and
international), media interviews, marketing activities for investors
and specialist industry forums etc. will be launched on a regular
basis.

(d)

(e)
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Amendments to Constitutional Documents

The Articles of Association was approved for amendment by the
shareholders of the Company at the 2024 first extraordinary general
meeting of the Company held on 30 September 2024 and further
amended on 15 October 2024 (for details, please refer to the
announcement of the Company published on 15 October 2024), and
an up to date version of the Articles of Association is also available on
the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website.

Dividend Policy

In relation to the dividend policy of the Company, please refer to
“Report of the Board of Directors” in this annual report for details.
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Report of the Board of Directors

The Board is pleased to present the annual report together with
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2024 (the “Consolidated Financial
Statements”).

CORPORATE INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the PRC with limited liability on
11 June 2004 and restructured to a joint-stock company with limited
liability on 24 December 2020. The Company was listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange on 22 December 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS
REVIEW

The Group is a multi-brand cosmetics company, focusing on research
and development, manufacturing and sales of skincare products,
maternity and childcare products, washing and personal care products
and makeup products.

The activities and particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries
are shown under note 1 to the Financial Statements.

A fair review of the Group’s business during the year ended 31
December 2024, including an analysis of which using financial key
performance indicators and the outlook of the Group’s business
are provided in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report, which
forms part of this “Report of the Board of Directors”.
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USE OF PROFEEDS FROM THE
GLOBAL OFFERING

The shares of the Company (the “Share(s)”) were listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange on the Listing Date with net proceeds
received by the Company from the Global Offering in the amount
of approximately HK$859.7 million” after deducting underwriting
commissions and all related expenses. The following table sets forth
the Company’s use of the proceeds from the Listing and the planned
timetable as at 31 December 2024.

Approximate Net proceeds

RIRBEMEGRERE

ARERRD ([BRD 1) 7 77 A BATE RS 32 Fr £ 4Rk
W MARFERIREEWN 2 ERIBFERS
#1859.7EEEITY (KINREHAE RATEER
Fis) o TREBIN2024F 128318 » ARQFH
RETAERIBRGNFERBERRETEIRMEEX -

Remaining net Utiised ~ Remaining net  Expected time

percentage of fromthe  proceedsasal  amountduring  proceeds as of to utiize the
the total net Global 31 December the reporting 31 December  remaining net
proceeds Offering 2028 period 2024 proceeds in full
20235 ER0004F
(EFAERE 25E 12A31R 128318 AEERTH
aFE fE5E M REEER Hprc  HEETED
fBsL e FEFE EFALE JEEE BEER
(HKD' million) (HKD' million) (HKD' milion) — (HKD' millon)
(B5#T) (BE#7) (BE#T) (BE#T)
Branding activiies to continue to~~ ERRFER - MEERA REFE 32.0% 2755 204.1 203.7 0.4 By31 December
enhance the brand image and IRERMREREORERA 2026
raise brand awareness of our B U RAEMOHRERLR HZ2026F
existing brands, as well as to & 12831825
establish the brand images of our
new brands
Enhancing our R&D capabiiies by~ A A MMM - BEMBER 12.2% 104.9 76.8 76.8 00  Fully Utiized
strengthening our fundamental FENERHE  RifnkankE wiy i
research and product B3
development, to maintain the
continuous innovation of our
brands
Strengthen our production and NEEMNLERRERE ) T 19.8% 170.6 158.4 1346 238 By 31 December
supply chain capabilties, mainly ERAMEETRAER NN 2026
involving the renovation of our & ERREARRESER HZ2026%
production facilities, upgrading our 12A31R24

automation equipment, and the
expansion of production capacities
in the Fengxian Plant
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Approximate Net proceeds  Remaining net Utilised Remaining net  Expected time
percentage of fromthe  proceedsasat  amountduring  proceeds as of to ufilize the
the total net Global 31 December the reporting 31 December  remaining net
proceeds Offering 2023 period 2024 proceeds in full
120235 HR0004%
{EFG5E 2HEE 124318 12318 AHERNE
aEEy 55 Hete REEHR Hpes  FETETEN
faBsL #E HEFE Bk FEFE  RORR
(HKD' millon) (HKD' millon) (HKD' milior) -~ (HKD' millon)
(BE37T) (BE37) (BE#T) (BE#T)
Increasing the breadth and depth of  ENRARERENERNRE - 18.0% 1545 00 00 00 Fully Utlized
our sales networks fo enhance the  TIARFERMSEE G i
penetration of our products
Enhancing our digtization and HERMMEF L RS AR 8.0% 69.2 63.3 9.1 542 By 31 December
information infrastructure 2026
HE2006%
12R31824
Working capital and other general ~ £EEEREL-REERR 9.9% 85.1 00 0.0 00 Fuly Utiized
corporate pUrposes s ke
Total? e 100% 859.7 5025 4242 783
Notes: st -
1) The total proceeds of approximately HK$859.7 million include approximately (1) FTiS AR IBHE3EH859.7 B BB L BIERA2022412 A%

HK$835.1 million from the Global Offering in December 2022 and approximately
HK$24.6 million from the partial exercise of the Over-allotment Option in January

2023 as disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 16 January 2023.

(2) Any discrepancies in the above table between the total shown and the sum of the

amounts listed are due to rounding.

The net proceeds have been and will be utilized in accordance with

the purposes set out in the Prospectus.

The expected timeline is based on the best estimation of future market

conditions and business operations made by the Company currently,

and will be subject to change based on future development of market

conditions and actual business needs.
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RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 and
the state of affairs of the Group as at 31 December 2024 are set out
in the Consolidated Financial Statements on pages 136 to 143.

The Board recommends the payment of final dividends of RMB298.5
million (equals to RMBO0.75 per share) for the year ended 31 December
2024 (2023: RMBO0.75 per share).

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s financial condition, results of operations, and business
prospects may be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties
directly or indirectly pertaining to the Group’s businesses. The
following are the key risks and uncertainties identified by the Group.
There may be other risks and uncertainties in addition to those shown
below which are not known to the Group or which may not be material
now but could turn out to be material in the future.

Business risks

° The domestic and foreign economic which in turn significantly
impacted the Group’s product manufacturing and led to the
decrease in demand in the consumer market.

° Our business and future growth prospects rely on consumer
demand for our products. Any shift in consumer demand, or
any unexpected situation with a negative impact on consumer
demand, may materially and adversely affect our business and
results of operations.

° Our business depends on market recognition of our brands.
Any damage to our reputation or brands may materially and
adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

° Any quality issues related to our products or the cosmetics
industry could result in a loss of customers and sales and,
if related to our products, may subject us to product liability
claims.
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Operational risks

Our sales and marketing strategies may not be able to adapt
to market changes, which could harm our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

Our marketing activities may not be cost-effective in attracting
consumers, which may in turn adversely affect our results of
operations.

Changes in supply, quality and costs of raw materials,
transportation and other necessary supplies or services
may impact our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

Any failure to obtain, maintain or renew any of the requisite
licenses, permits, registrations and filings required for our
business could adversely affect our operations.

Brand and products research and development risks

Our efforts in developing, launching and promoting new brands
and products, and diversifying our brand and product portfolio,
may not be successful.

Our efforts in developing and investing in research and
development may not generate expected outcomes.

Production Risks

We may face inadequate production capacity issue, which could
hinder our capabilities to satisfy customers’ demand and growth
prospects.

We may experience disruptions and delays in our production,
which may materially and adversely affect our results of
operations and financial condition.

Compliance and legal risks

Failure to comply with applicable advertising laws and
regulations when promoting our products may subject us to
potential risks and penalties.

Any failure or perceived failure to comply with data privacy and
security laws, or other concerns about our practices or policies
with respect the collection, use, storage, retention, transfer,
disclosure, and other processing of data, could damage our
reputation and deter current and potential users from using our

services.
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We may not be able to adequately protect our intellectual
property rights, which could harm the value of our brands and
adversely affect our business.

Laws and regulations related to e-commerce activities in China
may impose additional requirements and obligations on our
online operations.

We may be subject to intellectual property infringement claims,
which may be expensive to defend and may disrupt our business
and operations.

Manpower and Retention Risks

The Group may face the risk of not being able to attract and
retain key personnel and talents with appropriate and required
skills, experience and competence which would meet the
business objectives of the Group.

We may not be able to retain or promptly recruit senior
management members or other key personnel required for our
operations.

We may be unable to attract and retain the research and
development personnel required for our operations.

Financial Risks

The Group also faces financial risks including foreign currency
risk, credit risk, maximum risk exposure and year-end staging
and liquidity risk. Details of these financial risks are set out in
note 38 to the Consolidated Financial Statements of the Group.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in share capital of the Company during the

year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note 29 to the Financial

Statements.

RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTABLE
RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group are set out in the

consolidated statement of changes in equity of this annual report.

As at 31 December 2024, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution amounted to RMB489.4 million (as at 31 December 2023:
RMB415.5 million).
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s aggregate
revenue from the five largest customers accounted for less than 30%
of the Group’s total revenue.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, purchases from the
Group’s largest supplier and the five largest suppliers in aggregate
accounted for 9.0% and 30.2% respectively of the Group’s total
purchase.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, none of the Directors, any
of their close associates or any Shareholder (which to the knowledge
of the Directors owns more than 5% of the number of the issued
Shares of the Company) was interested in the top five suppliers of the
Group.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved to recommend the payment of final dividends
of RMBO0.75 per share for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023:
RMBO0.75 per share). The payment of final dividends above is still
subject to the approval from Shareholders at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company (the “AGM”), and will be made
on or around Friday, 30 May 2025. There is no arrangement that a
Shareholder has waived or agreed to waive any dividend.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a Dividend Policy on payment of
dividends. The Company do not have any pre-determined dividend
payout ratio. Depending on the financial conditions of the Company
and the Group and the conditions and factors as set out in the
Dividend Policy, dividends may be proposed and/or declared by the
Board during a financial year and any final dividend for a financial year
will be subject to the Shareholders’ approval.

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

The details of the subsidiaries of the Company are set out in note 1 to
the Financial Statements on pages 144 to 147 of this annual report.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s total capital
expenditure amounted to approximately RMB233.4 million (2023:
RMB87.8 million) which is primarily attributable to the new items of
property, plant and equipment. The details of the property, plant
and equipment of the Group and their movements during the year
ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note 14 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

BORROWINGS

Particulars of borrowings of the Group as at 31 December 2024 and
the details of the charging on the Group’s assets are set out in note
28 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS,
MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES,
ASSOCIATES OR JOINT VENTURES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, during the year ended 31
December 2024, the Group did not have any significant investments,
material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries, associates or joint
ventures. As for the Group’s significant investments, major acquisitions
and disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during
the reporting period, please refer to “Management Discussion and
Analysis—Significant Investments, Material Acquisitions and Disposal
of Subsidiaries, Associates and Joint Ventures” in this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS
AND REGULATIONS

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with regulatory
requirements and the risk of non-compliance with such requirements
could lead to the termination of operating licences. The Group
has been allocating system and staff resources to ensure ongoing
compliance with rules and regulations and to maintain cordial
working relationships with regulators effectively through effective
communications. During the year ended 31 December 2024, to the
best knowledge of the Directors, there was no material breach of or
non-compliance with applicable laws and regulations, that have a
significant impact on the business and operations of the Group, by
the Group.
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Report of the Board of Directors

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus and in the section headed “Use
of Proceeds from the Global Offering” in this annual report, the Group
did not have plan for material investments and capital assets.

SERVICE CONTRACT AND LETTER OF
APPOINTMENT OF THE DIRECTORS
AND SUPERVISORS

The Directors and Supervisors during the year ended 31 December
2024 and up to the date of this annual report were as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. Lyu Yixiong (&= 3 Iff %0 &)
(Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Luo Yan (&% +)
Mr. Feng Yifeng ()6 — &5t 4)
Ms. Song Yang (R & L)

Non-executive Directors
Ms. Li Hangiong (&g iz +)
Mr. Sun Hao (12 2 % 4)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Leung Ho Sun Wilson (Z3& #7155 4)

Ms. Luo Yan (Z## % +)

Mr. Li Yang (Z/¥ 50 4) (appointed on 30 May 2024)
Mr. Liu Yi (852 % %) (resigned on 30 May 2024)

Supervisors

Mr. Li Tao (&)

Ms. Shi Tenghua (e 1E 2z L)

Ms. Yang Min (8% 1) (appointed on 21 August 2024)
Ms. Cao Ying (E8iZ £) (resigned on 21 August 2024)

The biographical details of the Directors, Supervisors and the
senior management of the Group are disclosed in the section
headed “Biographical Details of Directors, Supervisors and Senior
Management” on pages 33 to 40 of this annual report.

ESEWE

BRIERERRAFR 2RBEEMFFARE] —
FIPTREES REELBERRENEREE
R

%E&Eﬁ%ﬂ@ﬂﬁﬁ%élﬁ&é&
R

HZE2024F 12 A AL FEREEARFR A H
MESLESMT :

HITES

B S
(BEEREERHNTE)
Bzt

B—igkE

RFZL

FHTES
FRELT
BRERE

BAFHITES

R &

Fis S

A (7120245 308 £ 1)
BIF e (520245 A30 A B )

E=E

TEEE

it e

B (R 2024F 8 A21 B &)
w4 (R 202458 A21 BEHE)

AEBES EFENSAEEENEEFBERAN

FHREBEI0EEE  EERSREREZR
FEFHE ] —EAIR R -

Annual Report 2024 £E#R4% | 79



Report of the Board of Directors
EEEWE

Pursuant to Articles 94 and 135 of the Articles of Association, the
term for Directors and Supervisors shall be three years. Each of the
Directors and Supervisors has entered into a service contract or a
letter of appointment with the Company for a term of three years.

There are no service contracts or letters of appointment between the
Company or its subsidiaries and any of the Directors or Supervisors
which is not determinable by the Company within one year without
payment of compensation apart from statutory compensation.

The Company has received annual confirmation of independence
from each of the independent non-executive Directors pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and all of them are considered to be
independent.

CHANGE IN DIRECTORS’ AND
SUPERVISORS’ INFORMATION

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no other information is
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing
Rules.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group were
entered into or existed during the year or subsisted at the end of the
year ended 31 December 2024.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emoluments of the Directors and senior management of the
Group are determined by the Board with reference to the respective
responsibilities, duties, experience, individual performance, and time
devoted to the Group and may be adjusted upon the recommendation
of the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee. The Remuneration
and Appraisal Committee was set up for reviewing the Company’s
emolument policy and structure of all remuneration of the Directors
and senior management of the Company. Please refer to the
paragraph headed “Share Incentive Scheme” in this section for details
of long-term incentive schemes of the Group.
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Report of the Board of Directors

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS,
SUPERVISORS AND FIVE INDIVIDUALS
WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and five highest paid
individuals of the Group are set out in notes 9 and 10 to the Financial

Statements on pages 204 to 208 of this annual report.

The following table sets forth the emoluments of the Supervisors for
the year ended 31 December 2024.
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EERAEERAERTHATOFTIEEER
REIRFE204E 208 B B RER M EI R 10 ©

TREFNEENEE2024F12 A31 B ILFEH
N o

Year ended 31 December 2024
EHZE2024F12831BLLEE

Salaries,
allowances Pension  Performance-
and benefits scheme related Share-based
in kind contributions bonuses payment Total
e Rk EiRE E$:) LURGD A
REMEF s EIftR HEETEA EBHAR Foh
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ETF T ARBT R ARBT T ARBTR ARBT R
Supervisors: B
Mr. Li Tao FEEE 710 222 95 66 1,093
Ms. Shi Tenghua HeiEfE s+ 430 222 - 665 1,317
Ms. Yang Min ol
(appointed on 21 (FA202448 A
August 2024) AHEAE)" 326 74 - 377 777
Ms. Cao Ying Eiiean
(resigned on 21 (FR2024F
August 2024) 821 HEEE)" 343 148 68 199 758
1,809 666 163 1,307 3,945
* The remuneration of such persons when they were the supervisors during the * RMEBRR - ZEATETE RO AR -

reporting period.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, except the amount
of approximately RMBO0.4 million received by Ms. Cao Ying as
compensation for loss of office, no emoluments were paid by the
Group to any Director, any Supervisor or any of the five highest
paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group
or as compensation for loss of office. None of the Directors or the
Supervisors has waived any emoluments for the year ended 31
December 2024.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’
INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

During the Reporting Period, none of the Directors, Supervisors or
his or her connected entity had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly in any transactions, arrangements and contracts of
significance in relation to the Company to which the Company or any
of its subsidiaries was a party.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING BY
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

No non-competition agreements or arrangement has been provided by
any of the Controlling Shareholders at any time during the Reporting
Period or as at 31 December 2024.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance in respect of
legal actions arising out of corporate activities against the Directors,
Supervisors and senior management of the Company. The permitted
indemnity provision is in force for the benefit of the Directors as
required by the provisions of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622
of the Laws of Hong Kong).
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Report of the Board of Directors

CONNECTED TRA
AND CONTINUING
TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group had the
following connected transactions and continuing connected
transactions subject to disclosure requirements, details of which are
disclosed in compliance with the requirements of Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

The Company entered into the following continuing connected
transaction with the connected persons as defined in the Listing
Rules, and transactions have been conducted in accordance with the
agreed terms.

I.  CONNECTED TRANSACTION: FORMATION OF THE
JOINT VENTURE

Formation of the Joint Venture

On 22 August 2024, Shanghai One Leaf Cosmetic Co., Ltd. (L&
B—E TR ARAT) (“Shanghai One Leaf’) and Hangzhou
Mangken Brand Management Co., Ltd.* (iR REEEA
[R27]) (“Hangzhou Mangken”) entered into a joint venture
and cooperation agreement (the “the Joint Venture and
Cooperation Agreement”) (as supplemented by a supplemental
agreement dated the same date), pursuant to which Shanghai
One Leaf and Hangzhou Mangken agreed to form a joint venture
(i.e. Shanghai One Leaf Skincare Products Co., Ltd.* (E/&—
ETEERERRAR), the “Joint Venture”) whereby Shanghai
One Leaf will contribute RMB10.2 million in cash to the Joint
Venture, accounting for 51% of the total initial registered capital

of the Joint Venture. The principal terms of the Joint Venture
and Cooperation Agreement are summarised as follows.
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Date: 22 August 2024

AE - 202448 H22H

Parties: (1) Shanghai One Leaf; and
BEORE 1) EF—EF: &k

(2) Hangzhou Mangken

(2) MUMEEER
Proposed name of the Shanghai One Leaf Skincare Products Co., Ltd.* (b8 —ET#ERERAT)
Joint Venture: (subject to final approval by administration for market regulation (7745 &5 £ & 3 Z5F9))
BERAINREESRT PE—EFEERERLR (REMSESEEIPIRERE)
Nature of the Joint Venture: limited liability company
AENAME EREMERF
Registered capital and The registered capital of the Joint Venture shall be RMB20.0 million.
capital contribution:
AMERREE SERANAMEAK R ARE20.08E T °

The proportion of capital contribution of the Joint Venture is set out below:
SEARRMHELAIEHTIMT

Amount of Proportion of

Capital Capital

Parties Contribution Contribution
HESPaY HERE HE L5
(RMB’000) (%)

(AR®BT ) (%)

Shanghai One Leaf EE—%EF 10,200 51
Hangzhou Mangken AR 9,800 49
Total #Et 20,000 100
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Proposed business scope:

et 33 HEE

Term of operation:
IS ERIR -

Management structure:
EIRORLE

Report of the Board of Directors
EEEWE

The shareholders of the Joint Venture will pay 50% of their respective capital
contribution in cash within 60 days from the date of the establishment of the Joint
Venture, and will negotiate the payment date of the remaining capital contribution
based on operation of the Joint Venture.
AERAREBEARERBIK Y AMERH60BALREZNEEE AL ETEN50%
WHSARIE & B A RIHE S B R R T LB R R B BT -

The amount of capital contribution was determined by the parties of the Joint
Venture and Cooperation Agreement after arm’s length negotiations, taking into
account various factors such as the business nature, working capital requirements
and future development plans of the Joint Venture.
HERDHAERERENRI NIRRT HEAREBREEARNERLE - ELES
BREARRERABEZHERRET -

Sales of cosmetics

fez s iHE

20 years
204

Board of shareholders
R

The Joint Venture shall set up a board of shareholders consisting of all of its
shareholders. The board of shareholders shall be the highest authority of the Joint
Venture.

BERARARIAEZBRRAKNKRRE - BKREAR/EERRNRSENEE -

Board of directors

R

The board of directors of the Joint Venture shall consist of three directors who
shall be nominated by the shareholders (two shall be nominated by Shanghai One
Leaf and one shall be nominated by Hangzhou Mangken) and appointed by the
shareholders of the Joint Venture. The chairman of the board of directors shall be
the director nominated by Shanghai One Leaf.

SERAMETERAH-REFHEN  ZEEFAHRFREL (HPMEBEHR XK
FiRE - —HBERMNTRREZ) WHEERARREE - EFRAM T —EFE
EEOEFEE -
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Distribution of profits:

MESE

Termination:

Bk

Supervisors

E=x

The Joint Venture shall have one supervisor, who shall be nominated by Shanghai
One Leaf and appointed by the shareholders of the Joint Venture.
BENFIRARE—BEF ZEFAHLEEFRATAAEAFKEEE -

Senior management
SRERE

The Joint Venture shall have one general manager who shall be nominated by
Hangzhou Mangken, and one chief financial officer, whom shall be nominated by
Shanghai One Leaf, and both the general manager and the chief financial officer shall
be appointed by the board of directors of the Joint Venture.

BARNRVARE —RHAKE (ARMMNTRIER) R — 2 K8% (AR L —% 117
Z) o MEKE R BEES AR ERREETRIE -

After making up losses of the Joint Venture, repaying loans and payments provided
by the parties to the Joint Venture (if any), and allocating to statutory reserve funds
in sequence, at least 50% of the after-tax net profits of the Joint Venture shall be
distributed to the shareholders of the Joint Venture proportional to their respective
paid-up capital contribution.

ERIEFBEEERANER  BEJOFTNEERRARMONERERE (WE) - B
MRBUEE ATERE » @B R ARG FNENEL0%ARZBENEHLELHD
RTFEEREMRE -

Any party of the Joint Venture and Cooperation Agreement is entitled to terminate
the cooperation upon the occurrence of the following circumstances:

BEAIFHEMNTA—TR TIIERELFGHERELLAE

(1) the accumulative losses of the Joint Venture exceeding RMB50 million;
(1) EERAINRTBEBRBARK0EET

(2) the Joint Venture recording losses for three consecutive years; and
() EERREBE=-FHEEE R

(8) the Joint Venture failing to reach an annual sales revenue of RMB1 billion (tax
inclusive) within the third year after the establishment of the Joint Venture.

(@) AERRMEKIEFE=FANFEHEWRAREERAREI0ET (BH) -

Shanghai One Leaf is entitled to terminate the cooperation if Hangzhou Mangken
and its actual controller, Mr. Lyu Zeqi, breach the non-competition undertaking in the
Joint Venture and Cooperation Agreement.

M MTEREEREHAEFEEERGEGENEANNTREFAZ - B EE—
ErEREIEAE-
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Non-competition:

Special arrangement:

Report of the Board of Directors
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Hangzhou Mangken and its actual controller, Mr. Lyu Zeqi, undertake that, during
the term of operation of the Joint Venture and before the annual sales revenue (tax
inclusive) of the Joint Venture exceeds RMB2 billion for two consecutive years, other
than the business conducted by them prior to the execution of the Joint Venture
and Cooperation Agreement, Hangzhou Mangken and its actual controller shall
not, directly or indirectly, engage in any business that competes with One Leaf (the
“Competing Business”), hold any position or equity interest in the entities that
conduct the Competing Business, or, directly or indirectly, invest in, participate
in, assist, provide consulting or advisory services to or otherwise engage in the
Competing Business in any manner.

MMERREERZEFHARET ARG  RABERANELHRARESE QAN
FRHEEWA (BH) REBEMFBRBARK20EITA - RESNFLEEAIERZR
KEMEBRIN MMNTREREEREHNANMIEZSMENRSTE-EFHBREFNE
MEB(RFEB])  RETREFEFNEBREEEMBLSIF B ETARE - s
FRFAEELIHEERE - 28 38 IRUEANERRESIARb T AR EHF
ES

During the term of operation of the Joint Venture, if the sales revenue (tax inclusive)
of facial skincare products under One Leaf in the channels that the Joint Venture
operates exceeds RMB2 billion and the net profit margin after tax is no less than
10%, and Hangzhou Mangken intends to dispose part of its equity interest in the
Joint Venture, Shanghai One Leaf and Hangzhou Mangken shall negotiate on the
reasonable price, transaction structure, transaction method, etc. of such acquisition.
Shanghai One Leaf and the Company may acquire no more than 10% of the equity
interest in the Joint Venture held by Hangzhou Mangken at a reasonable price after
completion of necessary internal review and decision-making procedures, subject to
the requirements under the then applicable laws and regulations, Listing Rules and
relevant provisions of securities regulatory authorities.

Rl B REBRRNKEHRA  WM—EFETHESEESEREAEAREERENHE
WA (BF) BBRARB20EITEBBEFAETERN10% - BEMNEREEEERE
BERTINHMORE - B EE—EFRMMEBERBEERENSEER  RXHEBER
RSFEEEITER - BB —EFREARFARTHRHSENRNIBER LRKEF1EL
SRERKBMMNTEREERRINFEA THEB10%MAE - HABTFERERER
ER - ETARAIRFE ST ARR R SUE TEVARE ©

Reasons for and benefits of the formation of the Joint RIGENTNEHREZR

Venture

Mr. Lyu Zeqi, the actual controller of Hangzhou Mangken, and MNTERNBERIZH A B BHFLEERLREE

his team have been engaged in the cosmetics industry for over B E L RITERBBI5FE  BELER

15 years, with extensive experience in operating in e-commerce EERBERKR ARITELERNES

channels and the operational strength in brand building. Mr. BEhH e AEHFAARNERRYESERNE

Lyu Zeqgi and his team have developed a cosmetics brand, H 2016 F &I Wbt BT ER A

which was established in 2016, into a brand with annual gross FEEMRIFEGMV)BBARE10ETH

merchandise volume exceeding RMB1 billion within several B KT ABARSENAAREFRRHZS

years. Leveraging on the resources and strengths of the Group EHEENEBEBFMNERLER  KEN

and Mr. Lyu Zeqi and his team, the formation of the Joint HE—FRE-EFUEERIFHEMRE ©

Venture aims to operate and further develop One Leaf and to
achieve favourable economic benefits.
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Listing Rules Implications

As at the date of this annual report, Hangzhou Mangken is a
company owned as to 99.5% by Mr. Lyu Zeqi and 0.5% by Mr.
Lyu Zecai, both being cousins of Mr. Lyu Yixiong, the chairman
of the Board, an executive Director, the chief executive officer
and a controlling shareholder of the Company. Pursuant to Rule
14A.21 of the Listing Rules, Hangzhou Mangken is a deemed
connected person of the Company. Therefore, the formation
of the Joint Venture constitutes a connected transaction of the
Company under the Listing Rules.

As the highest applicable percentage ratio in respect of the
formation of the Joint Venture is more than 0.1% but less than
5%, the formation of the Joint Venture is only subject to the
reporting and announcement requirements but exempt from the
circular and Independent Shareholders’ approval requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
PRODUCT SALES FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT

The Company and the Joint Venture entered into a product
sales framework agreement (the “Product Sales Framework
Agreement”) on 4 September 2024, pursuant to which the Joint
Venture agreed to purchase certain products from the Group
(excluding the Joint Venture). The principal terms of the Product
Sales Framework Agreement are summarised as follows.
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From the date of approval of the ordinary resolution regarding the Product Sales
Framework Agreement at the the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held

Parties: (1) The Group (excluding the Joint Venture); and

I (1) AEE(TREGERF) &
(2) the Joint Venture (for itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries)
2 ERA(RAERHERRKENBAFR)

Term:
on 30 September 2024 to 31 December 2026
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Nature of transaction:

ZHME

Pricing principles:

EERE

Payment:

3 -
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The Joint Venture agreed to (1) purchase facial skincare products under One
Leaf (the “One Leaf Cosmetics Products”) during the term of the Product Sales
Framework Agreement; and (2) purchase inventories of facial skincare products
of online sales channels under One Leaf manufactured by Shanghai Zhongyi as
at the effective date of the Product Sales Framework Agreement (the “One Leaf
Inventories”) from the Group (excluding the Joint Venture), which will be a one-off
transaction in 2024.

SELRIRAERAALE (TEESGERAR) (WRERHEEERGRNPRARE —EF
BETHOEHBESER ([—EFirm ) RQPREREEERDGENEXABRER
FEPMAEE-EFETR THERENESEEERNEE (- EFFE]) A
BRI RBN2024FH—IRER S -

The pricing of the sales of certain products to the Joint Venture will be made on a
fair and reasonable basis at industrial cost price, which is substantially the same as
the pricing principles of other joint ventures and operation projects of the Group.
MEERAIHEETERNEBRBREIERABRIZATABEEEME @ BN
AEBAEMEE AR RELERNEERIAEMEMA -

Time and manner of payment will be agreed upon by specific contracts entered
into between the parties for purchase of One Leaf Cosmetics Products, which shall
conform in all material respects to the principles and provisions of the Product Sales
Framework Agreement; and payment for purchase of One Leaf Inventories will be
settled after the effective date of the Product Sales Framework Agreement in the
estimated amount of RMB58 million, and time, manner and accurate amount of
payment will be confirmed in writing by the parties.

MRERE R RGETORRERE - timsl YW ERBE 0T - WARME
BAFTHEAEEMHESERBRNRYRE  MRBE-—BEFFENTIERREDH
EERGENERDRELEE AT @BERARB8BET - MHERE - 7R RAER
SRR UERRRAER

Annual Caps FEELR

The sales amounts payable to the Group (excluding the Joint HE2024%F ~ 2025%F £ 2026F 12 A31H
Venture) for the three years ending 31 December 2024, 2025 HT=AFE BNAEE (TREAER
and 2026 shall not exceed the caps as set out in the table A MHE ST EEBBE TRTE/N LR :

below:

Proposed annual caps for the
year ended/ending December 31
BE12A31BLEFEN

EEFELR
(RMB’ million)
(AREBER)
2024 2025 2026
20244 20254 2026 F
Sales amount HESR 105.73 490.29 735.43
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Basis of Annual Caps

The annual caps for the sales amount under the Product Sales
Framework Agreement are determined after taking into account
the estimated growth in sales revenue of the Joint Venture and
its increasing needs for purchasing facial skincare products
from the Group, which is based on (i) the historical revenue
growth of other brands of the Group, such as KANS ; (i) the
extensive experience of Mr. Lyu Zeqi and his team in operating
in e-commerce channels in the cosmetics industry and the
operational strength in brand building; and (iii) the expected
increase in market share of domestic cosmetics brands.

Historical Amount

The actual transaction amount payable to the Group (excluding
the Joint Venture) by the Joint Venture for the year ended 31
December 2024 is nil.

Reasons for and Benefits of entering into the Product Sales
Framework Agreement

The Joint Venture engages in operation of facial skincare
products under One Leaf in the online channels. In order to
achieve stable development of the Joint Venture in the long term
and meet its business needs, and leveraging on the resources
and strengths of the Group, the Group will be responsible for the
manufacture of the products under One Leaf and the provision
of facial skincare products to the Joint Venture.

Listing Rules Implications

The Joint Venture is held as to 49% by Hangzhou Mangken, a
deemed connected person of the Company, and 51% indirectly
by the Company. Pursuant to Rule 14A.16 of the Listing Rules,
the Joint Venture is a connected subsidiary of the Company.
Therefore, the transactions contemplated under the Product
Sales Framework Agreement shall constitute continuing
connected transactions of the Company under the Listing Rules.

| Shanghai Chicmax Cosmetic Co., Ltd. £/8 E= (bt @D AR A E
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Report of the Board of Directors

As the highest applicable percentage ratio of the proposed
annual caps for the transactions contemplated under the
Product Sales Framework Agreement for the three years ending
31 December 2024, 2025 and 2026 exceeds 5%, such
continuing connected transactions are subject to the reporting,
announcement, annual review, circular and Independent
Shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

CHICMAX OPERATIONAL SUPPORT SERVICE
AGREEMENT

The Company and the Joint Venture entered into an operational
support service agreement (the “Chicmax Operational Support
Service Agreement”) on 4 September 2024, pursuant to which
the Group (excluding the Joint Venture) agreed to provide certain
operational support services to the Joint Venture. The principal
terms of the Chicmax Operational Support Service Agreement
are summarised as follows.

(2)

&

THE

HRERHEERBBZE THRETNZS
H 20244 « 20254 2 2026F 12 A31H
FT=AFENEEZFELRANEREAR
DLLEEEIBE% - BRAFERER HEET
EFHRAE4AZE TR - 2F - FF
0 - B RIE T RERAERE ©

ERBEZFRBE R

NATEAEERFR2024F9 4RI+
FEEIERSHE (| LREEIERE
WmEl) Bl AER(TBRESERQR)
REM&GEARRHTE TEEZHRE -
EXEEIFRBHENE 2EFE A m
‘|T o

From the date of affixation of seal by the parties to the agreement to 31 December

Parties: (1) The Group (excluding the Joint Venture); and
HESE (1) AEE(PEEAERR) R
(2) the Joint Venture
(2 aERHA
Term:
2026
HAPR B A EEE HIEE2026F12 A31 B 1E

Nature of transaction:

It is agreed by the parties that the Group (excluding the Joint Venture) will provide

the following operational support services to the Joint Venture:

RHHEE

e research and development;

o HfEf:
e |ogistics;
o W -

e advertising and promotion; and

e EHEEME R

RN EMEAEKE (TRESEQR) BRAAERRRMUTES IR
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Pricing principles:

EERA

other services, including management of intellectual property, compliance,
auditing and coordination with governmental authorities.

Hib R (BRERENBMERE - 28 - |t REBUTEBFIHA) -

Research and development of products
EmbfEE

The pricing for providing research and development services to the Joint Venture
will be calculated with reference to 3% of the sales revenue (tax inclusive) of the
Joint Venture. If the actual research and development expenses of the Group
(excluding the Joint Venture) account for less than 3% of the sales revenue, the
pricing will be calculated with reference to the actual percentage of the sales
revenue of the Joint Venture.
M&aBERRRHIAERBHNEEKLEGERFIHEEWA (FH) H8%HE « K
SEH(TMEREERAR) NERMEREHERATES%  TEHZ2EEERR
HEWANERELETH -

Logistics

b

The pricing for providing logistics services to the Joint Venture will be calculated
with reference to 0.5% of the sales revenue (tax inclusive) of the Joint Venture.
m&aERAREVRRENEERSESEQAHEEWA (BH) 0.5%1E -

Advertising and promotion

EEER

The pricing for providing advertising and promotion services to the Joint Venture
will be calculated based on a certain percentage of the advertising and promotion
fees under the relevant advertising and promotion contract(s) entered into by the
Group (excluding the Joint Venture) (i.e. the percentage of the sales revenue (tax
inclusive) generated by the channels operated by the Joint Venture under One
Leaf to the total sales revenue (tax inclusive) generated under One Leaf ).
MEERRREESEERBHEESRERER (TRESERQR)FTLHHEHE
EEEANETEEEEEN TE L (- EFETEERAESHNREME
ERHEEBA (B BRA—EFETHMEENBEERA (EH)NESLL)FTE -

Other services

H At AR5

The pricing for providing other services to the Joint Venture will be calculated
with reference to 0.5% of the sales revenue (tax inclusive) of the Joint Venture.
mEEARRTEEMRBHEEH2EEERRHEEWRA () B0.5%:THE -
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EEEWE

The pricing for providing the above operational support services to the Joint
Venture was determined based on normal commercial terms at arm’s length
negotiation, taking into account the estimated costs, a proper level of premium
for providing the operational support services, and the service fees charged to
other Independent Third Parties by the Group (excluding the Joint Venture) for
providing similar operational support services.

& &R AR M F U8 S 2 F RIS B B DA ET RAEFTBOR -~ RRILGE S X FH R
BERBKFEARTEE (TEEGERR) MAMELE = FRIEMHEALEE
AR PUCERE IR TS B 1% - IR IE B E RN R T R ERET -

Payment: The fees for providing operational support services will be paid by the Joint
Venture to the Group (excluding the Joint Venture) on a monthly basis.

R REELIFRENERARBBSERTBRAINTALE (TEEAERA) -

Annual Caps FELR

The transaction amounts payable to the Group (excluding the HZE2024%F + 2025%F £ 2026F 12 A31H

Joint Venture) for the three years ending 31 December 2024, F=EFE ENIAEE(TEEEER

2025 and 2026 shall not exceed the caps as set out in the table AR EENMSFEBBTRMER LR -

below:

Proposed annual caps for the
year ended ending December 31
BZ12A31BLFEN

EERFELR
(RMB’ million)
(AR®EEET)
2024 2025 2026
2024 20254 2026 F
Transaction amount REEH 9.42 51.30 69.44
Basis of Annual Caps FELREE
The annual caps for the transaction amount under the Chicmax LXBEIRREREETORIEEN
Operational Support Service Agreement are determined after FELFRTDIBEAERAHEERA (B/H)
taking into account the expected growth in operational support WIS R A RELC S HREEBRNE
service fees based on the expected growth in the sales revenue R RBET  ZIEREN)TEEEMD
(tax inclusive) of the Joint Venture, which is based on (i) the W (nEE R ) ME S WA R (i) 223 5%
historical revenue growth of other brands of the Group, such EREEFEEMNERITEESHERBE
as KANS; (i) the extensive experience of Mr. Lyu Zeqi and his BB RITEMENELEN  RIHNBRE
team in operating in e-commerce channels in the cosmetics {thmmETERESRES -

industry and the operational strength in brand building; and (iii)

the expected increase in market share of domestic cosmetics

brands.
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Historical Amount

The actual transaction amount payable to the Group (excluding
the Joint Venture) by the Joint Venture for the year ended 31
December 2024 is nil.

Reasons for and Benefits of entering into the Chicmax
Operational Support Service Agreement

The Joint Venture engages in operation of facial skincare
products under One Leaf in the online channels. In order to
achieve stable development of the Joint Venture in the long term
and meet its business needs, and leveraging on the resources
and strengths of the Group, the Group will be responsible for
provision of certain operational support services to the Joint
Venture.

Listing Rules Implications

The Joint Venture is held as to 49% by Hangzhou Mangken, a
deemed connected person of the Company, and 51% indirectly
by the Company. Pursuant to Rule 14A.16 of the Listing Rules,
the Joint Venture is a connected subsidiary of the Company.
Therefore, the transactions contemplated under the Chicmax
Operational Support Service Agreement shall constitute
continuing connected transactions of the Company under the
Listing Rules.

As the highest applicable percentage ratio of the proposed
annual caps for the transactions contemplated under the
Chicmax Operational Support Service Agreement for the three
years ending 31 December 2024, 2025 and 2026 is more
than 0.1% but less than 5%, such continuing connected
transactions are only subject to the reporting and announcement
requirements but exempt from circular and Independent
Shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

| Shanghai Chicmax Cosmetic Co., Ltd. £/8 E= (bt @D AR A E
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Report of the Board of Directors
EEEWE

DONGYIN OPERATIONAL SUPPORT SERVICE (3) HRENE&ZXERKEHE

AGREEMENT

Zhejiang Dongyin Cosmetics Co., Ltd.* (TR EMELATE AL R bt A R AR ([HIRED]) 82
fR A 7]) (“Zhejiang Dongyin”) and the Joint Venture entered AERNRR2024F9 A4 BT RENE S
into an operational support service agreement (the “Dongyin G ((RENELE SRR -
Operational Support Service Agreement’) on 4 September Bt MIRHRERGEAGRMEET
2024, pursuant to which Zhejiang Dongyin agreed to provide BETHRY RHOEEIFREBER
certain operational support services to the Joint Venture. The FEEFBEMAT o

principal terms of the Dongyin Operational Support Service

Agreement are summarised as follows.

Parties:

R

Term:

HARR -

Nature of transaction:

RHHEE

Pricing principles:

EERA

Payment:

3 -

(1) Zhejiang Dongyin (for itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries); and

M MIREN(BEAGRRREMBAR) © &

(2) the Joint Venture
(2) BERHA

From the date of affixation of seal by the parties to the agreement to 31 December
2026
BT EEE HEE20265F12 A31H1E

It is agreed by the parties that Zhejiang Dongyin will provide the following operational
support services to the Joint Venture:
IR MEM IR N RS E R AHRHA T E & R

e provision of office space and supplies; and
o RBEMATHMEAR: K

e human resources management.
o ANERERE -

The pricing for providing operational support services as set out above to the Joint
Venture will be calculated with reference to 2% of the sales revenue (tax inclusive)
of the Joint Venture, which was determined on normal commercial terms at arm’s
length negotiation, taking into account the estimated costs and a reasonable level of
premium for providing the operational support services.

M&ERRRE EXAEHEE X FHRENEEH2EQERARHERA (BH) B92%
HE REENEFIRMEESIFRENMEARAMEGIBEBE KT IREFHE
B RSN T REIRET

The fees for providing operational support services will be paid by the Joint Venture
to Zhejiang Dongyin on a monthly basis.

RUBEIFRBNERFHAEDRRE A FANTR -

Annual Report 2024 E£E#% | 9§



Report of the Board of Directors

=

96

RS

Annual Caps

The transaction amounts payable to Zhejiang Dongyin for the
three years ending 31 December 2024, 2025 and 2026 shall not

exceed the caps as set out in the table below:

FELR

BUZE 2024 ~ 20254 }22026F12 A31H
LE=EFE BN IRENRXSHEEN
BB TRMBM LR

Proposed annual caps for the
year ended ending December 31

BE12A31HLEER

EERFELR
(RMB’ million)
(AREBEET)
2024 2025 2026
2024 2025%F 2026
Transaction amount RH5&HE 2.21 23.15 34.72
Basis of Annual Caps FELREE

The annual caps for the transaction amount under the Dongyin
Operational Support Service Agreement are determined after
taking into account the expected growth in operational support
service fees based on the expected growth in the sales revenue
(tax inclusive) of the Joint Venture, which is based on (i) the
historical revenue growth of other brands of the Group, such
as KANS; (i) the extensive experience of Mr. Lyu Zeqi and his
team in operating in e-commerce channels in the cosmetics
industry and the operational strength in brand building; and (iii)
the expected increase in market share of domestic cosmetics
brands.

Historical Amount

The actual transaction amount payable to Zhejiang Dongyin by
the Joint Venture for the year ended 31 December 2024 is nil.

| Shanghai Chicmax Cosmetic Co., Ltd. £/8 E= (bt @D AR A E

RNBEXFHRBBER TN SHA
FELRDBRESEQRAHELA (BH)
MBI R MEE I RBERANE
HIERERETE » 2B RERO)AEE A S
f (N2 R) ME LA R ¢ (i@ EF %k
EREEKEENRRITEEHREE
BRBMTEMENESED  R(iHE
et s s XEHES

B£8R

HE2024F12A31HILFE » A& QAR
MATTRENBEE R 5 8BAT -



Report of the Board of Directors

Reasons for and Benefits of entering into the Dongyin
Operational Support Service Agreement

The Joint Venture engages in operation of facial skincare
products under One Leaf in the online channels. In order to
achieve stable development of the Joint Venture in the long term
and meet its business needs, and leveraging on the resources
and strengths of Mr. Lyu Zeqi, the actual controller of Zhejiang
Dongyin, and his team, Zhejiang Dongyin will be responsible
for provision of certain operational support services to the Joint
Venture.

Listing Rules Implications

Zhejiang Dongyin is a company owned as to 99% by Mr. Lyu
Zeqi and 1% by Mr. Lyu Zewen, both being cousins of Mr.
Lyu Yixiong, the chairman of the Board, an executive Director,
the chief executive officer and a controlling shareholder of the
Company. Pursuant to Rule 14A.21 of the Listing Rules, Zhejiang
Dongyin is a deemed connected person of the Company.
After its establishment, the Joint Venture will be a non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company. Therefore, the transactions
contemplated under the Dongyin Operational Support Service
Agreement shall constitute continuing connected transactions of
the Company under the Listing Rules.

As the highest applicable percentage ratio of the proposed
annual caps for the transactions contemplated under the
Dongyin Operational Support Service Agreement for the three
years ending 31 December 2024, 2025 and 2026 is more
than 0.1% but less than 5%, such continuing connected
transactions are only subject to the reporting and announcement
requirements but exempt from circular and Independent
Shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

ESEWE

A M RENBE SIS IRB R E R RS

BERARE-—EFHETEBESERE
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LOGISTICS AND WAREHOUSING SERVICE (4) YhKkAKREHE
AGREEMENT

Hangzhou Rongheng Trading Co., Ltd.* (I/MNEIEZ SERE A MNEEZZBRAE ([MMEE]) B4
7)) (“Hangzhou Rongheng”) and the Joint Venture entered BRAFI YR RERERBEHE (YRR
into a logistics and warehousing service agreement (the BEREBREHRE] Bt NRERER
“Logistics and Warehousing Service Agreement’), pursuant SERREEYRREFRE - R LE
to which Hangzhou Rongheng agreed to provide logistics BRI ENEZ T -

and warehousing services to the Joint Venture. The principal
terms of the Logistics and Warehousing Service Agreement are
summarised as follows.

Parties: (1) Hangzhou Rongheng (for itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries); and
HESE (1) mMEE (RERFRRKEMBEAR) &

(2) the Joint Venture
(2) BERA

Term: From the date of affixation of seal by the parties to the agreement to 31 December
2026

HAPR Bl AT EEE RRE2026F12A31H1E

Nature of transaction: It is agreed by the parties that Hangzhou Rongheng will provide logistics and
warehousing services to the Joint Venture.

RHME - IR E N BB A& B D EHR MY IR A RS

Pricing principles: The pricing for providing logistics and warehousing services to the Joint Venture will

be calculated by the following formula, which was determined on normal commercial
terms at arm’s length negotiation, taking into account the estimated costs and a
proper level of premium for providing the logistics and warehousing services:
EBRE maB e RER ke FRBHEBBIRUTANGE - ZEE LT RIEHYR
RERREOMEANEATEZ REKTE  REFTHEGRRLRERTHEERERE

(Actual costs incurred by Hangzhou Rongheng + Allocated costs incurred by
Hangzhou Rongheng) x (1+10%)
(BTN R B A A B B R BOR + AN BB A& A BV B D BEBCAS) x(1+10%)

Payment: The fees for providing logistics and warehousing services will be paid by the Joint
Venture to Hangzhou Rongheng on a monthly basis.
IR REMRRE#ERGOERBBEEEARNS AN TIIMEE -
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Annual Caps FEE LR

The transaction amounts payable to Hangzhou Rongheng for BZE2024%F ~ 2025%F 2 20264F12 H31H
the three years ending 31 December 2024, 2025 and 2026 shall IF=EFE  BENMNRENZZEED
not exceed the caps as set out in the table below: BHRB TR LR -

Proposed annual caps for the
year ended ending December 31
BZE12A31BLFEN

EEFELR
(RMB’ million)
(AR¥EHEBT)
2024 2025 2026
20244 2025%F 2026F
Transaction amount RH5H& 5 6.07 63.66 95.48
Basis of Annual Caps FELREE
The annual caps for the transaction amount under the Logistics MRkEFRBHZERE TR SENF
and Warehousing Service Agreement are determined after taking EERDEARNUNTEIBESBE : 68RQ
into account the estimated growth of sales revenue of the Joint AIEEWAMTEEHERREHMIMNEER
Venture and its increasing needs for logistics and warehousing MnkEFERBENERER  ZEERER
services from Hangzhou Rongheng, which is based on (i) the (VA S H Ath fm &2 (R0 R ) BYE 2 g A 38
historical revenue growth of other brands of the Group, such as K (i)mERRERABKZE N
KANS; (i) the extensive experience of Mr. Lyu Zeqi and his team TEERNRBEELCRRRITERBNES
in operating in e-commerce channels in the cosmetics industry Bh o R(i)BEE i mmEmERTEERRE
and the operational strength in brand building; (iii) the expected = e
increase in market share of domestic cosmetics brands.
Historical Amount i e |
The actual transaction amount payable to Hangzhou Rongheng HE20245F12 A3 HILFE - 6 ERQFIE
by the Joint Venture for the year ended 31 December 2024 is NMNRENERR 5 BAT -
nil.
Reasons for and Benefits of entering into the Logistics and AUMARERREHENEARER
Warehousing Service Agreement
Hangzhou Rongheng has more than five years of experience mMMNEEERHE A RERRE T EES
in provision of logistics and warehousing services. Located in HBTFLR  MMNRIEBL MM - 258
Hangzhou, Hangzhou Rongheng has convenient transportation fEF o
access.
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Listing Rules Implications

Hangzhou Rongheng is wholly owned by Mr. Lyu Zecai, a cousin
of Mr. Lyu Yixiong, the chairman of the Board, an executive
Director, the chief executive officer and a controlling shareholder
of the Company. Pursuant to Rule 14A.21 of the Listing Rules,
Hangzhou Rongheng is a deemed connected person of the
Company. After its establishment, the Joint Venture will be a
non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. Therefore, the
transactions contemplated under the Logistics and Warehousing
Service Agreement shall constitute continuing connected
transactions of the Company under the Listing Rules.

As the highest applicable percentage ratio of the proposed
annual caps for the transactions contemplated under the
Logistics and Warehousing Service Agreement for the three
years ending 31 December 2024, 2025 and 2026 is more
than 0.1% but less than 5%, such continuing connected
transactions are only subject to the reporting and announcement
requirements but exempt from circular and Independent
Shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

Supplemental Agreement

Hangzhou Rongheng, the Joint Venture and the Company
entered into a supplemental agreement on 20 March 2025 to
the Logistics and Warehousing Service Agreement to modify
the contract parties to the Logistics and Warehousing Service
Agreement, pursuant to which Hangzhou Rongheng (for itself
and on behalf of its subsidiaries) agreed to provide logistics and
warehousing services to the Group, instead of the Joint Venture.
Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 20
March 2025 for details.
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Annual Review by the Independent Non-executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
continuing connected transactions set out in note 35 to the
Financial Statements in this annual report, and are of the view
that the transactions have been entered into under the following
circumstances:

(1) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(2)  on normal commercial terms or on terms no less favorable
to the Group than terms offered to/by independent third
parties; and

(3) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing
those transactions on terms that are fair and reasonable
and in the interest of the Shareholders of the Company as
a whole.

For related party transactions disclosed in note 35 to the
Financial Statements which constituted connected transactions
or continuing connected transactions under the Listing Rules,
the Company has complied with all the relevant requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Confirmation from the Company’s Independent Auditors

Ernst & Young, the Company’s independent auditors, were
engaged to report on the Group’s continuing connected
transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 Assurance Engagements Other
Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information
and with reference to Practice Note 740 Auditors’ Letter on
Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants.
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In respect of the continuing connected transactions disclosed
(the “Disclosed Continuing Connected Transactions”), the
Company’s auditors confirmed that, with respect to those
entered into during the financial year ended 31 December 2024
or before:

a. nothing has come to its attention that causes it to believe
that the Disclosed Continuing Connected Transactions
have not been approved by the Board;

b. for transactions involving the provision of goods or
services by the Group, nothing has come to its attention
that causes it to believe that the transactions were not,
in all material respects, in accordance with the pricing
policies of the Group;

C. nothing has come to its attention that causes it to believe
that the transactions were not entered into, in all material
respects, in accordance with the relevant agreements
governing such transactions; and

d. with respect to the aggregate amount of each of the
continuing connected transactions, nothing has come to
its attention that causes it to believe that the Disclosed
Continuing Connected Transactions have exceeded the
annual cap as set by the Company.

CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES, SHARE
OPTIONS, WARRANTS OR SIMILAR
RIGHTS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company did not issue
any convertible securities, share options, warrants or similar rights.
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DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’ AND
CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
OR SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND
ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of the
Directors, the Supervisors and the chief executive of the Company in
the Shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) as notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions which he/she is keen to taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO), or as recorded in the registered
maintained by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or as
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code were as follows:
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Mr. Lyu Yixiong Unlisted Shares Beneficial interest 46,640,000(L) 24.32% 11.72%
BEELE e ) EniEn
H shares 100,886,500(L) 48.91% 25.35%
HIR
Unlisted Shares Interest in controlled 145,112,560(L) 75.68% 36.46%
corporation
el R EE R
H shares 36,000,000(L) 17.45% 9.04%
HA%
Ms. Luo Yan (Z#) H Shares Beneficial interest 885,600(L) 0.43% 0.22%
B L H& EanlEn
Mr. Feng Yifeng H Shares Beneficial interest 27,000(L) 0.01% 0.01%
S H& B
Mr. Sun Hao H Shares Beneficial interest 10,000(L) 0.00% 0.00%
BRE&EAE Hi& EmigEen
Ms. Yang Min H Shares Beneficial interest 30,497(L) 0.01% 0.01%
BT H& EanlEn
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Notes:
(1) (L) denotes long position.
2) The calculation is based on a total of 398,024,940 Shares in issue as at 31

December 2024, which consists of 191,752,560 Unlisted Shares and 206,272,380
H Shares. Figures are subject to rounding.

3) For the avoidance of doubt, both Unlisted Shares and H Shares are ordinary Shares
in the share capital of the Company, and are considered as one class of Shares.

(4) As at 31 December 2024, Mr. Lyu Yixiong holds 94.00% equity interest in Shanghai
Hongyin Investment Co., Ltd. (/B4 ENREAFRAF]) (‘Hongyin Investment”),
84.86% equity interest in Shanghai Nanyin Investment Co., Ltd. (E/&FEHEEE
fRA7R]) (“Nanyin Investment”), and the entire equity interest in Shanghai Kans
Enterprise Management Co., Ltd. (L8 RMEEEGRAR]) (“Shanghai Kans”)
and Shanghai Shengyan Business Management Centre (/& EAEKEIEH L)
(“Shanghai Shengyan”). Therefore, Mr. Lyu Yixiong is deemed to be interested in
the shares held by Hongyin Investment, Nanyin Investment, Shanghai Kans and
Shanghai Shengyan.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, to the knowledge
of the Board, none of the Directors, the Supervisors or chief
executive of the Company had any interests or short positions in
the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or
any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO) which were required to be (i) notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests and short positions which the Directors,
the Supervisors and chief executive of the Company were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); (ii) recorded in the
register kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO; or
(iii) notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code.

SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEME

Employee Share Ownership Plan

We have established an employee share ownership plan (‘ESOP”)
since 2016 to attract and retain the talents, to provide incentives that
align the interests of shareholders, the Company and employees, and
to facilitate the long-term development of the Company. The terms
of the ESOP are not subject to the provisions of Chapter 17 of the
Listing Rules as they do not involve the grant of options or new shares
by the Company after the Listing Date and all the Shares underlying
the ESOP have been issued and granted before the Listing Date. The
following is a summary of the principal terms of the ESOP.

As at 31 December 2024, all the Shares underlying the ESOP have
been issued and granted, and to the extent that there is any change
to the grants under the ESOP after the Listing, the Company will
comply with the applicable Listing Rules (including the requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules applicable to grants to
connected persons, if any).
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ESOP Platforms

There are three employee share ownership platforms (the “ESOP
Platforms”) for the ESOP, namely (i) Hongyin Investment, (i) Nanyin
Investment and (i) Shanghai Chengyin.

As at 31 December 2024, Hongyin Investment and Nanyin Investment
holds 27.14% and 15.30% equity interest in the Company,
respectively, and Shanghai Chengyin holds 5.00% equity interest in
Nanyin Investment.

Participants of the ESOP (the “ESOP Participants” and each an
“ESOP Participant”) shall indirectly hold equity interest in the
Company through holding shares of Hongyin Investment, Nanyin
Investment or Shanghai Chengyin transferred by Mr. Lyu Yixiong
pursuant to the ESOP.

Set out below is the shareholding structure of the ESOP platforms as
at 31 December 2024

° Hongyin Investment: Hongyin Investment is a limited liability
company incorporated under the laws of the PRC on 11
February 2015 and is an incentive platform for employees of
our Group who hold shares in Hongyin Investment. Hongyin
Investment is held by (i) Mr. Lyu Yixiong, our executive Director,
as to 94.00%, (i) Ms. Luo Yan (% 7%), our executive Director,
as to 1.67%. The remaining 1.33% and 3.00% equity interests
in Hongyin Investment are held by two employees of the Group
and three former employees of the Group, respectively.

° Nanyin Investment: Nanyin Investment is a limited liability
company incorporated in the PRC on 11 February 2015 and
is an incentive platform for employees of our Group who hold
shares in Nanyin Investment. Nanyin Investment is held by (i)
Mr. Lyu Yixiong, our executive Director, as to 84.86%, (i) Mr.
Feng Yifeng (5 —I&), our executive Director, as to 1.77%, (i)
Ms. Song Yang (R¥), our executive Director, as to 1.77%, (iv)
Mr. Li Tao (&), Ms. Shi Tenghua (K7€), our Supervisors, as
to 0.06% and 0.59%, respectively, and (v) Shanghai Chengyin,
another incentive platform, as to 5.00%. The remaining 2.87%,
2.07% and 1.00% equity interests in Nanyin Investment are
held by 13 employees of the Group, 3 former employees of
the Group, and Ms. Lyu Lichun (mE#4E), a sibling of Mr. Lyu
Yixiong, respectively.

ESEWE

EEFRKRITEITE

EERHEREEE-AXEEFRTE ([EEFRK
FTEIEE D) - BIO)ATENRE - (i) BN E K (i) &
JERIED o

HZE2024F 128318 AT ENEHOKRE D
BB AR ANGIH27.14% K 15.30% M4 © /&
ENRIE A m ENIR & H)5.00% I -

REBEREREFKGE - BESKTEN2EE ([
ERERESEHE ) AR EHARELLES
EWALENRE - BEMRE S LBR R - M
KRR EMRME -

HZE2024F 12 31 AR B MRAT 81 F & Mk
ZREHHNWT ¢

o  AIHIKRE HIHRER —RN2015%2 A
11AREPEEEFMEINERELA
B MRARBAMKEERGNAEER
BMmRE B E A o ALENHEE AR ()R MIRE
TEERRMBESLERFI4.00% : (i) B
WAITESBERLTFRA1.67% ° 4L
BEWET1.33%&3.00% D B4 E
EmEREERAEEA=FZAIEEREH -

o  HHRE X MHEER-KMN2015F2A
MAEREFMERIOERET AR - N
ERAFAEHNERERNNAEEES MR
BB A - MERERORMOMITES
BEMLEREF84.86% : (VRPN MITE
B IBEAEE1.77% (i) RPIERIT
BEERFLTHEB1.77%  (VERFNES
FEEAE  BEELZTHRIEE0.06% K&
0.59% : R(V)B—HEFa LEHENFAE
5.00% ° FERERIER T2.87% * 2.07% &
1.00% R EDFIBAEEIBEES - K&
E-fiEEREEHTCENRGKSE
WA -

Annual Report 2024 £E#% | 105



Report of the Board of Directors
EEEWE

° Shanghai Chengyin: Shanghai Chengyin is a limited liability
company incorporated in the PRC on 8 February 2021 and is an
incentive platform for employees of our Group who hold shares
in Shanghai Chengyin. Shanghai Chengyin is held by Mr. Lyu
Yixiong, our executive Director, as to 83.44%, and the remaining
14.19% and 2.37% equity interests in Shanghai Chengyin is held
by 12 employees of the Group and 2 former employees of the
Group.

The specific terms and conditions of the ESOP for each ESOP
Participant is subject to the agreement entered into between (i) the
relevant ESOP Platforms, (i) Mr. Lyu Yixiong and (iii) the relevant
ESOP Participants.

Shares and Share Price Granted under the ESOP

On 20 July 2016, respective agreements were entered into between
Hongyin Investment, Mr. Lyu Yixiong and the relevant ESOP
Participants, pursuant to which the relevant equity interest in Hongyin
Investment was transferred to eligible grantees in their capacity as
employees of the Group. The price per share granted to each ESOP
Participant under the ESOP is RMB1.00 and each ESOP Participant
shall pay the relevant price to Mr. Lyu Yixiong on the date of transfer.
The price per share was determined based on the registered share
capital per share of relevant ESOP Platforms. Depending on the
clauses of each agreement, some of the ESOP Participants are not
allowed to transfer or in any way dispose of the shares for a period of
four (4) or five (5) years commencing on the date when the registration
of the transfer of equity interest is completed. Between March 2021
and July 2022, respective agreements were entered into between
Nanyin Investment or Shanghai Chengyin (as the case may be), Mr.
Lyu Yixiong and the relevant ESOP Participants, pursuant to which the
relevant equity interest in Nanyin Investment or Shanghai Chengyin
was transferred to eligible grantees in their capacity as employees
of the Group. The price per share granted to each ESOP Participant
under the ESOP is RMB1.00 and each ESOP Participant shall pay the
relevant price to Mr. Lyu Yixiong on the date of transfer of the equity
interest. The price per share was determined based on the registered
share capital per share of relevant ESOP Platforms. Depending on the
clauses of each agreement, some of the ESOP Participants are not
allowed to transfer or in any way dispose of the shares for a period
of four (4) years commencing on 1 January 2021 or for a period of
two and a half (2.5) years or four (4) years commencing on 1 July
2022, respectively. Under the ESOP, there is no maximum entitlement
limitation for the ESOP Participants. All underlying shares under
the ESOP have been issued to ESOP Participants and there is no
provision under the ESOP and relevant agreements in respect of the
remaining life of the ESOP.
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Repurchase of Shares Granted

Under the following circumstances, Mr. Lyu Yixiong has the right to
purchase the shares transferred under the ESOP at the grant price of
RMB1.00 per share:

(i) the termination of the ESOP Participant’s employment
relationship with the Company or any of its subsidiaries for any
reasons during the share transfer restriction period (if any) as
specified in the agreements entered into between the relevant
ESOP Platforms, Mr. Lyu Yixiong and the relevant ESOP
Participants;

(i) the transfer, disposal, or pledge of the shares by the ESOP
Participant during the share transfer restriction period (if any)
as specified in the agreements entered into between the
relevant ESOP Platforms, Mr. Lyu Yixiong and the relevant
ESOP Participants without the approval of the relevant ESOP
Platforms; or

(i) any violation of law, breach of professional ethics, confidential
information leakage, corruption or other malpractices of the
ESOP Participant.

The RSU Scheme

The shareholders of the Company approved the adoption of the
RSU Scheme at the Second 2023 EGM held on 14 December 2023
(the “Adoption Date”) for the purpose of attracting new talents and
retaining employees whose contributions are important to the long-
term growth and success of the Group, recognising and rewarding
Employee Participants for their contributions to the Group, providing
Employee Participants with the opportunity to acquire proprietary
interests in the Company and encouraging Employee Participants to
further contribute to the Company and work towards enhancing the
value of the Company and its Shares for the benefit of the Company
and its Shareholders as a whole.
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Employee Participants

Employee Participants who may participate in the RSU Scheme
include any director (executive Directors or non-executive Directors
but does not include independent non-executive Directors), member
of the management team, senior management and current employee
of the Company or any of its subsidiaries (including any persons who
are granted Share Awards under the RSU Scheme as an inducement
to enter into employment contracts with these companies). The above
is subject to the Board’s consideration, in its sole discretion, that
the Employee Participants have contributed or will contribute to the
Group.

Maximum Number of RSUs

The total number of Shares which may be issued in respect of all
options and awards involving issue of new Shares that may be granted
under the RSU Scheme and any other share scheme(s) adopted by
the Company must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total number
of Shares in issue as at the Adoption Date, being 39,795,790 Shares
(the “Scheme Mandate Limit”, representing approximately 10% of
the total number of Shares of the Company in issue as at the date of
this annual report), unless otherwise permitted by the Listing Rules or
the Company obtains the approval of its Shareholders to refresh the
Scheme Mandate Limit.

Based on the Company’s estimates, the total number of new Shares
to be issued under the RSU Scheme by 31 December 2027 is
expected to be approximately 1% of the total number of Shares
issued as at the Adoption Date (and not more than 2%). The actual
grant of the RSU and the issuance of the underlying shares may vary
and will be reviewed by the Company’s Remuneration and Appraisal
Committee in accordance with its terms of reference in due course.
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Maximum Entitlement to Each Employee Participant

According to the RSU Scheme, there are no restrictions on the
maximum entitlement of Share Awards to be granted to an Employee
Participant (save for any requirements under the Listing Rules).

Where any grant of options or Share Awards to an Employee
Participant except for a Director (other than an independent non-
executive Director) or chief executive of the Company (or any of
their associates), would result in the Shares issued and to be issued
in respect of all options and share awards granted to such person
(excluding any options and Share Awards lapsed in accordance with
the terms of the RSU Scheme) in the 12-month period up to and
including the date of such grant representing in aggregate over 1% of
the total number of Shares in issue (the 1% individual limit), such grant
must be separately approved by Shareholders in general meeting with
such Employee Participant and his/her close associates (or associates
if the participant is a connected person) abstaining from voting.

Where any grant of Share Awards (excluding grant of options) to a
Director (other than an independent non-executive Director) or chief
executive of the Company (or any of their associates) would result in
the number of Shares issued and to be issued in respect of all awards
involving issue of new Shares already granted under the RSU Scheme
and any other share scheme(s) of the Company (excluding any awards
lapsed in accordance with the terms of the RSU Scheme or any other
share scheme(s) of the Company) to such person in the 12-month
period up to and including the date of such grant representing in
aggregate over 0.1% (or such other higher percentage as may from
time to time be specified by the Stock Exchange) of the total number
of Shares in issue as at the Date of Grant, such further grant of Share
Awards shall be subject to prior approval by the Shareholders (voting
by way of poll) in general meeting.
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Where any grant of options or Share Awards to a substantial
shareholder of the Company (or any of their respective associates)
would result in the number of Shares issued and to be issued in
respect of all options and awards involving issue of new Shares
already granted under the RSU Scheme and any other share
scheme(s) of the Company (excluding any awards lapsed in
accordance with the terms of the Scheme or any other share
scheme(s) of the Company) to such person in the 12-month period
up to and including the date of such grant representing in aggregate
over 0.1% (or such other higher percentage as may from time to time
be specified by the Stock Exchange) of the total number of Shares in
issue as at the Date of Grant, such further grant of Share Awards shall
be subject to prior approval by the Shareholders (voting by way of
poll) in general meeting.

Duration

Unless early termination of the RSU Scheme pursuant to the RSU
Scheme Rules, the RSU Scheme shall be valid and effective for the
Award Period (i.e. the period from the date of approval of the RSU
Scheme by the Shareholders to the Business Day immediately before
the expiry of the tenth (10th) anniversary of the date of approval of the
RSU Scheme by the Shareholders) (after which no further RSUs will be
granted or accepted), and thereafter for so long as there are any non-
vested RSUs granted and accepted hereunder prior to the expiration
of the RSU Scheme, in order to give effect to the vesting of such RSU
or otherwise as may be required in accordance with the provisions of
the RSU Scheme Rules.

As at the date of this report, the remaining life of the RSU Scheme is
approximately eight years and eight months.
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Vesting period

Save for the circumstances described below, the vesting period in
respect of any Share Award granted shall be no less than 12 months
from (and including) the Date of Grant. Share Awards granted to an
Employee Participant may be subject to a shorter vesting period in
the following circumstances at the sole discretion of the Remuneration
and Appraisal Committee: (i) grants of “make-whole” Share Awards
to new joiners to replace the share awards or options forfeited when
leaving their previous employers; (i) grants that are made in batches
during a year for administrative or compliance reasons, which include
Share Awards that should have been granted earlier if not for such
administrative or compliance reasons but end up having to wait for a
subsequent batch. In such case, the vesting period may be shorter
to reflect the time from which the Share Award would have been
granted; (i) grants with a mixed or accelerated vesting schedule
such as where the Share Awards may vest evenly over a period of 12
months, or where the Share Awards may vest by several batches with
the first batch vesting within 12 months of the Date of Grant and the
last batch vesting 12 months after the Date of Grant; (iv) grants with
performance-based vesting conditions provided in the RSU Scheme or
as specified in the Offer documentation in lieu of time-based vesting
criteria; and (v) grants with a total vesting and holding period of more
than 12 months.

Purchase price of RSUs

A Grantee to whom a RSU shall be granted under the RSU Scheme
is required to pay RMB1.00 (per RSU) for any grant or purchase
price to the Company to purchase each RSU underlying a Share
Award granted, unless otherwise determined by the Board at its sole
discretion or as required by applicable law. The purchase price of
RMB1.00 is determined with reference to the nominal value of the
Shares. Considering that the Employee Participants have contributed
or will contribute to the Group, the Board is of the view that the
nominal consideration of RMB1.00 (instead of any lower or higher
amount) to be paid by each Employee Participant for purchasing
each RSU is fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Company
and the Shareholders as a whole. The Board considers that such
arrangement aligns with the purpose of the RSU Scheme where the
Share Awards are intended to be granted to the Employee Participants
to reward their contributions to the Group.
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Performance targets and clawback mechanism

Vesting of Share Award shall be subject to the performance
targets, if any, to be satisfied by the Grantees as determined
by the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee from time to
time. The Remuneration and Appraisal Committee shall have the
authority, after the grant of any Share Award which is performance-
linked, to make fair and reasonable adjustments to the prescribed
performance targets during the vesting period if there is a change
in circumstances, provided that any such adjustments shall be less
onerous than the prescribed performance targets and are considered
fair and reasonable by the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee.
The performance targets may include the attainment of program
milestones and market capitalisation milestones by the Group, which
may vary among the Grantees. The Remuneration and Appraisal
Committee will conduct assessment from time to time by comparing
the performance with the pre-set targets to determine whether
such targets and the extents to which have been met. If, after the
assessment, the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee determines
that any prescribed performance targets have not been met, the
unvested Share Award shall lapse automatically. For the avoidance
of doubt, the performance targets are not applicable to independent
non-executive directors of the Company.

The RSU Scheme was considered and passed at the Second 2023
EGM of the Company. The Date of Grant of the RSU Scheme shall be
further determined by the Board. For details of the RSU Scheme of
the Company, please refer to the notice dated 23 November 2023 and
the circular and the announcement dated 24 November 2023 issued
by the Company.

Movements of RSUs under the RSU Scheme

The following table sets forth movements of RSUs under the RSU
Scheme during the Reporting Period.
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= ey
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Weighted
Number of ~ Number of Number of Number of average
RSUs RSUs  Number of RSUs  Number of RSUs  Closing price closing price
unvested granted RSUsvested  cancelled RSUs lapsed unvested of the Shares of the Shares
asat duringthe  duringthe  duringthe  during the asof immediately Fairvalue of  immediately
Category of Vesting  1January  Reporting  Reporting Reporting Reporting 31 December ~ beforethe  RSUsatthe  before the
Grantees Date of Grant Period 2024 Period Period Period Period 2024 Date of Grant Date of Grant  vesting date
Ro024% HENUF
1818 HE8h  BEBh  BEEA BEHM 128318 ZEEE
RGN Riif RN Bl P REEN SERY  RELAE  BEERG
RHERE  RAMRE REMRE  BAMRE  REMRR RHt  BHARG  RAMRE  HiETH
AEAER RILBH FESY  BR¥R  ENHE  EAEA EgA EYR REEMHR fbmE EBRNATE LGl
Employess 28 June 20241 - 0 51,800 43,0804 0 0 0 HK$41.25  HKS41.409 HK$41.25
[E8 20045672881 M5BT HU0BTY 412587
Employees 30 September 2024° A 0 31,116 23,960 0 0 0 HKS4070  HK$45.80° HK$40.70
& 202459 /3087 J070 4580870 407087
Note: PRRE -
1) Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 28 June 2024 for the 1) FERENRAERREMNFE - FL2HAARBH
details of such grant of RSUs. F2024F6 A28 M A ©
@) Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 30 September 2024 for ) FHARENRAERREMMFE  FL2HAARBH

the details of such grant of RSUs.

The RSUs granted to the Grantees were vested on the same date as the Date of
Grant.

The number of RSUs vested to the Grantees was the number of RSUs granted
deducting the applicable amount of tax.

The fair value of awards are calculated in accordance with the accounting standard
and policy adopted for preparing the Company’s financial statements, namely the
International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRSs”). The fair value of the RSUs
granted after the Listing are computed based on the Company’s Share price at the
Grant Date.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, among the above employees, none of
the grantees is (i) a Director, chief executive or substantial shareholder, or any of
their associates; (i) a participant who has been granted or is to be granted options
and awards in excess of the 1% individual limit under the Listing Rules; or (i) an
associated entity participant or service provider which has been granted and is to be
granted options and awards in excess of 0.1% of the issued shares in any 12-month
period.

The number of Shares available for grant under the RSU Scheme
as at 1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024 was 39,795,790 and
39,712,874, respectively. The number of Shares that were issued in

respect of RSUs granted under the RSU Scheme during the Reporting

Period divided by the weighted average number of Shares of the

relevant class in issue (excluding treasury shares) for the Reporting

Period was approximately 0.02%.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITION
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES
OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2024, so far is known to, or can be ascertained
after reasonable enquiry by the Directors, the following persons/
entities had an interest or short positions in the Shares and underlying
Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO, or are directly and indirectly interested in 5% or more of the
nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all
circumstances at general meetings of the Company (the interests in
Shares and/or short positions, if any, disclosed herein are in addition
to those disclosed in respect of the Directors, Supervisors and chief
executive of the Company):
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Approximate
percentage of
shareholding in the

Name of Unlisted Shares/ Approximate
Substantial Description of Number of H Shares percentage in
Shareholder Shares® Nature of Interest Shares!"  (as appropriate)? the Company®
13 LMD
H A% B4 49 A e A N/NIL
FERELTE 1% 1 i 3ot I RHEREY  Bot(EA)e WA E D e
Hongyin Investment Unlisted Shares Beneficial interest 90,000,000(L) 46.94% 22.61%
R E I EmR BafEn
H shares 18,000,000(L) 8.73% 4.52%
HI%
Nanyin Investment Unlisted Shares Beneficial interest 42,880,000(L) 22.36% 10.77%
MEHRE I Emk gl
H shares 18,000,000(L) 8.73% 4.52%
HAX
Notes Bt EE -
1) (L) denotes long position. (1) (LR -
©) The calculation is based on a total of 398,024,940 Shares in issue as at 31 ) %EA2024$12HS1 H B2 #1717 42 21398,024,940 % %

December 2024, which consists of 191,752,560 Unlisted Shares and 206,272,380
H Shares. Figures are subject to rounding.

3) For the avoidance of doubt, both Unlisted Shares and H Shares are ordinary Shares
in the share capital of the Company, and are considered as one class of Shares.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the Directors
were not aware of any other persons/entities (other than the Directors,
Supervisors and chief executive of the Company) who had interests
or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of
the SFO.

COMPETITION AND CONFLICT OF
INTERESTS

During the Reporting Period, save as disclosed in the Prospectus,
none of the Directors or Controlling Shareholders or any of their
respective associates has any interests in any business that competes
or may compete, directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group
or has any other conflict of interests with the Group.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE
OBLIGATIONS PURSUANT TO THE
LISTING RULES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Company does not have
any other disclosure obligations under Rules 13.20, 13.21 and 13.22
of the Listing Rules.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE WITH
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

No contract of significance (including contract of significance for the
provision of services) was entered into between the Company or its
subsidiaries and the Controlling Shareholders or any of its subsidiaries
during the year ended 31 December 2024.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2024 and as at the date of this annual report,
there were no treasury shares (as defined in the Listing Rules) held
by the Company. During the year ended 31 December 2024, there
was no purchase, sale or redemption of any listed securities of the
Company (including sale of treasury shares) by the Company or any of
its subsidiaries.

ESEWE

B EXHTIRBEES - 2024512 A318 &%
W TAHMBEBEETMEMAL, BE(ARAESE
EER TR TERABRIN) RARQ B D k8 3
R PHEEREBEZLFRPEKRIIEXVEE2 RS
D ERVE B R AR R R A e sUA B SR
BERBEEOIEICIEALARRBTENE
A SA R o

B RAEF R

RI|MESMA - BHEREEMAEEE)  BEEF
SIERR R BN S & B W (AT A A B S AT B
EASEERERIEERFNARBHHERLT
S B AR E A E A EMFEE R

EHRRARENGEKREST

BAFERAAFEEEIN  AARHERE LA
$13.20 * 13.21 R 13.22{§ B EMEME b =

BfE-

EIIER IR RANERE L

AR E) sk EH B A B B AR AR SR sk A T B R
AN ENE E2024F12 A31 B IEFE RN F
MEREH (BIERERENEREL) -

BE HENBEOAQRFNL
k5

MN2024F 12 A31B RN AFHRAH - NAF
WEFEEFRD (W ETHRATE) - REE
2024512 AB1 BILEE - AR A H A &
RAGEBE HEXEEARAEM LTH
(PRELEEFRG)

Annual Report 2024 &% | 115



Report of the Board of Directors
EEEWE

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the shares of the Company.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for the pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the PRC laws, which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to its existing Shareholders.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained
the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules at all time as of the
date of this report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to ensuring high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and
to enhance corporate value and accountability. The Company
has adopted the principles and code provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code on the Stock Exchange as the basis of the
Company’s corporate governance practices.

The Board is of the view that during the Reporting Period, the
Company has complied with all the applicable code provisions as set
out in the Corporate Governance Code, except for Code Provision
C.2.1 described in the Corporate Governance Report.

Details of the Group’s corporate governance practices can be found

in the Corporate Governance Report contained on pages 41 to 70 of
this annual report.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE

The Company has adopted the Model Code set out in Appendix
C8 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors and Supervisors.

The Board is pleased to confirm that, after making specific enquiries
with all Directors and Supervisors, all Directors and Supervisors have
fully complied with the standards required according to the Model
Code set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules during the year
ended 31 December 2024.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY

As a responsible corporation, the Group is committed to maintaining
the highest environmental and social standards to ensure sustainable
development of its business . In 2024, the Group was awarded the
“People’s Daily Green Consumer Brand High-quality Development
Innovation Case” (ARB#ZEHERESEEERAIFEN) from
People’s Daily, the “Most Valuable Consumer Company” (xEEE
AKHEAR]) from Zhitong Finance (B@Ef£F), a Chinese financial
media, and the “ESG Pioneer Award” (ESG#$%2%€) from Cailian
Press (B1Es#t), a Chinese financial media, which reflected our strong
sense of social responsibility. The Group has not noted any material
non-compliance with all relevant laws and regulations in relation
to its business including health and safety, workplace conditions,
employment, anti-corruption and the environment. The Group
understands that a better future depends on everyone’s participation
and contribution. The Group has encouraged employees, customers,
suppliers and other stakeholders to participate in environmental and
social activities which benefit the community as a whole. Further,
the Group has adopted policies, charters and code of conducts to
govern the environmental, social and governance (ESG) aspects of
our day-to-day operations, ranging from reducing energy and water
consumption caused by our operations, health and work safety,
and social contribution to environmental protection and corporate
governance. The Group endeavours to maintain the relationships
with its employees, suppliers and customers to ensure sustainable
development. For further details of the Group’s ESG policies and
performance, compliance with relevant laws and regulations and
relationship with its employees, suppliers and customers, please refer
to our standalone Environmental, Social and Governance Report.
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The Company’s Environmental, Social and Governance Report is
published in electronic form only at the same time on the websites of
the Company at www.chicmaxgroup.com under the section “Investor
Relations” and the Stock Exchange at www.hkexnews.hk. If you wish
to receive a printed copy of the Environmental, Social and Governance
Report, you may submit your request to the Hong Kong H Share
Registrar by post at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road,
Hong Kong.

KEY RELATIONSHIP WITH
STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognizes that various stakeholders including employees,
customers, suppliers and other other stakeholders are key to the
Group’s success. The Group strives to achieve corporate sustainability
through engaging, collaborating, and cultivating strong relationship
with them.

The Group believes that it is vital to attract, recruit and retain quality
employees. To maintain the quality, knowledge and skill levels of
the Group’s workforce, the Group provides employees with periodic
training, including introductory training for new employees, technical
training, professional and management training and health and safety
training. The Group believes that it maintains a good relationship with
its employees and the Group did not experience any significant labor
disputes or any difficulty in recruiting staff for its operations.

We strive to establish long-term, reliable and mutually beneficial
cooperative relationships with our suppliers. We make all-out efforts
to ensure that all suppliers deliver high-quality raw materials and that
they are on the same page with us in terms of providing high-quality
products to customers. We select suppliers in a prudent manner
and assess their performance based on factors, including but not
limited to quality, cost, delivery and services, in order to make sure
that their quality standards are in line with the Group’s requirements.
Meanwhile, we also encourage suppliers to improve environmental,
social and governance performance with us with a goal to grow and
develop together.

A customer complaint handling mechanism is in place to receive,
analyse and study complaints and make recommendations on
remedies with the aim of improving service quality. The Group is in
good relationships with its employees, suppliers and customers and
conducts a fair and strict appraisal of its suppliers on an annual basis.
For details of an account of the Company’s key relationships with its
employees, customers, suppliers and others that have a significant
impact on the Company is set out in the separate Environmental,
Social and Governance Report.
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Report of the Board of Directors

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Company has not entered
into any equity-linked agreement during the year ended 31 December
2024.

MATERIAL LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Group was not involved in any material legal proceeding during
the year ended 31 December 2024.

LOAN AND GUARANTEE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, during the year ended 31
December 2024, the Group had not made any loan or provided any
guarantee for loan, directly or indirectly, to the Directors, Supervisors,
senior management of the Company, the Controlling Shareholders or
their respective connected persons.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE
OF THE INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company confirmed that it had received the annual confirmation
of independence from each of the independent non-executive
Directors in compliance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company is of the view that the independent non-executive Directors
remain independent during the year ended 31 December 2024 in
accordance with the relevant requirements of Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The AGM will be held on 6 May 2025. Shareholders should refer to
details regarding the AGM in the circular of the Company dated 10
April 2025 and the notice of meeting and form of proxy accompanying
thereto.

ESEWE

PR 2 155 5%

BAFIRATIFEEIN  NARIRE £2024F 12
318 I FEWERT T AR 75 o

B ARRETRR

HZE2024F12A31HIFE  AEBEBRES X
TR EAEEFR -

BERNER

BRAGFRETHETESEIN - BIE2024F12 A31HLE
FE AEEBERAES  EF - AR2AESRE
BE - ERRRIEES 8OEEANTREEM
EXRUMHEEREE R L A ER -

B IFHITES 2B IEHER

RAREREEESE LIENTESIRBLETR
AIF313KMEBIEMRBEIMNFEERE © R
REBEEE N TEEREE20245F12 A31H
IEFEHFE EMRBIEIASEMIISEZHEE
ko AARABBIM

BEEEAE

AREAF RGN 2025F5 A6 H 81T - lREfE
2 KN R HEAE2025F4 510 B AR K M HEE
e e RRMMRRZTREHEBRRBEKR

& -

Annual Report 2024 &% | 119



Report of the Board of Directors
EEEWE

CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF
MEMBERS

To determine the eligibility of the Shareholders to attend and vote
at the AGM to be held on 6 May 2025, the register of members will
be closed from Tuesday, 29 April 2025 to Tuesday, 6 May 2025,
both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be
effected. In order to be entitled to attend and vote at the AGM, all
transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged with the Hong Kong H Share Registrar, Tricor Investor Services
Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong
Kong, for registration before 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 28 April 2025.
The record date for determining the eligibility of Shareholders who are
entitled to attend and vote at the AGM is Tuesday, 6 May 2025.

On the assumption that the resolution for declaring the final dividend
is duly passed at the AGM, the register of members will be closed
from Monday, 12 May 2025 to Wednesday, 14 May 2025 both days
inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be effected. In
order to qualify for entitlement to the final dividend, all transfer forms
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with
the Company’s H Share registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited,
at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong (for
holders of H shares) before 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 9 May 2025. The
record date for determining the entitlement to the final dividend is
Wednesday, 14 May 2025.

AUDITORS

There has been no change in auditors since the Listing Date. A
resolution to re-appoint the retiring auditors, Ernst & Young, is to be
proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

DONATION

Approximately RMB4.5 million of charitable or other donations were
made by the Group during the year ended 31 December 2024.
For further details, please refer to the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report.
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Report of the Board of Directors

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

Saved as disclosed in this report, there is no other important event
affecting the Group since 31 December 2024 and up to the date of
this report.

Best regards,

Lyu Yixiong

Chairman of the Board, Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer
EEERtumBROERAR

Shanghai Chicmax Cosmetic Co., Ltd.

Shanghai, the PRC
20 March 2025
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Report of the Supervisory Committee

BEEE

HRE

The supervisory committee of Shanghai Chicmax Cosmetic Co., Ltd.

(the “Supervisory Committee”) exercises its duties independently, with

a dedicated and diligent attitude,

in accordance with the Company

Law of the PRC, the Articles of Association, the Rules of Procedures

of the Supervisory Committee and relevant laws and regulations. From

the perspective of safeguarding the interests of the Company and

the rights and interests of shareholders, the Supervisory Committee

performs its supervisory duties earnestly to promote the further

improvement of the corporate governance structure of the Company.

1.

CONSIDERATION BY THE
SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE IN 2024

On 21 March 2024, the Company held the eighth meeting of
the First Session of the Supervisory Committee, at which the
“Proposal on the Work Report of the Supervisory Committee
in 2023”,
Governance Report”,

“Proposal on the 2023 Environmental, Social and

“Proposal on 2023 Final Financial Report

» o«

and 2024 Financial Budget Report”, “Proposal on Election of the

Secondary Session of the Supervisory Committee”, “Proposal
on Supervisors Remuneration”, “Proposal on the Annual Profit
Distribution in 2023” and “Proposal on the Re-appointment of

Accounting Firm” were considered and approved.

On 30 May 2024, the Company held the first meeting of the
Second Session of the Supervisory Committee, at which the
“Proposal on Election of the Chairman of the Second Session of
the Supervisory Committee” was considered and approved.

On 22 August 2024, the Company held the second meeting
of the Second Session of the Supervisory Committee, at
which the “Proposal on the Unaudited Combined Financial
Statements, Results Announcement and Interim Report of the
Group for the Six Months Ended 30 June 2024”, “Proposal on
the Amendments to the Rules of Procedures of the Supervisory
Ltd.” and
“Proposal on Interim Profit Distribution in 2024” were considered

Committee of Shanghai Chicmax Cosmetic Co.,

and approved.
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2.

Report of the Supervisory Committee

LEGAL COMPLIANCE OF THE
COMPANY IN 2024

The Supervisory Committee of the Company performed its
duties and responsibilities, attended the Board meetings and
general meetings of the Company, and supervised the regulated
operation, production and operation, financial position and the
performance of duties by the Directors and senior management
of the Company, in accordance with the laws and regulations
such as the Company Law of the PRC and the corporate
systems such as the Articles of Association and the Rules of
Procedures of the Supervisory Committee in 2024.

The Supervisory Committee is of the view that the Board of
the Company is well operated, makes reasonable decisions
and follows lawful procedures, and earnestly implements the
resolutions of the general meeting, and there is no violation of
laws, regulations or the Articles of Association or act against the
interests of the Company and its shareholders by the Directors
and senior management of the Company in the performance of
their duties for the Company. The Company’s financial operation
is regular with complete systems. The Company has established
a relatively sound internal control system in compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations and the Articles of Association,
and there is no any illegal or non-compliant act.

WORK PLAN OF SUPERVISORY
COMMITTEE FOR 2025

In 2025, the Supervisory Committee will continue to exercise due
diligence in accordance with the relevant laws and regulations
and the work plan is as follows:

(1)  The Supervisory Committee will continue to strengthen its
supervisory functions and perform its duties earnestly, hold
regular meetings of the Supervisory Committee and attend
the Board meetings and general meetings of the Company
in accordance with the law, supervise the legality of various
decision-making procedures, supervise the Board and
senior management in accordance with the law, promote
the further improvement of the corporate governance
structure of the Company, prevent acts against the
interests of the Company, protect the legitimate interests
of the Company and all shareholders, and strive to
improve the standard of corporate governance and regular
operation.
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Report of the Supervisory Committee

EEE
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The Supervisory Committee will continue to focus on
the risk management of the Company, monitor the legal
compliance of the Company, and actively supervise
the construction and effective operation of the internal
management control system to effectively reduce
operational risks and improve operational efficiency.

The Supervisory Committee will examine the financial
position of the Company and focus on significant financial
matters, such as the preparation and disclosure of financial
reports and the application of accounting standards, to
continuously deepen its supervision on the Company’s
financial operation.

The Supervisory Committee will further enhance the
ability of the Supervisory Committee to perform its
duties and strengthen its knowledge of various laws and
regulations, corporate governance, financial and internal
control management to better protect the interests of the
Company and all Shareholders.

Best regards,

Li Tao

Chairman of the Supervisory Committee
EeEEtHmBROERATR
Shanghai Chicmax Cosmetic Co., Ltd.

Shanghai, the PRC
20 March 2025
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Independent auditor’s report

e

AR E S TS &

Ernst & Young K EETEN RIS Tel & 5%: +852 2846 9888
27/F, One Taikoo Place B BRI EE 979 5 Fax {8E: +852 2868 4432
§* 979 King's Road K —Z 07 12 ey.com
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong
Independent auditor’s report B ZEERE

To the shareholders of Shanghai Chicmax Cosmetic Co., Ltd.
(Established in the People’s Republic of China with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Shanghai
Chicmax Cosmetic Co., Ltd. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) set out on pages 136 to 260, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.
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Independent auditor’s report
PRV % GRS

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) as issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter
below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of
our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address
the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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Key audit matters (Continued)

Key audit matter

BRETSER

Independent auditor’s report
B iz BN

BARETSEIR ()

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
HMMET AR IR R ETT SR

Loss allowance for expected credit losses on trade receivables

B EUFIRR B RRE

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of trade
receivables amounted to RMB424,652,000 and the
corresponding loss allowance for trade receivables for
the year then ended amounted to RMB14,438,000, which
were material to the consolidated financial statements.
R2024F12A31H - ESRKRBEREERARK
424,652,000TT R EEZ B IFFENE 5 EWFIAE B E
BEEAARY14,438,0007T * ZEHBEHESENGEY
BHREMEEERK -

Under IFRS 9, the loss allowance for trade receivables is
based on expected credit loss (‘ECL”") approach.
BHRWFIEEEEFERREERYEREENEIFRTR
EMEHEEEE ([TEHEEEE]) AR -

In developing the loss allowance, the ECL rates of trade
receivables assessed individually are determined based
on corresponding external default data of the customers,
their repayment and default histories and on-going
business relationship with them by the management. For
trade receivables assessed collectively, the ECL rates are
determined based on historical credit losses experienced.
The loss rates are then adjusted to reflect current and
forward-looking information such as macroeconomic
factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle the
receivables.
RETEEBEEGN - ERFENE S RWHIEEBREEER
ETHERBREFPHBRIIMENEE - RENERIE
HELANBRFEENHEEBHEMNET - HEATENE
SREYGRIENS - BAREEEBEXDRBANGEEBEMNE
Eo BREREESERRAE  URMEFRATIEEER - 1
FEEPENERFEE NN EBKBERE -

Our procedures in relation to assessment of ECLs of trade
and bills receivables included:

B E P REKEIE KRR E BN TE R EE BRETH
B :

- Discussing with the management about the credit
policy of the Group and assessing the inherent
risk of material misstatement by considering the
degree of estimation uncertainty and level of other
inherent risk factors involved in the loss allowance
estimation such as subjectivity;
HEEBENWHESRENEERE - WBBERMFTH
NHEE MR E KB ERE T LA E MR
& (PlanEE 1) fKF - FHAERERRAB A
R

- Understanding and evaluating management’s
internal controls and assessment processes of
estimating ECL allowance for trade receivables;
TREMEERBHMGAZHRUKRENEREES
BB R B IE HI KRk AR

- Evaluating the basis the management used to
determine different credit risk portfolios;
FEEEEAREETREERRESHELE
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Key audit matters (Continued)

Key audit matter

BRETSER

BARREITSER (&

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BN F I REERRETSE

Loss allowance for expected credit losses on trade receivables (Continued)

B S RUFSIRRAIEERREE (&

The estimation of relevant ECL involves significant
judgement and subjective assumptions of the management
of the Group such as the assessment of the correlation
among historical observed default rates and forecast
economic conditions. As a result, we identified the
assessment of provision of trade receivables of the Group
as a key audit matter.
HENTEREEFENAE YR EREEIRENERHE X
FERF (Pl B EBEGE LR LI BA R < FH
REETERIE) - it - BRPBERENE 5 EYEIE
BEBOEET REREEE -

Details are set out in note 2.4, note 3 and note 22 to the
consolidated financial statements for related disclosures.
HEEENFBEN G B HREWE2.4 - WE3 KW
22 °

Analysing and testing the trade receivables ageing
profiles adopted in the collective assessment;

DA OB SR BB E Tk P ER A O B 5 JE M R T BR i T
D

Evaluating management’s judgements involved
in the determination of loss allowance of trade
receivables, including the historical experience and
forward-looking adjustments;
FHMEEIRERNHETE SR FUEEBRREER S kA
B BREELERERAEENFEE

Assessing the related parameters used by the
Group in ECL estimation by comparing with the
underlying historical and external data;
BB E E RIMNDEBETHE - MR EEE
TR EE BB A RE2 8

Evaluating the outcome of prior year’'s ECL
allowance by testing, on a sample basis, the
subsequent settlement of trade receivables by
checking to relevant bank receipt records;

BRmE RN RITUIRRE A E S RIEGIAER
BEAEEBER M —FENEREEEEAEN
R

Reviewing the related disclosures in the notes to
the consolidated financial statements.

BEGRE VMR TP BRI E -
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Key audit matters (Continued)

Key audit matter

BRETSER

Independent auditor’s report
B iz BN

BARETSEIR ()

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BN F I REERRETSE

Provision for impairment of inventories

7 A a1

As at 31 December 2024,
inventories was RMB690,639,000 and the corresponding

the carrying amount of

provision for inventories for the year then ended
amounted to RMB42,760,000, which were material to the
consolidated financial statements.

2024 F 12 A 31 H, FEREERAR® 690,639,000
TREBEZRILFENTFEEERERARKE 42,760,000
T, ZEBERHIRAVBREAMEBERX

Significant judgement is required in assessing the
appropriate level of the provision for slow-moving
and/or obsolete inventory. Such judgements include
management’s expectations of forecast inventory demand,
product expiry dates and plans to dispose of inventories
that are close to expiry. As a result, we identified the
provision for slow-moving and obsolete inventories as a
key audit matter.

RiMEEEEER  SREFERENBEZKTER - HiED
BEAHE - ARG BEEEBHEANFTEFRNEY &
mEE REERITISNFENEE o Bt - BB
ZERREFERERT ABARENSE -

Details are set out in note 2.4, note 3 and note 21 to the
consolidated financial statements for related disclosures.
HERENFBEHN G BEHRENT2.4 « W73 R
21 ¢

Our procedures in relation to assessment of provision of

inventories included:

B FE B EETHIEF B

- Understanding and evaluating management’s
internal controls and assessment processes of
provision for inventories;
TR R AR E TR B A A BRAE ) R A
e

ERENFEE

- Obtaining the calculation of the provision for
inventories prepared by the management of the
Group, and evaluating the ageing information of
inventories used in the calculation by checking
relevant supporting documents;
ERESEERERENTERBIER B8RS
HEZEAX A ERERANTFERRES

- Comparing the estimated selling prices of
inventories in the calculation to their recent or
subsequent selling price, on a sample basis, by
checking invoices;

BRRERE - B ERPNEFEME
BBEEEETHRLE

- Assessing the provision amount by recalculating the
net realizes value on a sample basis independently,
and comparing it with the cost of inventories of the

Group; and
REBMERENGTE R EE  WREERENT
ERAAELER - S EREeE &

- Reviewing the related disclosures in the notes to
the consolidated financial statements.

BERE VMR TP ERERE -
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Key audit matters (Continued)

Key audit matter

BRETSER

BAS2ESTSEIR ()

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BN F I REERRETSE

Recognition of deferred tax assets

BT B E AR

As at 31 December 2024, the balance of deferred tax
assets amounted to RMB118,934,000, which was material
to the consolidated financial statements.

2024 12HA31H BEMBHREERERARE
118,934,0007T * ZBFEH G SV BHRERMEEERX -

The deferred tax assets are recognizes to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profits would be available
against which the deductible temporary differences and
tax losses can be utilize. The process of estimating the
amount and timing of future taxable profits is complex and
involves estimates and judgements that would be affected
by future operations, tax regulations, market or economic
conditions. As a result, we identified the recognition of
deferred tax assets as a key audit matter.

IRAE IR & 2E ) W RR LA S B FE ER TN AT AR DA R SR AT RS
R BIARBIERR o h5HR R ERT TR BRI
BERIZEEME - PRI GZIRRLE  BUCER - ™
5 R AEIR SR S B B i ET A HIEr o Ett - FRAPIIGIRER K
BENEIRT RERENEE -

Details are set out in note 2.4, note 3 and note 20 to the
consolidated financial statements for related disclosures.
HEEENFBEN G B HREWNE2.4 - WE3 R
20 °

Our procedures in relation to assessment the recognition
of deferred tax assets included:
BT SR EENERETOIEF B

- Understanding and evaluating management’s
internal controls and assessment processes of
recognition of deferred tax assets;

TR EERBE N R ERIEENIEE ER
AR

- Discussing with the management about the
business plans of the Group approved by those
charged with governance;
HERBIRBEEEEALENEEREERTE

- Obtaining the future profit forecasts prepared by
the management, evaluating the appropriateness of
the parameters used in the forecasts by comparing
with the historical information of the Group and the

industry;
BISERBEROAREFEER  BiBEEEE R
ENELESHITLER  FEEAFERAN2HES

B
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Independent auditor’s report
B iz BN

Key audit matters (Continued) BRI SIE (&)

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BRETSER BN F I REERRETSE

Recognition of deferred tax assets (Continued)

BT B ER R ()

- Performing sensitivity analysis of the parameters

used in the forecasts;
TR R A EETRURIED T

- Obtaining the calculation of the deferred tax assets
prepared by the management, recalculating the
deferred tax assets and comparing results; and
ERERERENBEMSHEETEER  EFAH
RIEFTISHEET L BAER » &

- Reviewing the related disclosures in the notes to
the consolidated financial statements.

EERAMBHRRM TP HMEREIKE -
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Independent auditor’s report
PRV % GRS

Other information included in the

Annual Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information included
in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the
consolidated financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the
IASB and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in

discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit
of the consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as
a body, in accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Independent auditor’s report
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Independent auditor’s report
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit
of the consolidated financial statements
(Continued)

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’'s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

° Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities
or business units within the Group as a basis for forming an
opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the audit
work performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

134 | Shanghai Chicmax Cosmetic Co., Ltd. & (xR H AR A

HEEEMERASTERRESRE RIEH
SR RERRENE I -

REERAKECZGEERTREF
i o RIBAERNBIIER  BER
AEEREERENEBNERNTEE
o MR ESRHEEENIFEKLE R
NEEERERE - MREMRBRAFEEX
THEEM - BV EEZBEHRSPIRSE
EREIBEAVBHRRPNEBEBE -
BEEAKETRE  REFTHMNER -
ﬁ1FﬁE’\J%§Eﬁ%%EAE§V§KEW$E¢EHHP)’T
BEERE - AW - RERFEKB

ﬁu%@(ﬁ%@TﬁE SELE -

FEGAMBHREANBRIZH TN - R
MAR  BREEER - UREEMBER
REBEAAREREEARSHRER -

FAEITHITEESES  UREEERER
FEBBEMNNVBERERTR - BEDN

BiHRE  FRLARABEAMBRERE
SMEE - ZMEERS  EBELEHR
SEEFPTETHE TE - HAIAES
BRAEZREME -



Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit
of the consolidated financial statements
(Continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Shun Lun Wai (practising certificate number:
P06860).

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong
20 March 2025

Independent auditor’s report
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

meEmR

Year ended 31 December 2024
B2 2024F 12 31 HILFE

2024 2023
2024 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt s AR®F T ARBFIT
Revenue WA 5 6,792,518 4,190,727
Cost of sales SHERAR (1,683,131) (1,171,275)
Gross profit EA 5,109,387 3,019,452
Other income and gains Eqth U A R e as 6 251,163 156,496
Selling and distribution expenses HERDIHEAS (3,947,293) (2,240,332)
Administrative expenses THRAX (242,764) (209,609)
Research and development costs EE K AR (179,867) (125,814)
Impairment losses on financial assets, net CREERBEEBEFR (6,969) 15,252
Other expenses HfAx (49,002) (34,000)
Finance costs BETE R (6,072) (16,227)
Share of profits and losses of: FEMRLAT &5 B F) M &1
Joint ventures aaE (3,889) (4,652)
Associates N 2,276 (1,353)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX R A R 7 926,970 559,213
Income tax expense SR 11 (123,673) (97,550)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FRFE 803,297 461,663
Attributable to: A& SR -
Owners of the parent NEEA A 781,205 461,104
Non-controlling interests FEIE N M= 22,092 559
803,297 461,663
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE BRARERERBEA
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF FElL B R EF
THE PARENT
Basic and diluted EARKREE
— For profit for the year — ERFIHE 13 RMB1.96 RMB1.16
ARM1.96T ARB1.167T
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

ﬁl‘l‘l

SEHEW@mE

N
Year ended 31 December 2024
/E20244F 12 531 HIFFE
2024 2023
2024 % 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT
Profit for the year FRFHE 803,297 461,663
Other comprehensive Loss Hith 2 mEEE
Other comprehensive loss that may be reclassified HRHE M AIEET HEEEZHH
to profit or loss in subsequent periods: HthzmEE
Exchange differences on translation of foreign MEBINETSHE X =5
operations (6,902) (4,138)
Net other comprehensive loss that REZHEREFIOBEZEEN
may be reclassified to profit or Hit 2 EE 8T
loss in subsequent periods (6,902) (4,138)
Total comprehensive income for the year FAZTHEKRALLE 796,395 457,525
Attributable to: AT & 5 FEqh -
Owners of the parent [SYNSIEZSPN 774,303 456,966
Non-controlling interests FEIE PR HE 2 22,092 559
796,395 457,525
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

Ra AR R

31 December 2024
20244F 12 A31H

2024 2023
2024% 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
ihg=s AR®F T ARBET T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment W - R MR E 14 674,078 594,412
Investment properties wEME 15 6,829 8,065
Prepayments, other receivables and other assets ~ FaftFIE - Hth Rl 3008 &
HiEE 23 76,646 18,950
Right-of-use assets EREEE 16 125,663 131,171
Other intangible assets HihEmpEE 17 13,511 16,860
Investments in joint ventures NEEDEMNIRE 18 429 2,698
Investments in associates REE RN R NIRE 19 109,667 64,184
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  EAFEFFABZNEREE 24 - 101,230
Deferred tax assets B IEE E 20 118,934 112,941
Total non-current assets FERBEELE 1,125,757 1,050,511
CURRENT ASSETS RENEE
Inventories T8 21 690,639 510,757
Trade and bills receivables Z 5 EWGRIE R ER R T 22 425,557 321,246
Prepayments, other receivables and other assets ~ FEftFIE « E U IE K
Hin &&= 23 650,871 331,812
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss HAFEFABENERMEE 24 244,324 216,812
Cash and cash equivalents HekBeZEEY 25 459,449 697,689
Total current assets MENEERE 2,470,840 2,078,316
CURRENT LIABILITIES nBERE
Trade payables B 5N RIE 26 638,407 518,613
Other payables and accruals H e 58 & ERT & A 27 472,143 266,824
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings T ERIT R EMIER 28 60,080 100,008
Lease liabilities HEAE 16 42,143 29,763
Tax payable FERTRLIE 129,190 136,198
Total current liabilities mEBERE 1,341,963 1,051,406
NET CURRENT ASSETS MENE EIFE 1,128,877 1,026,910
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES BEERRBEE 2,254,634 2,077,421
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

ARe MR

31 December 2024

2024F 1231 H
2024 2023
2024 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
ihg=s AR®T T ARBET T
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREBER
Lease liabilities HEasE 16 9,448 35,803
Other payables Hopth FE A 38 27 10,516 12,391
Total non-current liabilities EmE B EERE 19,964 48,194
Net assets BEFE 2,234,670 2,029,227
EQUITY e
Equity attributable to owners of the parent BATEEAELER
Share capital [N 29 398,025 397,958
Reserves ] 31 1,793,163 1,611,078
2,191,188 2,009,036
Non-controlling interests FEIE IR = 43,482 20,191
Total equity =B RE 2,234,670 2,029,227

Lyu Yixiong &=

Feng Yifeng 5 —I%

Director &%

Director %
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

GARBEBHE

Year ended 31 December 2024
B2 2024F 12 31 HILFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BAAREARL
Share-based Statutory  Exchange Non-
Share Share  payment Capital reserve  fluctuation  Retained controlling Total
capital  premium*  reseve*  reserve’ funds*  reserve’ profits* Total interests equity
Wkt
AEEN EE HE
Re  RiER AREE  ENER GBES  REER  REAR Gt FBRER  EREE
RMB'000  RMB'OO0  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'OO0  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETT  ARMTR  ARETT ARMTR ARETR ARMTR  ARETr  ARMTR  ARETR  ARETR
(note 29)  (note 29) (note 31)  (note31)  (note 31)
(Wio)  (Kitoe) (Wes1) (W) (Wisn)
At1 January 2023 H0NE1A1A 396,958 172,886 194,083 119,679 40,207 (7,707 188980 1,705,086 1,559 1,706,645
Proft for the year EpflE - - - - - - 1104 461104 559 461,663
Other comprehensive loss for the year: ERif2EEE:
Exchange differences reated to foreign operations 81 £ RAY
EXZE = = - - - (4138) - (4.138) - (4.138)
Total comprehensive incomef{oss) for the year  ERAENA /
(68) 4% - - - - - (4138) 461,104 456966 559 457,525
Contibution flom - non-controling shereholders — FERERLE - - - - - - - - 18,780 18,780
Acquisiton of non-controling nterests WEsnhEs - - - 0 - - - 0 (107) -
Final 2022 diidend declared SRMN0ERSRE - - - - - - (99489 (99489) - (99489)
nterim 2023 diicend NBEERS - : - - - - s %) ]
Issuance of ordinary shares relafing to il public ~ ZTEERAFEEEE
offering (note 29) TE AR () 100 20m - - 5 - - oam - am
Share ssue expenses RivERR - (1,304) - - - - - (139 - (1%
Equity-settled share-based compensation WEREERRBERY
i - - 4975 - - - - 4,975 - 4,975
Transfer fom retained profts BREfIEER - - - - 488 - (M8 - - -
At 31 December 2023 H023E12731 B 397,958 792,269 199,058 120,386 74,695 (11,845 436,515 2,009,036 20,191 2,029,221
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

MAEmEER

Year ended 31 December 2024

B FE2024F 12431 HiIFFZ
Attributable to owners of the parent
BATREARL
Share-based Stautory  Exchange Non-
Share Share payment Capital reseve  fluctuation  Retained controling Total
captal  premum™  resenve”  resenve” funas® reserve” profits” Totdl  interests equiy
Wit
BRI iy SE
Re  RiER  RREE  EER GBS RIRE  REME g AmERER  EASE
RMBOOO ~ RMB'0O0  RMB'0O0  RWB0O0  RMBOOD  RMBO00  RMB'0O0  RMB'0OO0  RMBOO0  RMBIO
ARETT  ARETR  ARETT  ARETT  ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETR
(ote29)  {note 29) (note81)  [note81)  (note 31)
(o) (o) (fs)  (Was) (W)
At1 January 2024 H0UE1B1R 397,98 792,269 199,058 120,386 74,69 (11,845 436515 2,009,036 0,191 2,029,227
Proft for the year EnflE - - - - - - TBI5 RIS 22002 803,297
Other comprehensive income for the year: EREf2ENA:
Exchange differences reated to foreign operations 81 £ AR
EXZE - - - - - (6,902) - (6,902) - (6,902)
Total comprehensive incomef{oss) for the year  ERAENA /
(68) 4% - - - - - (6902 781205 TIA33 22002 796,395
Controuton from non-controling Shareholders FERRRIE - - - - - - - - 1840 18490
Acquision of non-controling nterests WEsnhEs - - - (1719 - - - A T 1]
Final 2023 divicend declared BRA0RERERE - - - - - - (98468 (298468 - (298468
Inteim 2024 dhvidend NUEREHE - - - - - - EY (851 - 0%
Disposal of a subsidiary HENBAR - - - - - - - - (464) (464)
Dividends paid to non-controling shareholders FRTHIRRRORE - - - - - - - - (105000 (10,500
Equity-settled share-based compensation IEREERNAERY
i 67 - 6482 - - - - 6549 - 6549
Transfer fiom retained profts BREfIEER - - - - T - (e - - -
At 31 December 2024 ROMERASA 605 TR A550  18ETS 1989 (874 BGEY 2191188 44 2284670

*

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of RMB1,793,163,000

(2023: RMB1,611,078,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position.

ZERBRPERGAMBRRARTNGEER - AA

R#1,793,163,0007T (20234 : AR¥1,611,078,000
JT) e
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

n‘/-.r\AIE:ﬁ/HLE%

Year ended 31 December 2024
/22024 4F 12 431 HILFE

2024 2023
2024 % 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
ks AR¥TT ARETFT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES KESEEBRER
Profit before tax B B B A 926,970 559,213
Adjustments for: AT BIEELFHE -
Finance costs B FE AR AR 6,072 16,227
Inventory impairment and scrap FERERRE 7 38,740 26,708
Impairment losses of provision on financial assets, % Bl & &= B & REE 1B F 58
net 7 6,969 (15,252)
Share of profits and losses of joint ventures and EIEEEEREE AT
associates MK E1E 1,613 6,005
Interest income B U A 6 (6,128) (9,365)
Depreciation of investment properties REMESTE 1,236 1,221
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment M - BEREETE 7 63,737 67,367
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FAEEENE 7 38,201 29,275
Amortisation of intangible assets B EESH 2,774 2,737
(Gains)/loss on disposal of items of property, Hj’imi BE K& BIEE
plant and equipment =),/ B8 (160) 60
Gains on disposal of non-controlling interests .‘:HE#H A% #EE 2 A Uk 2 (464) -
Loss on disposal of associates HEBE N NEIER 2,600 -
Fair value gain on financial assets at fair value BEAFERFABEN SR
through profit or loss BEAFERE 7 (19,302) (16,121)
Equity-settled share-based compensation expense AR E D AER
H R X 7 6,549 4,975
1,069,407 673,050
Increase in inventories FEIEM (218,622) (19,352)
(Increase)/decrease in trade and bills receivables = 5 e IE & B E %
(&), m (111,114) 70,437
Increase in prepayments, other receivables and TERTRIE - HALEWEIE K&
other assets HmEEEM (322,669) (138,322)
Increase in pledged deposits & RTF R N - 11,500
Increase in trade payables B 2 e 3R N 119,794 94,463
Increase in other payables and accruals E At T 5R1E K B AT B
0 138,885 50,158
Cash generated from operations KERMSIRE 675,681 741,934
Interest received BUF & 6,128 9,365
Income tax paid ERATER (134,857) (5,135)
Net cash flows generated from operating activities #8& /B FT1SIH & F5 546,952 746,164

142 | Shanghai Chicmax Cosmetic Co., Ltd. /& (b ir R AR AR



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

mAaBTRER

Year ended 31 December 2024

B R 2024F 1231 HILFZ
2024 2023
2024 2023%F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5E ARETT ARETT
CASH FLOWS USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES ®R&EEEMABESK
Purchases of items of property, plant and BEMXE  BENI&HEIEE
equipment (233,368) (87,834)
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, plant &Y% - BERZREER
and equipment P58 8,787 3,568
Additions to other intangible assets RNEHMEREE (9,207) (640)
Proceeds from disposal of items of other intangible H&HhER EEEB 5
assets K8 1,161 431
Proceeds from disposal of associates HEB &N E TS HIE 7,255 460
Disposals of subsidiaries HEHE AR 901 -
Purchase of shareholdings in joint ventures and BEAECERBE AT
associates & 4 (55,584) (71,550)
Purchase of financial assets at fair value through BB IR QA FEFT ABZFN
profit or loss ERMEE (296,748) (301,921)
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at fair ~ HEIRA FET ABHD
value through profit or loss T REESHRE 389,769 -
Net cash flows used in investing activities WEEEMARESRFE (187,034) (457,486)
CASH FLOWS USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES REEEATABE SR
New bank loans FHEIRITER 220,000 354,220
Repayment of bank loans EERITER (259,928) (904,579)
Capital contribution from non-controlling JEERR AR R A
shareholders 18,450 18,780
Acquisition of non-controlling interests W FEPE AR A 2 (8,000) -
Proceeds from issuance of shares BITRAD FT1S3RIE - 21,777
Share issue expenses 81T X = (4,185)
Disposal of non-controlling interests I SR IR A - 300
Principal portion of lease payments HERNRESH D (38,082) (28,215)
Dividend paid ERRE (522,042) (179,081)
Interest paid EANESS (6,072) (16,227)
Net cash flows used in from financing activities BEEBFT AR MR (595,674) (737,210)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH RERBESEEWR FEE
EQUIVALENTS (235,756) (448,532)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year FUHRekBReSED 697,689 1,147,708
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net e RS EM R 2558 (2,484) (1,487)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF FRESRRESEEY
YEAR 25 459,449 697,689
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND CASH B & RIBEEEBYELRDNT
EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the FaMBRARERERE
consolidated statement of financial position and EMYHe IR EFED
statement of cash flows 459,449 697,689
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31 December 2024
20244F 12 A31H

1. Corporate and Group Information

Shanghai Chicmax Cosmetic Co., Ltd. (the “Company”) is a
limited company incorporated in the People’s Republic of China
on 11 June 2004. The registered office is located at Room
701, No. 515 Yinxiang Road, Nanxiang Town, Jiading District,
Shanghai, Mainland China. The Company was restructured from
a limited company to a joint-stock company on 15 December
2020. The Company was listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 22
December 2022.

In the opinion of the directors, the controlling shareholder is Mr.
Lyu Yixiong.

During the year, Shanghai Chicmax Cosmetic Co., Ltd. and
its subsidiaries (the “Group”) were principally involved in the
following activities: research and development, production and
sale of cosmetics.

Information about subsidiaries
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows:

Place and date of

1.

REIREEER

e ERtMmROERAE ([ARF])
A—ZKF2004%6 411 BIEFE AR KL
BEAMAIHEREEAR - M ERE
Az R R B A | T 5 0E I R PR SE AR A BR
51555701 % » NARIR2020F12 151
RARQRWH ARG QT o KARR
2022F 12 A22 B EB BB E R HMARA
A ([B22PT]) EMR 7T o

BEERR ERERAORBELLE -

RER - LB EXBRNDBRAR R
HMBAR ([AEE]) T2REUTE
% AL - EEREE -

BEMBERARNER
ARAREEZMBERROFEOT

Nominal value of

incorporation/ issued Percentage of
registration and ordinary/registered equity attributable Principal
Company name place of operations share capital to the Company activities
Baiizavygaiisi k3 BEILE/
NGER HEIA RS B AMBRANEE ADREGRERSL  FEEH
Direct Indirect
BE fiE
Shanghai Shumei Cosmetic Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 100% - Sale of
(EEREHREBRAF) 08 September 2009 cosmetics
PEREHEERAF mE/HENL AR#10,000,0007C e
20099 A8H
Shanghai Zhongyi Daily Chemical Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB260,000,000 100% - Production of
(“ EEHWALERATF") 05 August 2010 cosmetics
LETPBARLERRR /R, AR #260,000,0007C ferhmEE
201048 A5H
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1. Corporate and Group Information 1.

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Place and date of

Notes to Financial Statements
I RS R 2R MY R T

31 December 2024
20244 12 31 H

REIREBER (&)

BEMBRBRNER (&

Nominal value of

incorporation/ issued Percentage of
registration and ordinary/registered equity attributable Principal
Company name place of operations share capital to the Company activities
A/ g Rk BETLE/
NGIES ! HEIA R BB AMRANEE ARARERERSL  FEEHR
Direct Indirect
L f%

Suzhou Industrial Park Lizi Cosmetic Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB42,000,000 100% - Lease of
(BN IEEERE L HRERAR) 23 April 2004 properties
FMIZERRL(HAMBRA R /R, AR #42,000,0007 nEHEE

200454 A23H

Shanghai Baby Elephant Cosmetic Co., Ltd. (“.£  PRG/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 100% - Sale of
BE/ )RR BRAR") 28 December 2015 cosmetics

Heae R ERERAR R/ B, ARH10,000,0007T e

2015%12A28H

Shanghai Kans Cosmetic Sales Service Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB5,000,000 - 100%  Sale of
(EEBERIERBEEREERLE) 29 June 2016 cosmetics

LEBRIHRHERBERLA hE/HERL AR #5,000,0007C et eHE

201656 H29H
Nippon Hondo Co., Ltd. (‘B AAERAE4")  Japan JPY62,000,000 - 100%  Sale of
30 July 2015 cosmetics
ERVAREL$:8-Fs BAR 62,000,0005 El {ErzmisE
201557 A30H

Nippon Shuichi Cosmetics Co., Ltd. Japan JPY80,600,000 - 100%  Production of
(BARF-ElttmkA g 04 July 2017 cosmetics

BAAE SRk gt BA 80,600,000 H[El ferhmEE

2017E7H4R
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1. Corporate and Group Information 1.

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Place and date of

BEMBRBRNER (&

Nominal value of

REIREBER (&)

incorporation/ issued Percentage of
registration and ordinary/registered equity attributable Principal
Company name place of operations share capital to the Company activities
A/ g Rk BETLE/
NGIES ! HEIA R BB AMRANEE ARARERERSL  FEEHR
Direct Indirect
L %
Shanghai Hongdao Cosmetic Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB5,000,000 100% - Sale of
(‘BT EERERAR") 02 February 2018 cosmetics
FRAEARERAR B REN AR5,000,0007 thmiEE
2018%F2H2A
Shanghai One Leaf Cosmetic Co., Ltd. (“ £/—  PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 100% - Sale of
EFhmaRLw"™ 09 September 2014 cosmetics
PE-EHMRERAT R/ HERL AR #10,000,0007C HmHE
201459A9AR
Shanghai HiFace Cosmetic Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB5,000,000 - 100%  Sale of
(BBl mERAR")™ 28 December 2017 cosmetics
R RERA R mE/HERL AR #5,000,0007C et eHE
2017512 A28H
Shanghai Baby Elephant Cosmetic Sales PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - 100%  Sale of
Service Co., Ltd. (‘B84 &/ &b M 12 June 2018 cosmetics
HERBARAR")
FRIE R lmEEREERAT hE/REN, AR#10,000,0007 {Ezm e
201856 A 12H
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(Continued)

1. Corporate and Group Information

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Place and date of

Notes to Financial Statements

A7 s et
31 December 2024
20244 12 31 H

1. REAREEER (&)

BEMBRBRNER (&

Nominal value of

China (the “PRC”) represent the best efforts of management of the Company
in directly translating the Chinese names of these companies as no English

names have been registered.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion
of the directors, principally affected the results for the year or formed a

substantial portion of the net assets of the Group.

*k

law.

These companies are registered as limited liability companies under PRC

incorporation/ issued Percentage of
registration and ordinary/registered equity attributable Principal
Company name place of operations share capital to the Company activities
A/ g Rk BETLE/
NGIES ! HEIA R BB AMRANEE ARARERERSL  FEEHR
Direct Indirect
L %
Shanghai KPC Biotechnology Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMBb54,444,444 60% 9.61%  Sale of
(EEREEYBEAERAF") > 11 August 2020 cosmetics
LERBAYRBERAF" hE /R, AR¥54,444,4447T fLikmiEE
202058A11H
Shanghai Jinmao Biotechnology Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 100% - Sale of
(EESEAMERERAR) 04 November 2020 cosmetics
FEEBREMHRARRA" hE/REN AR#1,000,0007 {Ezm e
202011 A4H
Shanghai Qingdao Enterprise Management Co.,  PRC/Mainland China RMB80,000,000 100% - Enterprise
Ltd. (‘EEFELEEEFRAF) 30 April 2021 management
LEBELRERERAT hE /HERL AR #:80,000,0007C tRER
202154 A30H
Shanghai Yiye Biotechnology Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - 56%  Sale of
(EERBEENBEAERARF") > 04 August 2020 cosmetics
FRREAREERAR B REN, AK#10,000,0007 ftmiEe
20208 H4A
Zhejiang Jingmei Cosmetics Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB5,000,000 100% - Sale of
CIREERERAF") > 22 August 2024 cosmetics
WIRFRARAT hE/REN, AR#5,000,0007 {Ezm e
202458R22H
* The English names of the companies registered in the People’s Republic of * RAREARLME (TFFE ) FHOA W EFMETS

W ERXEBDAARAEREEZRABHNERER
TXEEBEMAS

ERFAIIDEERRIBXEFANEAIBRAKEX
BOAEFENAREMBEAR -

ZEMBARREHBEAEEMRERAF -
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2. Accounting Policies

2.1 Basis of Preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards (which
include all International Financial Reporting Standards,
International Accounting Standards (“IASs”) and
Interpretations) issued by International Accounting
Standards Board (the “IASB”) and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
They have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, except for financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss which have been measured at fair value.
These financial statements are presented in Renminbi
(“RMB”) and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended
31 December 2024. A subsidiary is an entity (including a
structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the
Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed,
or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the investee and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights
that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting
rights results in control. When the Company has, less than
a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee,
the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances
in assessing whether it has power over an investee,
including:

(@)  the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c)  the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.1 Basis of Preparation (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the
date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the
Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
described above. A change in the ownership interest of a
subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as
an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises the related assets (including goodwill),
liabilities, any non-controlling interest and the exchange
fluctuation reserve cumulative; and recognises the
fair value of any investment retained and any resulting
surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of
components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits,
as appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if
the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities.

2.1

A7 s et
31 December 2024
20244 12 31 H

2. BETHEK (&)

mREE ()

REE%E (&)

MR R B RER I RAER
R & ET R B B AN R B4R R A0 s 1A
MR - IMBARMEERAKE
RSHEHIEE R RGEe AR LAESE
RAAREZEGERLER -

BEIEMEERANSEKE D R
BRASESRRHEE A RIFERE
o B8R S| BOHE R s IR &
mAER  IAEBEANRRIBEERE
& #E - BA - AXAREAREE

KRERBZHRSEENRERED
RERE ANBRE BRI -

HEE RIER R il =TAZE SR
ER-RAZEAE  AAKESE
HESMAETIREHR - B AR
AN EE LERETHIE)
ANERERRS e

1 7 5 [ 5k 25 5 — i) Y I % B RO #2161
o AEKRIEAEREE (BB
2) A EAFEREE LR
EREBREE RN B HERER
REBIRE R E R AERIE M E AR
RSB o RN EMEERAR
RN AEE R REBRAEE
BEERLEHEEEXREMERAN
HREE  RFBEREHIEERS
HREEF -
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31 December 2024
20244 12 A31H

2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and
Disclosures
The Group has adopted the following revised IFRS

Accounting Standards for the first time for the current

year’s financial statements.

Amendments to
IFRS 16
Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 7
and IFRS 7

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current (the
“2020 Amendments”)

Definition of Accounting
Estimates
Supplier Finance Arrangements

The nature and the impact of the revised IFRS Accounting

Standards are described below:

a)

Amendments to IFRS 16 specify the requirements
that a seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease
liability arising in a sale and leaseback transaction
to ensure the seller-lessee does not recognise any
amount of the gain or loss that relates to the right
of use it retains. Since the Group has no sale and
leaseback transactions with variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or a rate occurring
from the date of initial application of IFRS 16,
the amendments did not have any impact on the
financial position or performance of the Group.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and
Disclosures (Continued)

b)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements
for classifying liabilities as current or non-current,
including what is meant by a right to defer
settlement and that a right to defer must exist at
the end of the reporting period. Classification of
a liability is unaffected by the likelihood that the
entity will exercise its right to defer settlement.
The amendments also clarify that a liability can
be settled in its own equity instruments, and that
only if a conversion option in a convertible liability
is itself accounted for as an equity instrument
would the terms of a liability not impact its
classification. The 2022 Amendments further clarify
that, among covenants of a liability arising from
a loan arrangement, only those with which an
entity must comply on or before the reporting date
affect the classification of that liability as current or
non-current. Additional disclosures are required for
non-current liabilities that are subject to the entity
complying with future covenants within 12 months
after the reporting period.

The Group has reassessed the terms and conditions
of its liabilities as at 1 January 2023 and 2024 and
concluded that the classification of its liabilities as
current or non-current remained unchanged upon
initial application of the amendments. Accordingly,
the amendments did not have any impact on the
financial position or performance of the Group.

Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 clarify the
characteristics of supplier finance arrangements and
require additional disclosure of such arrangements.
The disclosure requirements in the amendments
are intended to assist users of financial statements
in understanding the effects of supplier finance
arrangements on an entity’s liabilities, cash flows
and exposure to liquidity risk. As the Group
does not have supplier finance arrangements,
the amendments did not have any impact on the
Group’s financial statements.

A7 s et
31 December 2024
20244 12 31 H

2. SETBX (&
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b)
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2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.3 lIssued but Not Yet Effective International
Financial Reporting Standards
The Group has not applied the following new and revised

IFRS Accounting Standards, that have been issued but are

not yet effective, in these financial statements. The Group

intends to apply these new and revised IFRS Accounting

Standards, if applicable, when they become effective.

IFRS 18
IFRS 19
Amendments to IFRS 9

and IFRS 7

Amendments to IFRS 9
and IFRS 7

Amendments to IFRS 10

and IAS 28

Amendments to IAS 21

Annual Improvements
to IFRS Accounting

Standards - Volume 11

Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements?®

Subsidiaries without Public
Accountability: Disclosures?®

Amendments to the
Classification and
Measurement of Financial
Instruments?

Contracts Referencing Nature-
dependent Electricity?

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Lack of Exchangeability’
Amendments to HKFRS 1,

HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9, HKFRS
10 and IAS 77¢

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026

8 Effective for annual/reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027

4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.3

Issued but Not Yet Effective International
Financial Reporting Standards (Continued)
Further information about those IFRS that are expected to
be applicable to the Group is described below.

IFRS 18 replaces IAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements. While a number of sections have been
brought forward from IAS 1 with limited changes, IFRS
18 introduces new requirements for presentation within
the statement of profit or loss, including specified totals
and subtotals. Entities are required to classify all income
and expenses within the statement of profit or loss into
one of the five categories: operating, investing, financing,
income taxes and discontinued operations and to present
two new defined subtotals. It also requires disclosures
about management-defined performance measures in
a single note and introduces enhanced requirements
on the grouping (aggregation and disaggregation) and
the location of information in both the primary financial
statements and the notes. Some requirements previously
included in IAS 1 are moved to IAS 8 Accounting Policies,
Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors, which
is renamed as IAS 8 Basis of Preparation of Financial
Statements. As a consequence of the issuance of IFRS
18, limited, but widely applicable, amendments are made
to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows, |AS 33 Earnings per
Share and |IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting. In addition,
there are minor consequential amendments to other IFRS
Accounting Standards. IFRS 18 and the consequential
amendments to other IFRS Accounting Standards are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027 with earlier application permitted. Retrospective
application is required. The Group is currently analysing
the new requirements and assessing the impact of IFRS
18 on the presentation and disclosure of the Group’s
financial statements.
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20244 12 A31H

2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.3

Issued but Not Yet Effective International
Financial Reporting Standards (Continued)

IFRS 19 allows eligible entities to elect to apply reduced
disclosure requirements while still applying the recognition,
measurement and presentation requirements in other
IFRS Accounting Standards Accounting Standards. To
be eligible, at the end of the reporting period, an entity
must be a subsidiary as defined in IFRS 10 Consolidated
Financial Statements, cannot have public accountability
and must have a parent (ultimate or intermediate) that
prepares consolidated financial statements available for
public use which comply with IFRS Accounting Standards.
Earlier application is permitted. As the Company is a
listed company, it is not eligible to elect to apply IFRS
19. Some of the Company’s subsidiaries are considering
the application of IFRS 19 in their specified financial
statements.

Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 clarify the date on
which a financial asset or financial liability is derecognised
and introduce an accounting policy option to derecognise
a financial liability that is settled through an electronic
payment system before the settlement date if specified
criteria are met. The amendments clarify how to assess
the contractual cash flow characteristics of financial assets
with environmental, social and governance and other
similar contingent features. Moreover, the amendments
clarify the requirements for classifying financial assets
with non-recourse features and contractually linked
instruments. The amendments also include additional
disclosures for investments in equity instruments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income and financial instruments with contingent features.
The amendments shall be applied retrospectively with
an adjustment to opening retained profits (or other
component of equity) at the initial application date. Prior
periods are not required to be restated and can only be
restated without the use of hindsight. Earlier application
of either all the amendments at the same time or only the
amendments related to the classification of financial assets
is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have
any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.3

Issued but Not Yet Effective International
Financial Reporting Standards (Continued)
Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 address an
inconsistency between the requirements in IFRS 10 and
in IAS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint venture.
The amendments require a full recognition of a gain or
loss resulting from a downstream transaction when the
sale or contribution of assets constitutes a business. For
a transaction involving assets that do not constitute a
business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is
recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent
of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint
venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively.
The previous mandatory effective date of amendments to
IFRS 10 and IAS 28 was removed by the IASB. However,
the amendments are available for adoption now.
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2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.3

Issued but Not Yet Effective International
Financial Reporting Standards (Continued)
Amendments to IAS 21 specify how an entity shall
assess whether a currency is exchangeable into another
currency and how it shall estimate a spot exchange rate
at a measurement date when exchangeability is lacking.
The amendments require disclosures of information that
enable users of financial statements to understand the
impact of a currency not being exchangeable. Earlier
application is permitted. When applying the amendments,
an entity cannot restate comparative information. Any
cumulative effect of initially applying the amendments shall
be recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of
retained profits or to the cumulative amount of translation
differences accumulated in a separate component of
equity, where appropriate, at the date of initial application.
The amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Annual Improvements to IFRS Accounting Standards —
Volume 11 set out amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 7 (and the
accompanying Guidance on implementing IFRS 7), IFRS
9, IFRS 10 and IAS 7. Details of the amendments that are
expected to be applicable to the Group are as follows:

a. IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures: The
amendments have updated certain wording in
paragraph B38 of IFRS 7 and paragraphs 1G1,
IG14 and 1G20B of the Guidance on implementing
IFRS 7 for the purpose of simplification or achieving
consistency with other paragraphs in the standard
and/or with the concepts and terminology used
in other standards. In addition, the amendments
clarify that the Guidance on implementing IFRS 7
does not necessarily illustrate all the requirements
in the referenced paragraphs of IFRS 7 nor does it
create additional requirements. Earlier application
is permitted. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.3 lIssued but Not Yet Effective International
Financial Reporting Standards (Continued)

b.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: The amendments
clarify that when a lessee has determined that a
lease liability has been extinguished in accordance
with IFRS 9, the lessee is required to apply
paragraph 3.3.3 of IFRS 9 and recognise any
resulting gain or loss in profit or loss. In addition,
the amendments have updated certain wording in
paragraph 5.1.3 of IFRS 9 and Appendix A of IFRS
9 to remove potential confusion. Earlier application
is permitted. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements: The
amendments clarify that the relationship described
in paragraph B74 of IFRS 10 is just one example of
various relationships that might exist between the
investor and other parties acting as de facto agents
of the investor, which removes the inconsistency
with the requirement in paragraph B73 of IFRS 10.
Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on the
Group’s financial statements.

IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: The amendments
replace the term “cost method” with “at cost” in
paragraph 37 of IAS 7 following the prior deletion of
the definition of “cost method”. Earlier application
is permitted. The amendments are not expected to
have any impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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2. BETHEK (&)

2.4 FESHEE

2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a
long-term interest of generally not less than 20% of the
equity voting rights and over which it has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate
in the financial and operating policy decisions of the
investee, but is not control or joint control over those
policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby
the parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint
control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an
arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the
relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control.

The Group’s investments in associates and joint ventures
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at the Group’s share of net assets under the
equity method of accounting, less any impairment losses.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and
other comprehensive income of associates and joint
ventures is included in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and consolidated other comprehensive
income, respectively. In addition, when there has been a
change recognised directly in the equity of the associate
or joint venture, the Group recognises its share of any
changes, when applicable, in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting
from transactions between the Group and its associates
or joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s investment in the associates or joint ventures,
except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an
impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising from
the acquisition of associates or joint ventures is included
as part of the Group’s investments in associates or joint
ventures.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is
not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method. In all other cases,
upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint
control over the joint venture, the Group measures and
recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any
difference between the carrying amount of the associate
or joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint
control and the fair value of the retained investment and
proceeds from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is
the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group
to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of
the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group
elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests in
the acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate share of
the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components
of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business
when the acquired set of activities and assets include an
input and a substantive process that together significantly
contribute to the ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the
contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of
the acquiree.
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2. BETHEK (&)

TEETHR (A

2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued) 2.4

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss or other comprehensive
income, as appropriate.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or
liability is measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration
classified as equity is not remeasured and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess
of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests and any
fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interests in
the acquiree over the identifiable net assets acquired and
liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration and
other items is lower than the fair value of the net assets
acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised
in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested
for impairment annually or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
value may be impaired. The Group performs its annual
impairment test of goodwill as at 31 December. For
the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in
a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units,
or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective
of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are
assigned to those units or groups of units.

160 | Shanghai Chicmax Cosmetic Co., Ltd. & (b irRn AR A

EBEOHREE (F)
HWERBAFIEERER - TAHAN
PR R W E R B RAFEEHT
B MEENEAREREERER
SEMbEEKE (ER) RER -

YR 77 S T E R E RS ARERS
U BB AP ERER - DBARE
EXBENHIAREBERAFESE
MAFEZSHENIBRNER - 1R
RESHIARELEEHNTE - M
HERBEENERAAE -

BENTRRAGTE  NEEERK
B poFERERRANSENAE
] 55 B A RO U 77 B (T &
FEARE  BEEMTRER SN EE
FERAAERENEZRE - MZRE
KEMIE B BRERTREEEFE
MATE  REFEREZEBNE
SRR SEEWRE RS

R HERE - mEERAANR TR
SPREEEE -  HEATTIERE
A EEEHEERBRNEETR
REEAAERE - e EERE
TR - REBM12 A31 BEITE
B2 FEREAR - HRRERR
BUE AR AP ESHRY
B BETEHEE MR RSUEF
REWAEESHReELENNRE
EEEMNEAR  MAEREAEEDN
HiEENB BRI BEZE B
BAAAR o



Notes to Financial Statements

2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)
Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of
cash-generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group
of cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount,
an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss
recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent
period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating
unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part of the
operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill
associated with the operation disposed of is included in
the carrying amount of the operation when determining
the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in
these circumstances is measured based on the relative
value of the operation disposed of and the portion of the
cash-generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its debt investments at fair value
through other comprehensive income at the end of each
reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in
an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement is based
on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset
or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal
market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a
principal market, in the most advantageous market for the
asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous
market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of
an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions
that market participants would use when pricing the asset
or liability, assuming that market participants act in their
economic best interest.
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31 December 2024
20244 12 A31H

2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant that
would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of
relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial information are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or
liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which
the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement is observable,
either directly or indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which
the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
information on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole) at the end of the reporting
period.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required (other
than inventories, contract assets, deferred tax assets,
investment properties and non-current assets/a disposal
group classified as held for sale), the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is
the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value
in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does
not generate cash inflows that are largely independent
of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which
case the recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. In testing
a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion of the
carrying amount of a corporate asset is allocated to an
individual cash-generating unit if it can be allocated on
a reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the
smallest group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in the period in
which it arises in those expense categories consistent with
the function of the impaired asset.
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2. BETHEK (&)

2.4 FESEE (A

2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

An assessment is made at the end of the reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or
may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed
only if there has been a change in the estimates used
to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but
not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that
would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment
loss is credited to profit or loss in the period in which it

arises.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that

person’s family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel

of the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)
Related parties (Continued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following

conditions applies:

(i)

(i

(ifi)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the

same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or
fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group
or an entity related to the Group; and the
sponsoring employers of the post-employment
benefit plan;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
parent of the Group.
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2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of
property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase
price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the
asset to its working condition and location for its intended

use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss
in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where
the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for
a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount
of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of
property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced
at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual
assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to

SETHER (&)

2.4 FTESEBX (&)

M BERREBARIFTE

ME -~ BB REE (ER TR
THRRRANE R 5t T B R AR E R 18
SR - M2~ BE MR f%IEHE’]}ﬁZK
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1’&#%&1@59’Mﬂﬂﬁ%ﬁ§fﬁﬁk$ °
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EET\HE’U1§%¢BE IR E R E
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NEDNREGEREFZBYE  BE

write off the cost of each item of property, plant and HIEE E’])ﬂiﬁﬁf\,iﬁu‘l'—ﬁiﬁﬁﬁ
equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful BAMBEEEFREEMTE - st
life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are as B B FTfE E’\]Ixiﬁﬁﬂ? :
follows:
Annual rates
Category =gl FER
Buildings BF 4.75%
Plant and machinery R M Es 9.50% - 31.67%
Motor vehicles AE 15.83% — 23.75%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment FiL - RBEREE 19.00% — 31.67%
Leasehold improvements HEWMHEEE 19.00% - 47.50%
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2. BETHEK (&)

2.4 FEETHE(E)

2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including
any significant part initially recognised is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on
disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in the
year the asset is derecognised is the difference between
the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
relevant asset.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any
impairment losses, and is not depreciated. It is reclassified
to the appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for use.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
(including right-of-use assets) held to earn rental income
and/or for capital appreciation. Such properties are
measured initially at cost, including transaction costs.

The Group measures its investment properties at cost,
including related transaction costs. Depreciation is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their
cost over their estimated useful lives in 20 years.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected
from its disposal.
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2. BETHEK (&)

2.4 FEETHE(E)

2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Investment properties (Continued)

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss in the year of retirement or disposal.

Transfers among investment property, owner-occupied
property and inventories do not change the carrying
amount of the property transferred and they do not change
the cost of that property for measurement or disclosure
purposes.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the
date of acquisition. The useful lives of other intangible
assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.
Other intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently
amortised over the useful economic life and assessed
for impairment whenever there is an indication that the
intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period
and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a
finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year
end.
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2. BETHEK (&)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued) 2.4 FESTTHE(E)

2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Continued)

Intangible assets are stated at cost less any impairment
losses and are amortised on the straight-line basis over
their estimated useful lives. The principal estimated useful

BREE (BERIN) (&)

BIEERRABREMRERBET
B WREMGFAIERFHANRER
EHH - BIVEEN T 2MEFAER

lives of intangible assets are as follows: FHIAT -
Estimated useful lives
Categories kel T A6 A H
Software EIgts 3-10 years, taking into consideration

the software technology updates in

the market and the development stage

of the Group

3E10F (BRI TS MR E &

REBEREREMER)

Others, mainly include HEt (X2 BEERE) 2-10 years, vehicle license plate is
vehicle licence plate amortised on a straight-line basis over
the useful life of 10 years, based on the
minimal planned years of usage.

2E10F (RESKEABIERFR - =
FEAOFHAME M FHA LB AREH) -

Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to the statement of profit or
loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products
is capitalised and deferred only when the Group can
demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the
intangible asset so that it will be available for use or
sale, its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell
the asset, how the asset will generate future economic
benefits, the availability of resources to complete the
project and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure
during the development. Product development expenditure
which does not meet these criteria is expensed when
incurred.
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2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.

(@)  Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the
date the underlying asset is available for use).
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less
any accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of
lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets
includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised,
initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments
made at or before the commencement date less any
lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter
of the lease terms and the estimated useful lives of
the assets as follows:

Leasehold land 50 years
Office premises and plant 2-10 years
Equipment 5 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to
the Group by the end of the lease term or the
cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option,
depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful
life of the asset.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)
Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease at the present
value of lease payments to be made over the lease
term. The lease payments include fixed payments
(including in-substance fixed payments) less any
lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments
that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts
expected to be paid under residual value guarantees.
The lease payments also include the exercise price
of a purchase option reasonably certain to be
exercised by the Group and payments of penalties
for termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects
the Group exercising the option to terminate the
lease. The variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or a rate are recognised as an
expense in the period in which the event or condition
that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at
the lease commencement date because the interest
rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.
After the commencement date, the amount of lease
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of
interest and reduced for the lease payments made.
In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities
is remeasured if there is a modification, a change
in the lease term, a change in lease payments
(e.g., a change to future lease payments resulting
from a change in an index or rate) or a change in
assessment of an option to purchase the underlying
asset.
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2. BETHEK (&)

2.4 FESEE (A

2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(c)  Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and
equipment (that is those leases that have a lease
term of 12 months or less from the commencement
date and do not contain a purchase option). It also
applies the recognition exemption for leases of
low-value assets to leases of office equipment and
laptop computers that are considered to be of low
value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease
inception (or when there is a lease modification) each of its
leases as either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an
asset are classified as operating leases. When a contract
contains lease and non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each
component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.
Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis
over the lease term and is included in revenue in the
statement of profit or loss due to its operating nature.
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of
the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on
the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are
recognised as revenue in the period in which they are
earned.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessor (Continued)

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the
lessee are accounted for as finance leases.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income, and fair value
through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for
managing them. With the exception of trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or
for which the Group has applied the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial asset
at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at
fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade
receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the
practical expedient are measured at the transaction price
determined under IFRS 15 in accordance with the policies
set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”)
on the principal amount outstanding. Financial assets with
cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured
at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the
business model.
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2. BETHEK (&)

2.4 FESEE (A

2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines
whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual
cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial
assets classified and measured at amortised cost are
held within a business model with the objective to hold
financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows,
while financial assets classified and measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income are held within
a business model with the objective of both holding to
collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets
which are not held within the aforementioned business
models are classified and measured at fair value through
profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace are recognised
on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits
to purchase or sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in
profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or
impaired.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income (debt instruments)

For debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income, interest income, foreign
exchange revaluation and impairment losses or reversals
are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and
computed in the same manner as for financial assets
measured at amortised cost. The remaining fair value
changes are recognised in other comprehensive income.
Upon derecognition, the cumulative fair value change
recognised in other comprehensive income is recycled to
the statement of profit or loss.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
carried in the statement of financial position at fair value
with net changes in fair value recognised in the statement
of profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected
to classify at fair value through other comprehensive
income. Dividends on the equity investments are also
recognised as other income in the statement of profit or
loss when the right of payment has been established.
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2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(Continued)

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a
financial liability or non-financial host, is separated from
the host and accounted for as a separate derivative if
the economic characteristics and risks are not closely
related to the host; a separate instrument with the same
terms as the embedded derivative would meet the
definition of a derivative; and the hybrid contract is not
measured at fair value through profit or loss. Embedded
derivatives are measured at fair value with changes in
fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
Reassessment occurs if there is a change in the terms of
the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing
a financial asset host is not accounted for separately. The
financial asset host together with the embedded derivative
is required to be classified in its entirety as a financial
asset at fair value through profit or loss.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation
to pay the received cash flows in full without material
delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred
control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the
transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises
an associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects
the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required
to repay.
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2. BETHEK (&)

2.4 FESEE (A

2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair
value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the
difference between the contractual cash flows due in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale
of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are
integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures
for which there has not been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit
losses that result from default events that are possible
within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those
credit exposures for which there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of
the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the
assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and
considers reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort, including historical
and forward-looking information. The Group considers that
there has been a significant increase in credit risk when
contractual payments are more than 30 days past due.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

General approach (Continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However,
in certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial
asset to be in default when internal or external information
indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the
outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into
account any credit enhancements held by the Group.

A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income and financial assets at amortised
cost are subject to impairment under the general approach
and they are classified within the following stages for
measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables which
apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 - Financial instruments for which credit risk
has not increased significantly since initial
recognition and for which the loss allowance
is measured at an amount equal to 12-month
ECLs

Stage 2 - Financial instruments for which credit risk
has not increased significantly since initial
recognition but that are not credit-impaired
financial assets and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired
at the reporting date (but that are not
purchased or originated credit-impaired) and
for which the loss allowance is measured at
an amount equal to lifetime ECLs
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2. BETHEK (&)

2.4 FESEE (A

2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Group applies
the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the
simplified approach, the Group does not track changes in
credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based
on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has
established a provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
loans and borrowings or payables, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables,
net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade payables,
other payables, interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings and other liabilities.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and other
payables, and borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables, and
interest-bearing borrowings are subsequently measured
at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method
unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance
costs in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms,
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as
a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of
a new liability, and the difference between the respective
carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal
right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets
and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
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2. BETHEK (&)

2.4 FESEE (A

2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on a weighted
average cost basis, and in the case of work in progress
and finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct
labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net
realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less
any estimated costs to be incurred to completion and
disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial
position comprise cash on hand and at banks, and
short-term highly liquid deposits with a maturity of
generally within three months that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash, subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value and held for the purpose of
meeting short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, and short-term deposits as defined above,
less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and
form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal
or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and
it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage
of time is included in finance costs in profit or loss.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior
periods are measured at the amount expected to be
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period,
taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in
a transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, when the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences can be controlled and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused
tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

° in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, deferred tax assets are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future
and taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of the reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred
tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets
are reassessed at the end of the reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part
of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if
and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right exists
to set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and
the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate
to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities
which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle
the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be
received and all attaching conditions will be complied with.
When the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised
as income on a systematic basis over the periods that the
costs, which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is
credited to a deferred income account and is released to
profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant
asset by equal annual instalments or deducted from the
carrying amount of the asset and released to profit or loss
by way of a reduced depreciation charge.
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2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration to
which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for

those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring
the goods or services to the customer. The variable
consideration is estimated at contract inception and
constrained until it is highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty
with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the customer with a significant benefit
of financing the transfer of goods or services to the
customer for more than one year, revenue is measured at
the present value of the amount receivable, discounted
using the discount rate that would be reflected in a
separate financing transaction between the Group and
the customer at contract inception. When the contract
contains a financing component which provides the Group
with a significant financial benefit for more than one year,
revenue recognised under the contract includes the
interest expense accreted on the contract liability under
the effective interest method. For a contract where the
period between the payment by the customer and the
transfer of the promised goods or services is one year or
less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects
of a significant financing component, using the practical

expedient in IFRS 15.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(a)

Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised at the
point in time when control of the asset is transferred
to the customer, generally on delivery of the goods
or upon the confirmation by the customer.

Rights of return

For contracts which provide a customer with a
right to return the goods within a specified period,
the expected value method is used to estimate the
goods that will not be returned because this method
best predicts the amount of variable consideration to
which the Group will be entitled. The requirements
in IFRS 15 on constraining estimates of variable
consideration are applied in order to determine
the amount of variable consideration that can be
included in the transaction price. For goods that
are expected to be returned, instead of revenue, a
refund liability is recognised. A right-of-return asset
(and the corresponding adjustment to cost of sales)
is also recognised for the right to recover products
from a customer.

Transportation services

The Group provides transportation services between
its warehouses and its customers. The Group
recognise transportation services revenue over time
as customers receive the benefit of the services
as the goods are transported from one location to
another. As such, transportation service revenue
is recognised proportionally as goods move from
one location to another and the related costs are
recognised as incurred. The Group uses an output
method of progress based on time-in-transit as it
best depicts the transfer of control to the customer.
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2.4 FEETHE(E)

2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over
the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter
period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of
the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’
right to receive the payment has been established, it is
probable that the economic benefits associated with the
dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the
dividend can be measured reliably.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from
a customer before the Group transfers the related goods
or services. Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue
when the Group performs under the contract. (i.e.,
transfers control of the related goods or services to the
customer).

Right-of-return assets

A right-of-return asset is recognised for the right to recover
the goods expected to be returned by customers. The
asset is measured at the former carrying amount of the
goods to be returned, less any expected costs to recover
the goods and any potential decreases in the value of the
returned goods. The Group updates the measurement of
the asset for any revisions to the expected level of returns
and any additional decreases in the value of the returned
goods.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Refund liabilities

A refund liability is recognised for the obligation to refund
some or all of the consideration received (or receivable)
from a customer and is measured at the amount the Group
ultimately expects it will have to return to the customer.
The Group updates its estimates of refund liabilities (and
the corresponding change in the transaction price) at the
end of each reporting period.

Share-based payments

The Company operates certain incentive shares schemes.
Employees (including directors) of the Group receive
remuneration in the form of share-based payments,
whereby employees render services in exchange for equity
instruments (“equity-settled transactions”). The cost of
equity-settled transactions with employees is measured
by reference to the fair value at the date at which they are
granted. The fair value is determined by an external valuer
using a binomial model, further details of which are given
in note 30 to the financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which the
performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled.
The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the end of the reporting period until the
vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period
has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number
of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge
or credit to the profit or loss for a period represents the
movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at the
beginning and end of that period.
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2. BETHEK (&)

TEETHR (A

2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued) 2.4

Share-based payments (Continued)

Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date fair
value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being
met is assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of
the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest.
Market performance conditions are reflected within the
grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an
award, but without an associated service requirement,
are considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting
conditions are reflected in the fair value of an award and
lead to an immediate expensing of an award unless there
are also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market
or non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as
vesting irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting
condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance
and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified,
as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms
had not been modified, if the original terms of the award
are met. In addition, an expense is recognised for any
modification that increases the total fair value of the
share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to
the employee as measured at the date of modification.
Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated
as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any
expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised
immediately.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e.,
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised
as part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation
of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale. All other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they
are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and
other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the
borrowing of funds.

Events after the reporting period

If the Group receives information after the reporting period,
but prior to the date of authorisation for issue, about
conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period,
it will assess whether the information affects the amounts
that it recognises in its financial statements. The Group will
adjust the amounts recognised in its financial statements
to reflect any adjusting events after the reporting period
and update the disclosures that relate to those conditions
in light of the new information. For non-adjusting events
after the reporting period, the Group will not change the
amounts recognised in its financial statements, but will
disclose the nature of the non-adjusting events and an
estimate of their financial effects, or a statement that such
an estimate cannot be made, if applicable.

Dividends
Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.
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2. SETBX (&

2.4 FESEE (A

2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Foreign currencies

The financial information is presented in RMB, which is
the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the
Group determines its own functional currency and items
included in the financial statements of each entity are
measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are
initially recorded using their respective functional currency
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
translated at the functional currency rates of exchange
ruling at the end of the reporting period. Differences
arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions.
Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss
arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at
fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain
or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation
difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss is
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss
is also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit
or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of
the related asset, expense or income on the derecognition
of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating
to an advance consideration, the date of initial transaction
is the date on which the Group initially recognises the
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising
from the advance consideration. If there are multiple
payments or receipts in advance, the Group determines
the transaction date for each payment or receipt of the
advance consideration.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries
and associates are currencies other than the RMB. As at
the end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities
of these entities are translated into RMB at the exchange
rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period and their
statements of profit or loss are translated into RMB at the
exchange rates that approximate to those prevailing at the
dates of the transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
exchange fluctuation reserve, except to the extent that the
differences are attributable to non-controlling interests. On
disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount in
the reserve relating to that particular foreign operation is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Employee benefits

Social pension plans

The Group has the social pension plans for its employees
arranged by local government labour and security
authorities. The Group makes contributions on a monthly
basis to the social pension plans. The contributions are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the social pension plans.
Under the plans, the Group has no further obligations
beyond the contributions made.

Housing fund and other social insurances

The Group has participated in defined social security
contribution schemes for its employees pursuant to the
relevant laws and regulations of the PRC. These include
housing fund, basic medical insurance, unemployment
insurance, injury insurance and maternity insurance. The
Group makes monthly contributions to the housing fund
and other social insurances. The contributions are charged
to profit or loss on an accrual basis. The Group has no
further obligations beyond the contributions made.
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Significant Accounting Judgements
and Estimates

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.

Variable consideration for returns and rebates

The Group estimates variable consideration to be included in the
transaction price for the sale of products with rights of return
and rebates.

The Group has developed a statistical model for forecasting
sales returns and rebates. The model used the historical
return data of each product to estimate with expected return
percentages. These percentages are applied to determine the
expected value of the variable consideration. Any significant
changes in experience as compared to historical return pattern
will impact the expected return percentages estimated by the
Group.

The Group’s expected rebates are analysed on a per customer
basis for contracts that are subject to some thresholds.
Determining whether a customer is likely to be entitled to a
rebate depends on the customer’s historical rebate entitlement,
sell out and payment collection to date.
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Notes to Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Judgements
and Estimates (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Variable consideration for returns and rebates (Continued)
The Group updates its assessment of expected returns
and rebates quarterly and the refund liabilities are adjusted
accordingly. Estimates of expected returns and rebates are
sensitive to changes in circumstances and the Group’s past
experience regarding returns and rebate entitlements may
not be representative of customers’ actual returns and rebate
entitlements in the future. As at 31 December 2024, the
amount recognised as refund liabilities was RMB3,515,000 (31
December 2023: RMB1,006,000), and the amount recognised
as rebates was RMB10,788,000 (831 December 2023:
RMB13,146,000).

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets (including the right-of-use
assets) at the end of each reporting period. Indefinite life
intangible assets are tested for impairment annually and at other
times when such an indicator exists. Other non-financial assets
are tested for impairment when there are indicators that the
carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists
when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating unit
exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair
value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The calculation
of the fair value less costs of disposal is based on available data
from binding sales transactions in an arm’s length transaction
of similar assets or observable market prices less incremental
costs for disposing of the asset. When value in use calculations
are undertaken, management must estimate the expected future
cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of
those cash flows.
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Significant Accounting Judgements
and Estimates (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade and bills
receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables. The provision rates are based on days past due for
groupings of various customer segments that have similar loss
patterns (i.e., by geography, product type, customer type and
rating).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to
adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking
information. For instance, if forecast economic conditions (i.e.,
gross domestic products) are expected to deteriorate over the
next year which can lead to an increased number of defaults
in the manufacturing sector, the historical default rates are
adjusted. At each reporting date, the historical observed default
rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates
are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is
a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to
changes in circumstances and forecast economic conditions.
The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast
of economic conditions may also not be representative of a
customer’s actual default in the future. The information about
the ECLs on the Group’s trade receivables is disclosed in note
22 to the financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Judgements
and Estimates (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Leases - Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit
in a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing
rate (“IBR”) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of
interest that the Group would have to pay to borrow over a
similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary
to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset
in a similar economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects
what the Group “would have to pay”, which requires estimation
when no observable rates are available (such as for subsidiaries
that do not enter into financing transactions) or when it needs
to be adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease
(for example, when leases are not in the subsidiary’s functional
currency). The Group estimates the IBR using observable inputs
(such as market interest rates) when available and is required to
make certain entity-specific estimates (such as the subsidiary’s
stand-alone credit rating).

Provision for slow-moving inventories and net realisable
value of inventories

Management reviews the ageing analysis of inventories of
the Group at the end of each reporting period, and makes
a provision for slow-moving inventory items. Management
estimates the net realisable value for such inventories based
primarily on the latest invoice prices and current market
conditions. A write-down of inventories to net realisable
value is made based on the estimated net realisable value of
inventories. The assessment of the write-down amount requires
management’s estimates and judgement. Where the actual
outcome or expectation in the future is different from the original
estimate, such differences will impact the carrying value of
inventories and the write-down/write-back of inventories in the
period in which such estimate has been changed.
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4. Operating Segment Information

For management purposes, the Group is organised into one
single business unit that includes primarily the manufacture and
sale of cosmetic products.

The information reported to the directors of the Company, who
are the chief operating decision makers, for the purpose of
resource allocation and assessment of performance, does not
contain discrete operating segment financial information and the
directors reviewed the financial results of the Group as a whole.
Therefore, no further information about the operating segment is
presented.

Geographical information
(a) Revenue from external customers

KEDEEH

REREERN  AREAMAS—RE—
EHEM - T2eRtmEENMEE -

RERDERERFEENAARARRES
(EBEERRE) MENERT TEEE
UREDEBOPBER E%%EH%$§%
B BEREER EABRBETERN -
bt WEE BRI E D I *Féﬂ

B A
(@) REIIBEFHIWA
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®ETT ARETTT

Mainland China B A 6,772,324 4,171,263
Other countries/regions HMBER i@ 20,194 19,464
Total revenue RGN 6,792,518 4,190,727

The revenue information above is based on the locations
of the customers.
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4. Operating Segment Information 4. K&EHHER (&
(Continued)

Geographical information (Continued) HEE R (F)
(b) Non-current assets (b) FERBEE
2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥ETT ARETT

Mainland China R A 3 949,901 879,204
Other countries/regions HMBER & 56,922 58,366
Total non-current asset EMEBEEEE 1,006,823 937,570
The non-current asset information above is based on the FHFERBEEER IEREEMT
locations of the assets and excludes deferred tax assets. - NEBEERIBEE
Information about major customers EBEEXEEFNER
The Group has a large number of customers and no revenue REBEHEBRERF @ RRNEE20245F12
from a single customer is accounted for 10.00% or more of AS1HIEFEHERAE —FPHKRAL
the Group’s revenue during the year ended 31 December 2024 REH10.00% 3k A EBIUA (20234 - —
(2023: one, 10.00%). E%= P - 1510.00%) °
5. Revenue 5. WA
An analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows: AEENBASTWOT -
Revenue from contracts with customers BEEEHRA
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARBET T

Sales of goods HESMm 6,779,376 4,182,239
Transportation services B RS 13,142 8,488
Total BET 6,792,518 4,190,727
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2024412531 A
5. Revenue (Continued) 5. WA (&)
(a) Disaggregated revenue information (@) ZIFWAER
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBET T ARBET T
Types of goods or services Emu R EER
Sales of goods HEEM 6,779,376 4,182,239
Transportation services B RS 13,142 8,488
Total #aEt 6,792,518 4,190,727
Timing of revenue recognition N AT
2024 2023
2024 % 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREET T AREET T
Goods transferred at a point in time REREHEEENE R 6,779,376 4,182,239
Services transferred over time BE Ry R R R M RS 13,142 8,488
Total #aEt 6,792,518 4,190,727
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Notes to Financial Statements

5. Revenue (Continued)

(a)

(b)

A7 s et
31 December 2024
20244 12 31 H

5. WA (&)

Disaggregated revenue information (@) DIFBRAER(F)
(Continued)
Timing of revenue recognition (Continued) WA FER B ()
The following table shows the amount of revenue TREFHINARE AR T AR
recognised in the current reporting period that was HHYEHBENIMAZ SR
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of the
current reporting period:
2024 2023
2024%F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ETT AREETTT
Revenue recognised that was included STAFEMEHNERBN
in contract liabilities at the beginning SRR WA
of the year:
Sales of goods HE S M 25,678 41,416
Performance obligations (b) BHERE
Information about the Group’s performance obligations is FHAASEROETHERB AN
summarised below: T
Sale of goods HEEM
The performance obligation is satisfied upon receipt of BHBTREFPEREMIZNED
the goods by customers or delivery of goods, and the FrEN & SEA - (IR — A T E -
payment period is generally uncertain, expect for certain ERETEEEPME @ MHRRER

major customers where payment is due within 60 to 90
days from receipt.

Transportation services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered. Transportation services are for
periods of within one month, and are billed based on the
time incurred.

As at the end of the reporting period, the amounts of
transaction prices allocated to the remaining performance
obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) are
immaterial and all the amounts are expected to be
recognised as revenue within one year.

%60Z= 90 KA EIH -

B R

& #) B {2 BE 22 AR 7% 69 12 44 0 B s T o
BETT - EBRRBA—EA SR -
WELARRE -

RBEHMR DEEHRTEOEE

(REITHADARET) IR BERE
BMATEKR - BB BRIBHHRN —
FRERBEA -
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31 December 2024
20244 12 A31H

6. Other Income and Gains and Other

6. %1’@4&)\&4&%)},&1@%

Expenses
2024 2023
2024%F 2023%F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5T ARETT ARETT
Other income Hipug A
Government grants BT ED (a),(b) 182,389 96,073
Bank interest income HRITFEHA 6,128 9,365
Others HAh, 26,278 14,178
Total other income Hib g A 42%E 214,795 119,616
Gains &
Foreign exchange gain SN S 7 1,616 12,800
Fair value gains on financial assets at fair BAFERFABREN
value through profit or loss, net TREENFEKZFE 19,302 16,121
Others Efb 15,450 7,959
Total gains Wz 48 EE 36,368 36,880
Total other income and gains EH U A MU S48 EE 251,163 156,496
Other expenses HAhpE X
Inventory impairment and scrap GFERERHRE 38,740 26,708
Others HAh, 10,262 7,292
Total other expenses H bl > 4258 49,002 34,000

(@) The government grants mainly represent incentives
received or receivable from the local government in
connection with certain financial support to local business
enterprises for the purpose of encouraging business
development. There are no unfulfiled conditions or

contingencies relating to these grants.
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A7 s et
31 December 2024
20244 12 31 H

6. Other Income and Gains and Other 6. %%ﬂ%)\&%%‘é&ﬁ@ﬁﬁ
=

Expenses (Continued)

(b)  The Group has received certain government grants related

to the investments in long-term assets in production

bases. The grants related to assets were recognised in the

statement of profit or loss over the useful lives of relevant

assets. There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies

relating to these grants.

Profit before Tax

The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/

()

AEECWIE THAEEMRHE
ERERBEBRTHE - 2EEMRRE
RN AR EEMN AE R FHMAE
BRRPER - HEFREZEHIN
RERMFIFRHARFIE -

7. BRFBIFE

AEENRBAFE &R GTA) AT &IEA

(crediting): 1BER
2024 2023
20245 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
s ARET T ARBEFIT
Cost of inventories sold* BEFEK A" 1,683,131 1,171,275
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 13 - FiE & REITE 14 63,737 67,367
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE 16 38,201 29,275
Amortisation of intangible assets A E 17 2,774 2,737
Wages and salaries TERFH® 431,010 389,636
Pension scheme contributions, social welfare EREFHEIEHZK - HEEF
and other welfare R E b 1E K 114,462 94,268
Share-based compensation expense LAR D B AR BB € F 6,549 4,975
Foreign exchange differences HNEE = BE 6 (1,616) (12,800)
Marketing and promotion expenses EEE MR X 3,316,567 1,745,880
Inventory impairment and scrap FERE R RE 6 38,740 26,708
Interest expense FEFE 6,072 16,227
Impairment losses of provision on financial CRVE EREBEREBEFE
assets, net 6,969 (15,252)
Auditors’ remuneration 1% BR 5 B 3,920 3,640
Fair value gains on financial assets at fair BN ERABRRN
value through profit or loss, net SREENFEWZFHE (19,302) (16,121)

Cost of inventories sold includes expenses relating to depreciation of *
property, plant and equipment, depreciation of right-of-use assets and
employee benefit expense, which are also included in the respective total

amounts disclosed separately above for each of these types of expenses.

DEFERABIEEYNE  BELRBTE (&
AREEFERESENRAXEMNER  EL&
ERb AR LR EZER EBRENEH
R -
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20244 12 A31H

8. Finance Costs 8. BN
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: BIERRADITIAT -
2024 2023
20244 20234
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
ihg=s AR®T T ARBFTT
Interest on bank and other borrowings RIT R EAMEKF S 2,961 12,201
Interest on lease liabilities HEAEFE 16 3,111 4,026
Total “Et 6,072 16,227

9. Directors’ and Chief Executive’s

Remuneration

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year,

disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b),

(c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2

9. EERBSITHRAEHMH

REFELEHRA -

BB D AMEHI55383(1)

(@~ (o) * () RMIEAR AR (HFEEEMR
BR)ROIE2MEEFANEERRDITH

of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of ANBFBT -
Directors) Regulation, is as follows:
2024 2023
2024 % 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREF T
Fees we 486 450
Other emoluments: Eiie -
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EZRREYRET 3,399 2,878
Pension scheme contributions RIREET B 888 868
Performance-related bonuses R 654 629
Subtotal e 4,941 4,375
Total st 5,427 4,825
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2024412 431 H
- - - -+ = E— /— [—1 e
9. Directors’ and Chief Executive’'s 9. EERES1TH A B I
- - e —d
Remuneration (Continued) (#&)
Independent non-executive directors (@) BIHHTES
Year ended 31 December 2024
BZE2024F12831BLLEE
Salaries,
allowances Pension Performance-
and benefits scheme related
Fees inkind contributions bonuses Total
e 2R Bie FRRE
e ENEF SHEIfE bzl @it
Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ME  AR®Tr AR%Tr ARETR ARETR  ARETx
Independent non-executive directors:  BUFEHTES
Mr. Li Yang TEEE (i 101 - - = 101
Mr. Liu Yi ARkE (i 61 - - - 61
Ms. Luo Yan (Z4F) Bifat 162 - - - 162
Mr. Leung Ho Sun REMEE 162 - - - 162
Total a5t 486 - - = 486
Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12A31BILEE
Salaries,
allowances Pension Performance-
and benefits scheme related
Fees in kind  contributions bonuses Total
e EHK Bike el
ik EMET SRR TEAT b
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFTT AREFT AREFT AR®TT AR%ETR
Independent non-executive directors;  BM FFHTEE :
Mr. Liu Yi A%LE 150 - - - 150
Ms. Luo Yan (Z&#) Bt 150 - - - 150
Mr. Leung Ho Sun D 150 - - - 150
Total et 450 - - - 450

Notes to Financial Statements

B 75 S R P ot

31 December 2024
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20244 12 A31H

9. Directors’ and Chief Executive’s

Remuneration (Continued)

(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors

and the chief executive

9. EENRBHITHAEFHMN

(#&)
(b) BTES  FUATESRES
THAE

Year ended 31 December 2024

BZ2024F12831 BLLEFE
Salaries,
allowances Pension Performance-
and benefits scheme related
in kind contributions bonuses Total
e 2ER RikE RRIEH
EWEN BE 5 4 st

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT  AR®TRT ARBTRT  AR®TR

Chief executive and executive director: BR{TBRAER

WTE=E:
Mr. Lyu Yixiong BEELE 885 222 - 1,107
Executive directors: WIES:
Ms. Luo Yan (&) BELLT 1,098 222 42 1,362
Ms. Song Yang RAERT 685 222 257 1,164
Mr. Feng Yifeng i vt S 731 222 355 1,308
Subtotal gt 2,514 666 654 3,834
Non-executive directors: FHTEE
Ms. Li Hangiong FEERT - - - -
Mr. Sun Hao BEFRE - - - -
Subtotal Nt - - - -
Total et 3,399 888 654 4,941
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9. Directors’ and Chief Executive’s

Remuneration (Continued)

(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors

and the chief executive (Continued)

Notes to Financial Statements

A7 s et
31 December 2024
20244 12 31 H

9. EENRBHITHAEFHMN

(#4&)

(b) BTES  FUTESERES

THAE (&)

Year ended 31 December 2023

HZ2023F12A31BILEE
Salaries,
allowances Pension  Performance-
and benefits scheme related
inkind  contributions bonuses Total
e ERR RIkE eyl
EWEN SRR Al 5
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARETT ARBTT AR%®TR
Chief executive and executive director: BR1BRAEH
HITEE
Mr. Lyu Yixiong BERELE 459 217 - 676
Executive directors: WTES:
Ms. Luo Yan (Z&3#) ‘R L 1,084 217 42 1,343
Ms. Song Yang RELL 593 217 232 1,042
Mr. Feng Yifeng BEsAE 742 217 355 1,314
Subtotal g 2,419 651 629 3,699
Non-executive directors: FHTES
Ms. Li Hangiong FEELL - - - -
Mr. Sun Hao BERHE - - - -
Subtotal NEF - - - -
Total f@Et 2,878 868 629 4,375

The non-executive directors waived or agreed to waive any

remuneration during the year.

Notes:

(i) Mr. Li Yang was appointed on 30 May 2024.

(if) Mr. Liu Yi was appointed on 21 December 2021 and resigned on 30

May 2024.

FRTEEFCRFAREXRBHNE
RSB

M

() ZEEAER202445 A30AME -

(ii) 215K ER2021F12 A21 BEZ T RN
20245 A30HEHE ©
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2024412 431 A
. = - =l ? -+ [—1]
10. Five Highest Paid Employees 10. BB ;e MES
The five highest paid employees during the year included AFERAERaTNEEDRBEEAR
no directors (2023: none), respectively, details of whose (2023%F : ZT)EE - HBAEZESHEFIBH
remuneration are set out in note 9 above. Details of the REXHFEY « KAFZERA (20234F + A
remuneration for the year of the five (2023: five) highest paid B) ERRRESN &S 5 E B N F B
employees who are not the directors of the Company are as B -
follows:
2024 2023
2024%F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBET T
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e A REDET 5,422 4,093
Pension scheme contributions RIS ET B 956 966
Performance-related bonuses FIRMABEA 503 264
Share-based payment LARE 15 B ETR &) 3R 2,579 4,695
Total HET 9,460 10,018

The number of non-director highest paid employees whose FMERUATHERNNEESTaHNES A

remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows: U
Number of the employees
EEAH

2024 2023
20245 20234

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,001 1,500,001 %8 7L £2,000,001 %8 7T 4

HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,001 2,000,001 #%7C£2,500,001 7T =
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 %72 3,000,000/ 7T 1 1
Total 45 5 5
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11.Income Tax Expense

B 75 S R P ot

31 December 2024

2024F 1231 H
A=F+%4
1. riEFHEX
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®ETT ARETTT

Current — PRC BRER — A EY 128,443 109,824
Current — other jurisdictions BIEf — M el AR 1,223 166
Deferred tax R E (5,993) (12,440)
Total tax charge for the year FRBIBRZ B 123,673 97,550

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on profits
arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in which members of
the Group are domiciled and operate.

PRC Corporate Income Tax

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the EIT
rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% unless those are subject to
tax exemption set out below.

Shanghai Zhongyi Daily Chemical Co., Ltd. was accredited as
an “Advanced Technology Enterprise” from 2024 to 2026, and
therefore Shanghai Zhongyi Daily Chemical Co., Ltd. was entitled
to a preferential EIT rate of 15% for the year. This qualification
is subject to review by the relevant tax authority in the PRC for

every three years.

Certain of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries are qualified as small
and micro enterprises and are entitled to a preferential corporate
income tax rate of 20% during the year.

Hong Kong profits tax
The statutory rate of Hong Kong profits tax was 16.5% for the
year on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong.

AEBARAEEKE RAMEREER
AEEREANREZSHENONBLRE
BEEHMFAER -

Rl FEH
RE(PEARAXMBEERFBE) ([
EMGEE]) R(EEMBBEE KK
By PEMBARNNEEMSHRHEER
25% @ R T XFAEHER B ERRID o

EERAARARIR2024FE2026F
WREARASFEMEE]  BREAFE E
BHRPAELEERAGAIREEREMEH
MEAS%NT - ZEEB=FALH A
AR ISP A% -

AEEETHPEMBERRNENREERN
B RFERAREBELEMGHRKEE20%
R o

BENEH

RER - REBEEGERTNEN
BRNEHEAERER16.56% °
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11.Income Tax Expense (Continued)

Income tax of other jurisdictions
Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates
prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax
at the statutory rate for the jurisdictions in which the Company
and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled and/or operate
to the tax expense at the effective tax rates, and a reconciliation
of the applicable rates (i.e., the statutory tax rates) to the
effective tax rates, are as follows:

M. FERRX (&)

Htp B A EMEH
R B E A BARE R OB IR VIR AR RS RA R
BAEMARETH -

BARRBREKRED KB REPTAER, %
LEMERDAERAER XA B EARK
BATA BRI AR B ERR XA ER
BIRRA X E RA R ERAB X (BEED
) EBERBEOEEROT

2024 2023
2024 F 20234

Note RMB’000 RMB’000
M AR®TRT ARETT

Profit before income tax R BT 1554 B 71 926,970 559,213
Tax at the PRC corporate income 1525% K Bl S FTIS TR

tax rate of 25% MR EHHIA 231,743 139,803
Effect of different tax rates of some BAME AR TR RN TE

subsidiaries (98,997) (37,743)
Expenses not deductible for tax A HF R S 4,781 4,381
Tax losses utilised from previous periods FABTBRAORIESE (332) (220)
Tax losses not recognised FIERBEEE 3,070 3,234
Profits and losses attributable to joint e R N RS

ventures and associates E R E5 18 403 1,501
Additional deductible allowance for research #3% 5 Sz /ZASN O] F1R B 18

and development expenses (i) (16,995) (13,406)
Total tax charge for the year FRHIERZ B 123,673 97,550

(i) Qualified advanced technology enterprise can enjoy super deduction for
eligible research and development expenses for EIT purpose. During the year
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the applicable super deduction rates
were 200% and 200% respectively.
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12.Dividends

Notes to Financial Statements
I RS R 2R MY R T

31 December 2024

2024F 1231 H
JL
12. 1R 2
2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBFR  AREBFT

Interim — RMBO0.75 (2023: RMB0.20)
per ordinary share

Proposed final — RMBO0.75 (2023: RMBO0.75)
per ordinary share

FEIEREBIRAREC75T

(20234 : AR¥0.207T) 298,519 79,592
BORREBASREBRARE

0.757C (2023%F : AR

0.757T) 298,519 298,468
597,038 378,060
The dividends paid in 2024 and 2023 were RMB511,542,000 2024 F R2023F X MR E D Rl B AR

and RMB179,081,000, respectively.

511,542,000 & A R#179,081,0007T °

The proposed final dividend for the year ended 31 December HZE2024F12 A31 A - FE A #Kk R B %
2024 is subject to the approval of the Company’s shareholders BARFARARFEREERTRAFAE L

at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

HEE -

Y

13.Earnings Per Share Attributable 13.8ASEBEHFHE AR
to Ordinary Equity Holders of the LERER
Parent
The calculation of the basic earnings per share amounts is based BRERNBFSENZTQAREBERDF
on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders BABEFEAFERRFANZEITEIINE
of the parent, and the weighted average number of ordinary AR hnE 19 £397,985,656 1% (20234 :
shares of 397,985,656 (2023: 397,911,329) outstanding during 397,911,329/%) 5T &5 H -
the year.
The Group had no potentially dilutive shares in issue during the AEBEREE20249F % 2023%F12H31H

years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

IEFERWEEA D ETEEE TN -
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31 December 2024
20244 12 A31H

13.Earnings Per Share Attributable 13.’( ’D\H@iiﬁ%%ﬁﬁﬁkﬁﬁ
%

to Ordinary Equity Holders of the

Parent (Continued)

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on:

BRERBATIREATHENE

2024 2023
2024%F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT
Earnings &F|
Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of AR EEREARRFIR
the parent, used in the basic earnings per share AR EBERFEAA
calculation: AR FE - 781,205 461,104
Number of shares
R EE
2024 2023
2024 % 20234
Shares &
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in AR EEREARRT
outstanding during the year used in the basic FREETE B INE
earnings per share calculation T8 397,985,656 397,911,329
Basic and diluted earnings per share (RMB) BREARREERT
(AR®TT) 1.96 1.16
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31 December 2024

202441231 H
14.Property, Plant and Equipment 14. 9% - ERXE
Furniture,
Plant and Motor fixtures and Leasehold  Construction
Buildings machinery vehicles equipment improvements  in progress Total
BA BE%E
BF  HERER AE Lk BENERE fRIE &3t

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR  ARETn  AR®TR  ARETn  ARBTR  ARETn  AR¥TR

31 December 2024 20245123311
At 1 January 2024; Ro0uE1A18 -
Cost R 527,800 225,281 38,015 37,056 60,730 764 889,646
Accumulated depreciation and ZEERAE

impairment (101,728 (104,239) (16,026) (26,075 (@7.470) - (923
Net carrying amount EHFE 426,075 121,043 21,989 10,981 13,560 764 504,412

At 1 January 2024, net of accumulated  #82024%E1 18

depreciation and impaiment TREHNERE 426,075 121,043 21,989 10,981 13,560 764 594,412
Additions AE 9,690 14,205 8,074 6,576 7,224 110,679 156,448
Disposals e (63) (6,265) (2,034) (265) - - (8,627
Depreciation provided during the year ~ EREHENE (25,202) (23,365) (7,802) (5,014) (2,354) - (63,737)
Transfers g% 5,481 16,835 - 945 - (23,261) -
Bxchange realignment EX#% (2,256) (2,007) (16) (139) - - (4,418)
At 31 December 2024, net of R20245128318 -

acoumulated depreciation and TR EHTERRE

impairment 413,725 120,446 20,211 13,084 18,430 88,182 674,078
At 31 December 2024: R2024E12 8318
Cost A 540,652 248,049 44,039 44173 67,954 88,182 1,033,049
Accumulated depreciation and ZEHERAE

impaiment (126927)  (127,609) (23,828) (31,089) (49,524) )
Net carying amount EEEE 13725 120,446 20211 13,084 18430 88,182 674,078
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31 December 2024
20244 12 A31H

14.Property, Plant and Equipment 14.43% - BENRE (&)
(Continued)

Fumniture,
Plant and Motor fixtures and Leasehold  Construction
Buildings machinery vehicles equipment  improvements in progress Total
BB kg
BF  BRREE e & BEMERE AR a5t

RMBOOO  RMBO00  RMBOOO  RMBOO0  RMBO00  RMBOOD  RMB'OD
ARRTL  ARBTR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR ARETR  ARBTR

31 December 2023 2023E12831H
At 1 January 2023 202351718
Cost R 501,946 211,864 24,489 30,773 49,316 10,730 829,118
Accumulated depreciation and ZiERAE

impaiment (76,709) (81,769) (10,198) (22,008) (37,185) S 8)
Net carrying amount BHFE 425,237 130,095 14,291 8,767 12,131 10,730 601,251

At 1 January 2023, net of accumulated 5820231818 »

depreciation and impairment TR EHTERRE 495,237 130,095 14,291 8,767 12,131 10,730 601,251
Additions AE 25,201 3,483 16,771 5818 5,163 10,371 66,807
Disposals e - (211) (3,284) (189) - - (3,628)
Depreciation provided during the year  ERHENE 25,016) (22,469) (5,828) (4,069) (9,985) - (67,367)
Transfers - 1,798 10,932 - 725 6,251 (19,706) -
Exchange realignment EiAE (1,145) (787) (11) 77 - (631) (2,651)
At 31 December 2023, net of R2023E 128318 -

accumulated depreciation and TBEHTERRE

impairment 426,075 121,043 21,989 10,981 13,560 764 594,412
At 31 December 2023; R2023F 128318 :

Cost A 527,800 225,281 38,015 37,056 60,730 764 889,646
Accumulated depreciation and ZEERAE

impairment (10175 (104,239) (16,026) (26,075) @170 - 93

Net carrying amount EmFE 426,075 121,043 21,989 10,981 13,560 764 594,412
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15.Investment Properties

Industrial properties

B 75 S R P ot

31 December 2024

2024F 1231 H
JL > e
15. R EWE
TEYHE
2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARBET T

As at 1 January 2024 R2024%F1 A1 H 8,065 9,286
Depreciation charge WEEH (1,236) (1,221)
As at 31 December 2024 R2024%F12A31H 6,829 8,065

The Group’s investment properties are measured using a cost
model and depreciated to write off their costs net of estimated
residual values over their estimated useful lives on a straight-line
basis.

The Group’s investment properties are located on the land in the
PRC with a land use right period from 2009 to 2054.

Fair value of the investment properties as at the end of the year
is as follows:

AEBNREMERBRAENGE - A
BEGOREE G A E R FHAMEEK
A (FNERfGEHRIE) EITIE -

AREBNKREMEMNPE LM F - +
i FRAE HAMR A 2009 FF £ 2054 4F ©

RAFEREEMEOAFHEWT

As at As at

31 December 31 December
2024 2023
720245 20234
12A31H 12 A31H
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARBT T

Investment properties in the PRC

RPENREYE

116,250 123,200
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31 December 2024
20244 12 A31H

15. Investment Properties (Continued)

Industrial properties (Continued)

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties as at 31
December 2024 and 2023 are determined by the valuations
conducted by Avista Valuation Advisory Ltd, an independent
valuer. Under the valuation models, an income-based approach
has been adopted for industrial properties.

The income approach is based on the rental income of the
properties derived from the existing leases and/or achievable
in the existing market with due allowance for the reversionary
income potential of the leases, which have been then capitalized
to determine the market value at an appropriate capitalization
rate.

The fair value estimations for the owner-occupied properties
were at Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

The fair value measurement is based on the above properties’
highest and best use, which does not differ from their actual
use.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, there were no
transfers into or out of Level 3 or any other level.

The investment properties are leased to third parties under
operating leases, further summary details of which are included
in note 16.

At 31 December 2024, no investment properties with net
carrying amounts (2023: RMB8,065,000) were pledged to
secure general banking facilities granted to the Group (note 28).

216 | Shanghai Chicmax Cosmetic Co., Ltd. £ (b RN ER AT

15. REV= (&

T (&)
AEEREMENR2024F £ 2023F 12 A
31 B &) A T {E B %8 314 (8 A 2 5T 7
AERABETHMEET - RIBHER
A TEMERBRAEEITHE -

WAEDERRBEHERSR  IRRE
M LA BERNMERSWA - A%
FHEMNERBABNFELESRE M
EHHERRDHEEMNER L RET
BARNEEME -

EXEAVENRATEGTARATFEER
E=M o

ATEHBDHER LRNENSEREE
RREL EHARRESHEEARY
T -

REZE2024F12 831 B ILFE @ HEE A
HEHE =PRI EMBER -

REMERBKEHELETE=D7 H
E— B FHBHNME6

202412 8318 WEMEAREFE
(20234 : AR#8,065,0007T) &Y
XEEER  UERAEEERNH KRR
1ENE (KizE28) ©



Notes to Financial Statements

A7 s et
31 December 2024
20244 12 31 H

16.Leases 16. &

The Group as a lessee

The Group as a lessee has lease contracts for items of office
premises, plant and machinery and other equipment used in its
operations. Lump sum payments were made upfront to acquire
the leased land from the owners with lease periods of 50 years,
and no ongoing payments will be made under the terms of these
land leases. Leases of office premises and plant generally have
lease terms between 2 and 10 years, while equipment generally
has lease terms of 5 years.

REBEREBEA
AEBERABAREELMEROHRA
BEFT - MEREEREMRERBTAR
EAR - REBEDREAFL — KRR IR
METWBHEE T - BH/505 > MR
BEZETHHEENGR ST EEEN
ERIF0R » WARARBEHER—KRA2
E10F > MERBOHEBN—RA5F -

(a) Right-of-use assets (@) FHAEEE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets AEBFRBEENREEEBERREA
and the movements during the year are as follows: WEBBERIT
Office
Leasehold premises
land and plant Equipment Total
HEL WAEFREBE B} @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT ARBTR AREFR ARET R
31 December 2024 2024F12831H
As at 1 January 2024 #H2024F1 A1 H 69,253 60,382 1,536 131,171
Additions "B 8,586 24,107 - 32,693
Depreciation charge HEER (1,615) (35,596) (990) (38,201)
As at 31 December 2024 #H2024F12 A31H 76,224 48,893 546 125,663
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31 December 2024
20244 12 A31H

16. Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

16. %

2 (E

-

REBEREBEA ()

(a) Right-of-use assets (Continued) () FHEEE(E)
Office
premises

Leasehold land and plant Equipment Total
HELH RRAERMEEE B st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFTT AREFT ARETT ARBFT

31 December 2023 2023%12831H
As at 1 January 2023 #2023F1A1H 70,868 71,100 2,526 144,494
Additions E - 15,952 - 15,952
Depreciation charge NEER (1,615) (26,670) (990) (29,275)
As at 31 December 2023 #H2023F12 A31H 69,253 60,382 1,536 131,171

(b) Lease liabilities (b) HEEE
The carrying amounts of lease liabilities and the HEEENEIAERRFANESE
movements during the year are as follows: ST

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T AREFTT
Carrying amount at beginning of year REYREE 65,566 77,829
New leases e 24,107 15,952
Accretion of interest recognised during the year — FRIERHF| S IL 18 3,111 4,026
Payments NN (41,193) (32,241)
Carrying amount at end of year RERKEE 51,591 65,566
Current portion BNEREE 7 42,143 29,763
Non-current portion JERNEAES 9,448 35,803

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note

32 to the financial statements.
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16. Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to
leases are as follows:

A7 s et
31 December 2024
20244 12 31 H

16.7HE (&

AEBFEREEA (&)
(c) MERBINWHESAEIEMNT

2024 2023
2024%F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETIT
Interest on lease liabilities HEAGENE 3,111 4,026
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets ERREEEFTEER 38,201 29,275
Expense relating to short-term leases and leases 2455 HAFA & MR EEEE
of low-value assets leases FAEHBENAY 3,457 1,308
Total amount recognised in profit or loss RE= FOpteat-c] 44,769 34,609
The Group as a lessor REBEEREHEA

The Group leases its investment properties (note 15) consisting
of one industrial property located on the land in the PRC under
operating lease arrangements since 2021. The terms of the
leases generally require the tenants to pay security deposits
and provide for periodic rent adjustments according to the
then prevailing market conditions. Rental income recognised
by the Group during the year was RMB7,386,000 (2023:
RMB7,338,000).

B2021 6 AEERBLEEHELYM
ERREME (MiE15)  ERBE—IEM
Rz ETEYE - HEKR—
MERBELIMNRES  UREERAT
NERARAERS - FREERFADERE
LU A B ARKE7,386,0007T (20234 :
AR¥7,338,0007T) °
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31 December 2024

2024412 531 H
16.Leases (Continued) 16.1HE (&
The Group as a lessor (Continued) AEBEALEA (B)
At 31 December 2024, the undiscounted lease payments R2024F12A31H » AEEREBEEBEFKN
receivable by the Group in future periods under operating leases KEREEARREEER A ARIRAER
with its tenants are as follows: AT
As at As at
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
R2024%F 20234
12A31H 12H31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARKEFTT
Within one year —FR 7,881 7,615
After one year but within two years —FREMFER 7,996 7,881
After two years but within three years WMEFEREB=FR 8,275 7,537
After three years but within four years ZFERENFER 8,396 8,275
After four years but within five years WEREREA 8,689 8,396
After five years HF%E 11,482 22,321

52,719 62,025
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Notes to Financial Statements
I RS R 2R MY R T

31 December 2024

2024412314
2 S
17. Hh B EE
Software Others Total
B Hitb #Et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARBTR AR®TR

At 31 December 2024

Cost at 1 January 2024, net of

72024%F12831H

R2024%F1 A1 BHIRAS -

accumulated amortisation OBk R 5T 5 14,689 2,171 16,860
Additions NE - 586 586
Disposals HeE - (1,161) (1,161)
Amortisation provided during the year A &T e (2,770) (4) (2,774)
At 31 December 2024 2024412 A31H 11,919 1,592 13,511

Software Others Total
B Efh a5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT AREBETT AREBTET

31 December 2023

Cost at 1 January 2023, net of

2023512831 H

72023%F1 A1 BHYAAS -

accumulated amortisation Nk Ret#ss 17,236 2,188 19,424
Additions NE 187 417 604
Disposals H& ) (429 (431)
Amortisation provided during the year A &T e (2,732) (5) (2,737)
At 31 December 2023 72023412 4318 14,689 2,171 16,860
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31 December 2024

2024412531 A
. . J~J~ A ST
18. Investment in Joint Ventures 18. REELENKRE
2024 2023
20244 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREFT
Share of net assets [EIEEEFE 429 2,698
The following table illustrates the aggregate financial information TRHAPAEFLIFBERANAEEEE D
of the Group’s joint ventures that are not individually material: ENETHBEER
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREFTT
Share of the joint venture’s loss for the year ElheeatEFREE (3,889) (4,652)
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s AEBREETLER
investment in the joint ventures HEMELEEE 429 2,698
. . JJ\ SApr
19.Investments in Associates 19. REE A EIIRE
The following table illustrates the aggregate financial information THRHAAGENIIEBEROAREREZQ
of the Group’s associates that are not individually material: AR AT ER
2024 2023
20244 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREFT
Share of the associates’ profit/(loss) for the year JE{G B N RIFERNFE,
(&) 2,276 (1,358)
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s AEEREE R AINIRER
investments in the associates A HERAEE 109,667 64,184
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31 December 2024

202441231 H
20. Deferred Tax 20. IEIERL IR
The movements in deferred tax assets during the year are as AREEMELERIEEEZBNT
follows:
Deferred tax assets EEHEERE
Year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F12A31 BILEE
Losses
Impairment  available for
loss on offsetting  Impairment
financial ~ against future loss on Accrued  Unrealised
assets  taxable profits  inventories expense profits Others Total
AHEERR
HEEE HEB B# it AERAE At &5

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETT ARBTRL  ARETR  AR¥TR ARETR  ARETR ARETR

At 1 January 2024 720241 A 18 3,850 34,078 8,311 3,014 35,534 37,979 122,766
Deferred tax (charged)/ ER(NGE)/HAERD

credited to profit or ERHE

loss during the year 600 (2,899 ) O61) 36618 (18939 13953

Gross deferred tax assets at 72024512 A31 BRY
31 December 2024 BEREEELE 4,450 31,185 7,839 2,053 72,152 19,040 136,719

Year ended 31 December 2023

HE02F12A31AILFE
Losses
Impairment available for
oss on offsetting  Impairment
financial  against future loss on Accrued Unrealised
assets  taxable profits inventories expense profits Others Total
AREHRR
SREE FERRH A FERfE
HEEE MR B EitFx  RERAE At it

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RWMB'000  RMB'000
ARETT ARETT  AR%TR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR

At 1 January 2023 #2023%1 A1H 10,205 34,629 6,507 3,400 33,317 21,435 109,493
Deferred tax (charged)/ ER(NBRE) /A

credited to profit or BRNELERE

loss during the year (6,355) (551) 1,804 (386) 2,217 16,544 13,273

Gross deferred tax assets at ~ 72023F12 A31H4
31 December 2023 B EEELE 3,850 34,078 8,311 3,014 35,634 37,979 122,766
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31 December 2024

2024412 4314
20. Deferred Tax (Continued) 20. EFERLIE (4B
The movements in deferred tax liabilities during the year are as AEERMELEHRIBEEZSHHT -
follows:
Deferred tax liabilities ELHREBEEE
Year ended 31 December 2024
HZ2024F 12831 ALLEE
Fair value
adjustments of
financial assets
at fair value
Accelerated through profit
tax depreciation or loss Others Total
BOFEFABR
MEREREN
MEBERE ALERE Hith @z
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AR¥BTR ARBT R ARET T
At 1 January 2024 #2024F1 A1 H 9,654 - 171 9,825
Deferred tax (charged)/credited FR(NBRE)/FA
to profit or loss during the year BREETHE 5,055 2,908 ®) 7,960
Deferred tax liabilities at 72024612 A31 B &
31 December 2024 EEHEAR 14,709 2,908 168 17,785
Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12A31ALFE
Fair value
adjustments of
financial assets
at fair value
Accelerated through profit
tax depreciation or loss Others Total
BATEFAER
MeREEN
MERBIENE ATERE Hth 5
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFT ARBTFT AREFL AREFT
At 1 January 2023 #2023F1A1H 8,849 - 143 8,992
Deferred tax charged to profitor ~ FRIHEBERN
loss during the year ERERIE 805 - 28 833
Deferred tax liabilities at #R2023F12 A31HH
31 December 2023 ERBEAE 9,654 - 171 9,825
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20. Deferred Tax (Continued)

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and
liabilities have been offset in the statements of financial position.
The following is an analysis of the deferred tax balances of the
Group for financial reporting purposes:

A7 s et
31 December 2024
20244 12 31 H

0. EIERI A (&

RENME HETREREEERAED
REBIRRR AL - REBEMBIRS
RZMEERBREBRITNT ¢

2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTFT ARBTT

Net deferred tax assets recognised in the R & AR R R

consolidated statement of financial position

FIERIBE EFE 118,934 112,941

As at 31 December 2024, deferred tax assets have not
been recognised in respect of tax losses of RMB242,000
(2023: RMB56,000) and deductible temporary differences of
RMB17,000 (2023: RMB42,000) arising in Mainland China,
which will expire in one to five years for offsetting against future
taxable profits.

As at 31 December 2024, deferred tax assets have not been
recognised in respect of tax losses of RMB13,268,000 (2023:
RMB22,682,000) and deductible temporary differences of
RMB242,000 (2023: RMB457,000) arising in other jurisdictions,
which will expire in one to ten years for offsetting against future
taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose.

2024512 A31H » WERRHBEAME
EMFIEE B ARK242,0007T (20234 -
AR #56,0007T) BA K AT {1 B I 1 2= 28
AER#17,0007T (20234 : AR# 42,000
T RIBELEHIEEE - ZEREHR—Z
TF AR R SH AR SR E SR A AR o

2024 F12 A31H « WERNEMAE
R EEMTIEEE AR 13,268,0007T
(20234 : AR#22,682,0007T) LA K A]
R E B 1 E R AR 242,000t (2023
F: AR¥457,00070) (BR—E+FA
B AREHEEEEARRKER
BADE) BRIBERIBEE -
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31 December 2024

2024F 12431 H
- A
21. Inventories 21. 78
2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFR  ARETT
Raw materials JE AR 160,253 116,030
Work in progress EE 21,371 16,664
Finished goods BURK 509,015 378,063
Total HEE 690,639 510,757
. . j=w2) =+
22.Trade and Bills Receivables 22. BES RINFER ENEE
2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREF T AREF T
Trade receivables E 5 EGRIE 439,090 329,453
Bills receivable U= 905 3,798
Impairment BUE (14,438) (12,005)
Trade and bills receivables, net H W ERTE R
EWE R FRE 425,557 321,246

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly
payment in advance, except for certain major customers, where
is normally on credit. The credit period is generally due within
45 to 90 days. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over
its outstanding receivables and has a credit control department
to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly
by senior management. The Group does not hold any collateral
or other credit enhancements over its trade receivable balances.
Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing. Bills receivable are
non-interest-bearing and have a maturity period ranging from
1 to 180 days for the financial years ended 31 December 2023
and 31 December 2024.
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22.Trade and Bills Receivables

(Continued)

The net value of the Group’s trade and bills receivables due
from the Group’s related parties is further detailed in note 35 to
the financial statements, which are repayable on credit terms
similar to those offered to the major customers of the Group.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the bills receivable
with right of recourse of the Group were RMB905,000 and
RMB3,798,000, respectively, were paid to certain of its
suppliers in order to settle the trade payables due to some
suppliers. In the opinion of the directors, the Group has retained
the substantial risks and rewards, which include default risks
relating to such endorsed bills, and accordingly, it continued to
recognise the full carrying amounts of the endorsed bills and the
associated trade payables settled. The expected credit losses
rate for bills receivable is assessed to be immaterial, and thus
the loss allowance is immaterial.

An ageing analysis of the Group’s trade receivables and bills
receivable as at the end of the reporting period, based on the
invoice date and net of loss allowance, is as follows:

22.

A7 s et
31 December 2024
20244 12 31 H

BEZRUWHERERERE

&)

REEEWE BT 0B 5 R UYGRIE R &
WREBFENMBREMEISE—FF
- ARERNARETERFPRHEMRS
(= R RN EE

R2024F % 2023F 12 A31H - AEEH
NTEETHERNAEBRERBKERS
BB ARE905,0007T kAR 3,798,000
T NEBRMNE D HERNE S ENR
B BERA AEBRBABEAR K
EfR (RFHEZESEEZRERNENR
n) - At EEERRESEZBRN2HERE
BEREEEEBEZEMNFIE - BERE
WEMEEEBEREIGATER Bt
BERBHLTERX -

2024 2023

2024 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T AREF T

Within 1 year 1FER 419,137 309,517
Over 1 year 1M 6,420 11,729
Total st 425,557 321,246
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31 December 2024
20244 12 A31H

22.Trade and Bills Receivables
(Continued)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

22.BE5 EINFENREKRERE

’\

:l_—
m:
/I )

B RWFIENREBEEEZSNT

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARETT

At beginning of year iNCE) 12,005 34,197
Impairment losses, net RIEBEFE 6,803 (17,698)
Amount written off as uncollectible i E AT AT U 13 ) & B (4,370) (4,494)
At end of year RER 14,438 12,005

The increase in the loss allowance in 2024 was mainly due to
the significant increase in the balance of trade receivables.

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The
provision rates are based on ageing on invoice for groupings
of various customer segments with similar loss patterns. The
calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time
value of money and reasonable and supportable information
that is available at the reporting date about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

The Group writes off trade receivables when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulties
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example,
when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has
entered into bankruptcy proceedings, whichever occurs sooner,
also taking into account legal advice where appropriate.
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31 December 2024
20244 12 31 H

22.Trade and Bills Receivables 22.BZEWFEREKEE

- e —d
(Continued) (%)
Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure TRV AEEFABEBEEEBAERESE
on the Group's trade receivables using a provision matrix: SEWFIEN AR ER
As at 31 December 2024 K2024F 12 A31H
Less than
1 year 1 to 2 years 2 to 3 years Over 3 years Total
155 R 1228 2E3F 3FHNL st
Expected credit loss rate ~ BHIEEEREE 1% 15% 70% 100% 3%
Gross carrying amount  BREZE (ARETT)
(RMB'000) 422,847 7,069 1,323 7,851 439,090
Expected credit losses BHEEERE (ARETT)
(RMB'000) 4,615 1,049 923 7,851 14,438
As at 31 December 2023 K2023F 12831 H
Less than
1 year 110 2 years 2 to 3 years Over 3 years Total
TENR 1526 2B3F 3ELE FEE
Expected credit loss rate ~ TEHIEEHEER 1% 16% 66% 100% 49
Gross carrying amount FREE(ARETT)
(RMB'000) 308,852 11,917 4,908 3,776 329,453
Expected credit losses BHEEER (ARETT)
(RMB'000) 3,132 1,866 3,231 3,776 12,005
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31 December 2024
20244 12 A31H

23.Prepayments, Other Receivables 23.F8{J71E + HtEIKFRIAE

and Other Assets KEMERE
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARETT

Deductible input VAT A HRGE BRI E 102,381 71,066
Corporate income tax recoverable AU Bl 1 PSR 620 2,437
Right-of-return assets W& E 1,026 558
Deposits and other receivables e N H AR IE 145,579 66,251
Other financial assets included in prepayments FHATE RUIB B E A FE U
and other receivables FOARH A & R 28,935 21,176
Prepayments TEfTFIA 369,649 129,041
Others HAth 5,044 44,121
Impairment allowance ERE (2,363) (2,838)
Current portion BNHEAER 9 650,871 331,812
Rental deposits HELe 11,840 10,213
Prepayments TEfRT IR 64,806 8,737
Non-current portion JERNERER 76,646 18,950
Total 5T 727,517 350,762
As at the end of the reporting period, other receivables of REE R - NEE A H b EWFRIBHE R
the Group are considered to be of low credit risk and thus AEBEBREMNEARRE B ASEEDF
the Group has assessed that the ECL for other receivables is HE AW RIEMTEREEEEL12ME A
immaterial under the 12-month expected credit loss method. TEHEEEEETETERX -
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24.Financial Assets at Fair
through Profit or Loss

Notes to Financial Statements
I RS R 2R MY R T

-

31 December 2024
20244 12 31 H

Value 24.QFEFABEZNEH
/5%5

2024 2023

2024%F 2023%F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARBET T

Listed equity investments LA 118,031 -
Wealth management products B Em 126,293 318,042
Current portion BVERES 5 244,324 216,812
Non-current portion FERNERER > - 101,230

The above equity investments were classified as financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss as they were held for trading.

The above unlisted investments were wealth management
products issued by licensed financial institutions. They were
mandatorily classified as financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss as their contractual cash flows are not solely
payments of principal and interest. The underlying investments
of the current portion financial assets were primarily short-term

treasury bonds and principal protected securities, which were RBREREEE

very liquid with a relatively short-term maturity and the expected

returns are based on actual performance.

LR ERD BRI A FEFAER

FRAFLEHEE/FER S RMBRITHIE
MER AEANRERELFERZN
AERME - MEgEs o EARAFE
ABHNERMEE - TREENHHOH
HERETERNHBEERRARES &
mEIREE - Emn@NtR - ARHEER
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31 December 2024
20244 12 A31H

25.Cash and Cash Equivalents and

Pledged Deposits

B5. B RATEBYURE

£k
TEF 'T?-/TA
2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BTT ARETT

Cash and cash equivalents BeRAEEEY 459,449 697,689
Total BE 459,449 697,689
2024 2023

2024 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BT T ARETT

Cash and cash equivalents and
restricted cash denominated in

Ao EREHERNR S K
ReZBEPALZEHR S

- RMB — AR¥ 408,811 677,001
- JPY - BT 19,245 5,890
- HKD — B 14,351 12,003
- SGD — FTANE T 13,462 -
- Usb — X 2,107 2,795
- VND —HEE 1,473 -
Total wEt 459,449 697,689

At the ending of the reporting period, the cash and bank
balances of the Group denominated in JPY, HKD, SGD, USD,
and VND amounted to RMB19,245,000 (2023: RMB5,890,000),
RMB14,351,000 (2023: RMB12,003,000), RMB13,462,000
(2023: Nil), RMB2,107,000 (2023: RMB2,795,000), and
RMB1,473,000 (2023: Nil), respectively. The RMB is not
freely convertible into other currencies, however, under
Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, and Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB
for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign
exchange business.
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25.Cash and Cash Equivalents and

Pledged Deposits (Continued)

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. Short-term time deposits are made
for varying periods of between one day and three months
depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group
and earn interest at the respective short-term time deposit rates.
The bank balances are deposited with creditworthy banks with
no recent history of default.

26. Trade Payables

An ageing analysis of trade payables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

25.

26.

A7 s et
31 December 2024
20244 12 31 H

ReRPSZEMLRE
A1k ()

FRI|BITNRSERT HRITFERF EZ
BRI REREA S o 2 HEHFREFR
HNF—HEZEALE  REAEED
BRI B RME - IR EH 2 HERF
R R BRERA B - RAT A BRTF RO IE B
BRI B E B RIFHOIRTT ©

B ENRE

RBEARNEZERNRBERERAS
B ERER DTN

2024 2023

20244 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT AREET T

Within 1 year 16 R 637,926 517,731

Over 1 year 16 LA 481 882

Total st 638,407 518,613
The amount of the Group’s trade payables due to the Group’s AEBEERNAEEREHE S EMNRER

related parties is disclosed in note 35, which represents credit
terms similar to those offered by the Group’s related parties to
their major customers.

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally
settled within 6 months.

SR T35 (B 15 A B AN SR (B BA B 07 )
HIBRPIRHEERS) HE -

BZRNFKENGE

o

pilé

— iR e ME A A&

o
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31 December 2024
20244 12 A31H

& >
27.0ther Payables, Accruals and Other 27. E#ENFIE « B EH
e R =
Current Liabilities NKEMREEE
2024 2023
2024%F 2023%F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt ARETT AREFIT
Current BN ER
Contract liabilities AHAaE 0] 38,398 38,824
VAT and other tax payables REH R H A ER IR 50,188 41,098
Staff payroll and welfare payables ERNETTERER 64,365 48,735
Dividend payables FERT AR B 85,445 -
Accrued operating expenses JERHEE A Y 195,114 104,707
Payables for purchase of property, BEME - BERK
plant and equipment FETFR 4,746 5,259
Deposits birecra (ii) 26,969 23,051
Others HAh, 6,918 5,150
Total current portion BVERER > 25T 472,143 266,824
Non-current JEENHER
Deferred government grants RS TR AT 7 B 10,516 12,391
Total “Et 482,659 279,215
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A7 s et
31 December 2024
20244 12 31 H

27.0ther Payables, Accruals and Other 27.HME{FIE - EEEIE A

Current Liabilities (Continued) REMRBEE (&
(i)  Detalils of contract liabilities are as follows: () BHEENFBEOT
2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBFR  AREBFT

Advance payments from customers BEEBENFE 27,610 25,678
Sales rebates pi=g=S IR 10,788 13,146
Total #aEt 38,398 38,824
(i)  Deposits mainly represent deposits from customers at the (i) REeFZERSFERNEFPES -

end of each year.

Except for the aforementioned deposits, other payables Br biiig @b - HAab A RIBE &R
are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. W RERBEREREE -
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B 75 i M ek
31 December 2024
20244 12 A31H

28.Interest-bearing Bank and Other

28. 5T ERITREMER

Borrowings
2024 2023
20245 20234
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
(%) Maturity RMB’000 (%) Maturity RMB’000
BIRAIE (%) B ARBTR  ERME%) g ARBTR
Current Eﬂﬁﬁ
Bank loans - secured - BER - - - 2.50-3.55 2024 100,008
Bank loans - unsecured ﬁ‘%“ﬂ BER 1.71-3.00 2025 60,080 - - -
Total st 60,080 100,008
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREET T
Analysed into: ST -
Bank loans repayable: JEEEIRITER
Within one year or on demand 1 F R B RkEF 60,080 100,008
Total #Et 60,080 100,008
Notes: Bz
As at 31 December 2024, certain of the Group’s bank loans amounting to R2024F12 8318 » AEBENE FTHRITERNOT

(i) RMB60,000,000 were guaranteed by the Group with interest rates of 1.71%

to 3.00%.

As at 31 December 2023, certain of the Group’s bank loans amounting to

(i) RMB40,000,000 were secured by mortgages over the Group’s investment
properties with net carrying values of approximately RMB8,065,000 with
interest rates of 3.40% (note 15).

(ii) RMB60,000,000 were guaranteed by the Group with interest rates of 2.5%

to 3.55%.
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31 December 2024

2024F 1231 H
29. Share Capital 29. g 7x
Shares [iign
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ET T AREET T
Issued and fully paid: BEITRETE
398,024,940 ordinary shares of 398,024,940% (20234 :
RMB1.00 each (2023: 397,957,900) 397,957,9005% ) G A%

ARA1.0070H) E A% 398,025 397,958

A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital is as RARRASEHMNT

follows:

Number of
shares in issue

Share capital

2EITRHMEE B
RMB’000
AR®TF T

At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 R2023F12 A31 B &
20241 A1H 397,957,900 397,958
Share issued during the year FREBEITRG 67,040 67
At 31 December 2024 H2024% 12 A31H 398,024,940 398,025
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31 December 2024
20244 12 A31H

30. Share Incentive Schemes

Mr. Lyu Yixiong has implemented 5 share incentive schemes
(hereinafter referred to as “plan I” to “plan V”) through the
shareholding platform controlled by the controlling shareholder
of the Group, to encourage and reward people who contribute
to the operation of the Group. Eligible persons include directors
and other employees of the Group.

In March 2021, 3 employees (including directors) of the Group
entered into an agreement (plan V) with Mr. Lyu Yixiong Under
this agreement, Mr. Lyu Yixiong granted these 3 employees
1,080,000 shares of the Company with no vesting period.

In March 2021, 43 employees of the Group entered into an
agreement (plan V) with Mr. Lyu Yixiong. Under this agreement,
Mr. Lyu Yixiong granted these 43 employees 4,176,000 shares
of the Company with vesting periods dated from 1 January 2021
to 31 December 2024.

In March 2021, 4 employees entered into an agreement (plan
V) with Mr. Lyu Yixiong which is deemed as modification to the
terms and conditions of plan Ill.

In August 2021, 1 employee of the Group entered into an
agreement (plan V) with Mr. Lyu Yixiong. Under this agreement,
Mr. Lyu Yixiong granted this employee 72,000 shares of the
Company with vesting periods dated from 1 January 2021 to 31
December 2024.

In August 2021, 3 employees (including directors) of the Group
entered into an agreement (plan V) with Mr. Lyu Yixiong. Under
this agreement, Mr. Lyu Yixiong granted these 3 employees
108,000 shares of the Company with vesting periods dated from
1 January 2021 to 31 December 2024.
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30.Share Incentive Schemes

(Continued)

In July 2022, 4 employees of the Group entered into an
agreement (plan V) with Mr. Lyu Yixiong. Under this agreement,
Mr. Lyu Yixiong granted these 4 employees 198,000 shares of
the Company with vesting periods dated from 1 July 2022 to 30
June 2026.

In July 2022, 1 employee of the Group entered into an
agreement (plan V) with Mr. Lyu Yixiong. Under this agreement,
Mr. Lyu Yixiong granted this employee 108,000 shares of the
Company with vesting periods dated from 1 July 2022 to 31
December 2024.

The Company has implemented new share incentive scheme
(hereinafter referred to as “plan VI”), to encourage and reward
people who contribute to the operation of the Group. Eligible
persons include directors and other employees of the Group.

During the year, 7 employees of the Group entered into an
agreement (plan VI) with the Company. Under this agreement,
the Company granted these employees 67,040 shares of the
Company with no vesting periods.

Shares confer rights on the holders to dividends and to vote at
shareholders’ meetings.

A7 s et
31 December 2024
20244 12 31 H

30. R EBET & (A&

202267 H - REB4REEREREL
EEI i (FHEIV) - REBZHE - ax
WS R Fi4% 1R 8 198,000 % A A AR
19 - BREBHIA2022F7 A1 HE2026F6 A
308 -

20226 7H - AEB1REEHREEMHL
ERIS i (FHEIV) - IRBZIGE - =&k
TR T %% EEB 108,000 A A AIG -
5B A2022F7 A1 HZE2024F 12 A31
H o

ARRC BN ABE AT EHE
[EHEIVI]) - NS B R R A B S EE
HEBWAL - AERALBEAKEE
EREMES -

FRAKE7TREEEARAGLIHH

(FHEIVD) - RIEZBE - ARAERTRE
BB 67,040 EEFE MM A RE RN o

R T E ARDR S RRRES LR
SRR -
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31 December 2024
20244 12 A31H

30.Share Incentive Schemes 30.0%70¥BE2 (&
(Continued)

The following share incentive is outstanding under the “plan I” to REA - [FFEN] = [EEIVIIE T HARITE
“plan VI” during the year: B D BRI T
2024 2023
20245 20234
Weighted Weighted
average average
subscription subscription
price RMB Number of price RMB Number of
per share shares per share shares
hnrE pilk::3
FHRBE FHREE

BRAR®T ROBE SRAR®T Mt &8

At 1 January ®W1A1H 1 12,189,600 1 12,477,600
Granted during the year RERFH 38 67,040 - -
Forfeited during the year R F AR 1 (144,046) 1 (288,000)
At 31 December ®12A31H 1 12,112,594 1 12,189,600
The fair values of the share incentive schemes granted FARLEHOBRODEBAENATFEREAR
during the year was RMB2,572,000 (2023: nil), of which the #2,572,00070 (20234 : &) » AL
Group recognised a share-based compensation expenses of BEREE2024F12A31 B IEFEERA
RMB6,549,000 (2023: RMB4,975,000) during the year ended 31 f& 1 BETE R F B 2 A R%6,549,0007T
December 2024, (20234 : AR#¥4,975,0007T) °
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31.Reserves

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

Share-based payment reserve

The share-based payment reserve represents reserve arisen
from share incentive schemes. Details of the movements in the
share-based payment reserve are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity.

Share premium

The increase in the Group’s share premium for the year was a
result of listing the Company’s shares on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange as described in note 29 to the financial statement.

Statutory reserve

In accordance with the Company Law of the People’s Republic
of China, each company in the PRC is required to allocate 10%
of the statutory after tax profits to the statutory reserve until the
cumulative total of the reserve reaches 50% of the company’s
registered capital. Subject to approval from the relevant PRC
authorities, the statutory reserve may be used to offset any
accumulated losses or increase the registered capital of the
company. The statutory reserve is not available for dividend
distribution to shareholders of the PRC subsidiaries.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve of the Group represents the contribution
from the ultimate holding company and shareholders, business
combinations under the common control and the excess of the
consideration over the carrying amount of the non-controlling
interests acquired. Details of the movements in capital reserve
are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

Exchange fluctuation reserve

The exchange fluctuation reserve represents exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial statements
of foreign operations whose functional currencies are different
from the Group’s presentation currency.

A7 s et
31 December 2024
20244 12 31 H

31. &

AEBRAFERBEFENRESER
HEPRGAREEHRTET) -

KR 7 BEBERIT K # e
SR 15 7 ZE T 4 368 4R IR 15 D
AR - BRI BRI B 5K
rrrrrrr BHHEARGAREEBE -

R 17w 1E
RER - REBRRMDEEL T AR
BT M 29 AT AN A R AR (9 PO B A Bt A2
Ffr ETRFTEL

JEEE
BIE(PEARLMBERRE)  FEER
FERRERIVEEHEFEH10%IIA %
EAES  BEERESRFEEEINR
HMEARES0% o & EE%@E&W-&BF%&
R ETERE RRNEE A REEE
SIEMARWAMER - EZERFETATA
RERBEHNB AR RES RS

B
AEBRNERFEEERBERAARER
MHE ZHRAESNEBSHARKE
BEm B E S RmENERE - &
AREBEDHNFBEANGaREZEHE -

VE 5K Bttt
ERNBHEEEREDNRE SR EAEE 2
IR ARSI RO G RRPESL
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31 December 2024
20244 12 A31H

. = ==
32.Notes to the Consolidated 32.48HRE&REKRM:TE
Statement of Cash Flows
(a) Major non-cash transactions (@ EEHFRERH
During the year, the Group had non-cash additions FA - AEEHEFAGAEBREHEE
to right-of-use assets of RMB32,693,000 (2023: ZHERMNERREEENERSRE
RMB15,952,000), and lease liabilities of RMB24,107,000 BARKE32,693,0007T (20234 : A
(2023:RMB15,952,000), respectively, in respect of lease R#15,052,0007t) F HEEBBEAA
arrangements for office premises and plant. R#24,107,0007T (20234 : AR
15,952,0007T ) °
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) BMETBEENEELEH
activities
2024 2024 %
Interest-bearing
bank and other
borrowings Lease liabilities
FTERITR
HA &K HEAE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT
At 1 January 2024 R2024F1 A1 H 100,008 65,566
Changes from financing cash flows BERSREE (39,928) (46,668)
Interest expense FEFRX - 3,111
Interest paid classified as operating DERAKERESREN
cash flows BB - (8,111)
New leases MEE - 32,693
At 31 December 2024 R2024%12 A31H 60,080 51,591
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31 December 2024
20244 12 31 H

32.Notes to the Consolidated 32.%8BEREERM:T (&)
Statement of Cash Flows

(Continued)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing

activities (Continued)

2023

(b)

20234

Interest-bearing
bank and other

METHELENEERE (F)

borrowings Lease liabilities

FTEIRIT R
HAb &R HEAE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETIT ARBET T
At 1 January 2023 R2023%F1A1H 650,367 77,829
Changes from financing cash flows MERSREEH (550,359) (28,215)
Interest expense FEREZ - 4,026

Interest paid classified as operating DEAKERTREN

cash flows ERFE - (4,026)
New leases g - 15,952
At 31 December 2023 7R2023%12 A31H 100,008 65,566

33. Pledge of Assets

33.%

Details of the Group’s interest-bearing bank loans and other

borrowings, which are secured by the assets of the Group, are

included in note 28 to the financial statements.

EEA

AEBAREEEEFERNGTRRTE
R EMAE RO F BRI B RA M E28 -
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31 December 2024
20244 12 A31H

34. Commitments 34, AR

The Group had the following contractual commitments at the
end of the year:

RER - REBBIATEREG

2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT AREBTRT

Contracted, but not provided for: DETAMB R B
Property, plant and equipment W - BENEE 42,875 19,415
Capital contributions to an associate M E RN REE 153,650 189,984
196,525 209,399
35. Related Party Transactions 35. @R X H
(a) Name and relationship: () & EBREEF:

Name of related party

MBS A8

Relationship with the Group
EAREE N F

Mr. Lyu Yixiong (“ @& 1)

BEELE

Shanghai Misu Cosmetics Co., Ltd. (“ E/#ZIZ{Lm@BERAF")
EEEREARBRAR

Shanghai Shangxin Cosmetics Co., Ltd. (“ /& E#F{biaRBR AR
BBt RER AR

Shanghai biog Co., Ltd. (“ /S ABYILEFEEERAF")
FEABRNETEEERAA

Shanghai Quyi Cosmetics Co., Ltd. (“ B/ —{tAkRER A A"
EEB— (bR BRAR

Suzhou Xiongze Packaging Co., Ltd. (‘BRI HEZ R ER AR

FNEEBRREBRAR"

Yinxi (Shanghai) Cultural Communication Co., Ltd.

(X (L8 X LEEERAR)
BE(L8) ULBERRAR

The controlling shareholder

IR R

Associate

- WNS|

Joint venture

BERE

Joint venture

aBERE

Joint venture

BEDE

Entity controlled by close relatives
of Mr. Lyu Yixiong (before 21
August 2024)

XaBELEEIREHHNER
(74202448 A21 HAT)

Entity controlled by Mr. Lyu Yixiong

XEBEMEEENNER

Suzhou Xiongze Packaging Co., Ltd. was no longer a related party of
the Group after 21 August 2024.
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35.Related Party Transactions
(Continued)

(b) Related party transactions:
The Group had the following transactions with related

35. AR

R (%)

(b) BEEEARS :

R BN R4 B R B

31 December 2024
20244 12 31 H

EITTHIR

parties during the current year: 2
2024 2023
20244 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5T AR®T T AREET T
Associates: iGN
Sales of products HEEM (i) 850 6,712
Joint ventures: BEDE
Sales of products HEEM (i) 24,221 10,190
Service fees R & (ii) 6,904 -
Entities controlled by of Mr. Lyu Yixiong: 5 &L AT HIH EEE
Purchases of products HBEEM (iii), (iv) 2,738 -
An entity controlled by close relatives = M ST A BT R I AY
of Mr. Lyu Yixiong: T .
Purchases of products HBEER (iii) 76,809 74,316
Notes: PRRE -

The sales of products to the related parties were made according to
the prices and terms offered by the related parties with reference to
the market price.

(if) The service fees from the related parties were based on the sales
amount of the related parties.

(iif) The purchases of products from the related parties were made
according to the prices and terms offered by the related parties with
reference to the market price.

(iv) This related party transaction constitutes continuing connected
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

(i)

(ii)

(iv)

RRB T HEERTD2E T ER S
TTARGEE(EAR R RN IEH -

RE BT IRG B T IREARETAS

MIHEEATH -

AR TBEERD2Z T EREME
TTRGEE(EAR RRRIEL o

ZEEE T R HEK LT RAIE14AZ R

ENHERERS -
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31 December 2024
20244 12 A31H

35.Related Party Transactions 35.BEIX5 (&)

(Continued)

(c) Outstanding balances with related parties (c) EEBFEES MY REELSER
2024 2023
2024%F 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ETF T ARETTT

Trade: g5
Associates: BpE N |

Trade receivables B 5 rIERIE 3,748 7,033

Joint ventures:
Trade receivables

Z 5 I 24,556 11,204

o>
I I
B>
e

Entities controlled by close relatives of X EEBTERNIR
Mr. Lyu Yixiong: EHIEE S -
Trade payables B S 5RIE - 31,362
(d) Compensation of key management personnel d) T*EEFEZEBEEREMNEHMN :
of the Group:
2024 2023
20244 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREFTT
Short term employee benefits HHEEE R 8,461 7,997
Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in FRESTWENE —THBHNTB

note 9 to the financial statements.

KM ©
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36. Financial Instruments by Category

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

Notes to Financial Statements
I RS R 2R MY R T

36. 1%

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

*é

*R

31 December 2024
20244 12 31 H

RETHERMTE

RBEHR - FRERTANE@ENT

2024 2023
2024 % 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETTT AREFIT
Financial assets TRMEE
Financial assets at amortised cost: s = ol 3y
THEE
Trade receivables Z ZrEMRIA 424,652 317,448
Financial assets included in prepayments, T ATERRRIE « H bR
other receivables and other assets EREMEENEMEE 78,547 84,589
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss RRTEF ABER
SREE 244,324 318,042
Cash and cash equivalents RekReZED 459,449 697,689
Total 13 1,206,972 1,417,768
Financial assets at fair value through other 1Z R FlEFGARMZEEHA
comprehensive income: Debt investments: HEBEE - BEFKRE -
Bills receivable W EE 905 3,798
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31 December 2024
20244 12 A31H

36.Financial Instruments by Category 36.#%Z Rl Z oMW Em I A

(Continued) (#&)
2024 2023
2024 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBETF T ARETIT
Financial liabilities cRAaE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost: B AR A A (-
Trade payables B S ENRIE 638,407 518,613
Financial liabilities included in other ST AE MR A K
payables and accruals ErrEANcRAE 230,231 137,161
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings FTERITREMBE R
FTRIRIT REMMER 60,080 100,008
Total #st 928,718 755,782

37.Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy 37. /_\S'ZE&EHQIE-/-\SF{E

of Financial Instruments

=] n
The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial AEESHTA (REEAQATESEES
instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that HE BT ARSI MREERAFERT -
reasonably approximate to fair values, are as follows:
Carrying amounts Fair values
IREE NFEE
2024 2023 2024 2023
20244 20234 20245 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARBTE AR%®Tn ARETE

Financial assets SREE

Financial assets at fair value BRATEFABGZNEREE
through profit or loss

Debt investments at fair value &R FEFT AHMEER AR
through other comprehensive B4R &
income

244,324 318,042 244,324 318,042

905 3,798 905 3,798
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37.Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy

Notes to Financial Statements

of Financial Instruments (Continued)

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement

hierarchy of the Group'’s financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value:

B 75 S R P ot

31 December 2024

20241231 H
7. A FERETRMITAEAFE

B (&

TEHAAEECHIANATEHEE

=

BATEFENEE

Fair value measurement using

ARAFEFENZH
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
BERAEHRE BEAFIHE
ERTISRE WAHE BWAHE
(-3 (B=R) (B=8) st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR AR¥TR AR¥TR AR¥TR
As at 31 December 2024 72024F12 A31H
Financial assets at fair value ~ BAFEFABENERMEE
through profit or loss 118,031 126,293 - 244,324
Bills receivable e - 905 - 905
Fair value measurement using
ARATEFEN2H
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
BRAER EATATEHE
ERTISRE BABIE BABIE
(B—H) (F=8) (=4 wt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETTT ARETFT ARETT ARETT
As at 31 December 2023 7202312 A31H
Financial assets at fair value ~ EAFEFABZMNERHEE
through profit or loss - 318,042 - 318,042
Bills receivable ERER - 3,798 - 3,798

Annual Report 2024 € E#R% | 249



Notes to Financial Statements
B RS R 2R MY 5 E

31 December 2024
20244 12 A31H

37.Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy
of Financial Instruments (Continued)

Below is a summary of the valuation technique used and the key
input to the valuation of financial instruments:

7.AFERESRIAEAYE
B (&)

SRTEFABENEARGEEIZH AL
BEtaan T

Valuation technique Significant observable input

BELE BRATERRARIE
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss Trading price method Recent observed price
BRATEFAE=NEREE R G EIEE T EER (B

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers
into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and financial
liabilities.

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, bills receivable, trade receivables, trade payables,
financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables and
other assets, current bank loans, financial liabilities included in
other payables and accruals and lease liabilities approximate to
their carrying amounts largely due to the short-term maturities of
these instruments.

The fair values of interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
have been calculated by discounting the expected future cash
flows using rates currently available for instruments with similar
terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. The changes in fair
value as a result of the Group’s own non-performance risk for
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings as at the end of the
reporting period were assessed to be insignificant.

The Group’s finance department headed by the finance manager
is responsible for determining the policies and procedures
for the fair value measurement of financial instruments. The
corporate finance team reports directly to the chief financial
officer and the board of directors. At each reporting date, the
finance department analyses the movements in the values of
financial instruments and determines the major inputs applied
in the valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved by
the chief financial officer and also are discussed with the audit
committee.
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37.

38.

Notes to Financial Statements

Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy
of Financial Instruments (Continued)

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in
a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a
forced or liquidation sale.

Financial Risk Management
Objectives and Policies

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and
cash equivalents, lease liabilities, and interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings. The main purpose of these financial
instruments is to support the Group’s operations. The Group
has various other financial assets and liabilities such as trade
receivables and trade payables which arise directly from its

operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The board of
directors reviews and agrees policies for managing these risks
and they are summarised below.

Foreign currency risk

The Group’s major businesses are in Mainland China and the
majority of the transactions are conducted in RMB. Most of
the Group’s assets and liabilities are denominated in RMB. The
Group does not have material foreign currency risk during the
year.

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who
wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification
procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on
an ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not

significant.

37.

38

A7 s et
31 December 2024
20244 12 31 H

NFEREBRTEQFE
FEJiG?U

CREENBENATEKXEBREINE
AR (RFBFRERIN PRIERH
TENSBEAR -

ctREAMREEEERBE

AEENTIESCHTABERENESSH
EY  HEBERFTERITREMER -

aiﬁiwﬂil/ﬂ\ﬁﬁiﬁ BNRAXFALHE
MEE - AEEEZHEAMEHMEERE
& ﬁDﬁ%L¢E&F$E’JT’f%Fﬂ&m
NEZENRIEA -

ARBSRTAR 0 BRR HIEE

EEAREABASER c EFRE
0B R % B T - S
mF -

SN LB
AEBEBEBUAREANBRALH X
DUANRIELT - AEBABSEERA
EAANREEE - RFER - AEEYEE
AOMERR ©

FERER
AEEERERVEEERFNE =T
TXR5 -  ARERFHHRE MEFE

2 =

NEESTAETRINEFPERXZEER
ZARFF o IS - BE Y RUSUR G HRETT
B MAKREARNERARL TERX -
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31 December 2024
20244 12 A31H

38.Financial Risk Management 38.%5?@??%:@5 ZRBR

Objectives and Policies (Continued) (#&)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging BRAEERFRBEER
The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum TRETRNMI2AIBERAEBEEBR
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, which MEBEEZRAENSAEERR (X
is mainly based on past due information unless other information ZHERBEERTELD - BRIEEMERE
is available without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging EBRZ AN S A ER) RFRAPEEE D
classification as at 31 December. e
The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for financial FrEseRremEENBIRAE -
assets.
As at 31 December 2024 R2024F12 A31H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs Total
TEAEE
FEEB 2HEHEEER @5t

Simplified

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach

MR MR =R (ifl973
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AR®TRT AR®TRT ARWTRT ARETR

Bills receivable e 905 - - - 905
Trade receivables* B AW R - - - 439,090 439,090
Financial assets included in FFATERFUR - b EKIE

prepayments, other receivables ~ REMEENSREE
and other assets

- Normal** —Eg" 80,910 - - - 80,910
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBAEEEY

- Not yet past due — (A 459,449 - - - 459,449
Total o 541,264 - - 439,090 980,354
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Notes to Financial Statements

38.Financial Risk Management
Objectives and Policies (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging
(Continued)
As at 31 December 2023

A7 s et
31 December 2024
20244 12 31 H

B.eRAREEEFERER

(75

RARERFRER (&

202312 A31H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs Total
+ZEAES
EEEE 2HREEERE @t
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach
—FEBR 154 R K97
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETR ARBTT ARBTT AR®ETR
Bills receivable e E i 3,798 - - - 3,798
Trade receivables B H R E" - - - 329,453 329,453
Financial assets included in STABRNFOE - iU IE
prepayments, other receivables ~ REMEEMEHEE
and other assets
- Normal* - EE" 87,427 - - - 87,427
Cash and cash equivalents RehBeEEY
— Not yet past due — A 697,689 - - - 697,689
Total et 788,914 - - 329,453 1,118,367

For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified approach for
impairment, information based on the provision matrix is disclosed in note
22 to the financial statements.

e The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments, other
receivables and other assets is considered to be “normal” when they are not
past due and there is no information indicating that the financial assets had
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. Otherwise, the
credit quality of the financial assets is considered to be “doubtful”.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had certain
concentrations of credit risk as 33% (2023: 26%) and 68%
(2023: 69%) of the Group’s trade receivables were due from
the Group’s largest customer and five largest customers,
respectively. The Group does not hold any collateral or other
credit enhancement for the balance of trade receivable.

HEHEAARNF - ARERIRERR G
% BRBERENERNS B IR E225

=

SPATRRN R - B EEGRIAREMEEN S
BEME /\’féfiﬁf‘%@%ﬁHﬂ&ﬁ%Fft%J&I
BANBTLREENREERR BV ERUAR
EAREN - BRI EMEENEEERBRA
[ATRE] o

REEIR - ARAEEI3% (2023F -
26%) NM68% (20234 : 69%) HIE F EUL

R

DHBERAKRENREAEFRAKN

BEPHE BAKEFE-—ERENEE
R\ S o ARG E B ARIA A
SRR EMERYRERREMEEERE

i
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B 75 i M ek
31 December 2024
20244 12 A31H

38.Financial

Liquidity risk

Risk Management
Objectives and Policies (Continued)

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a

recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the maturity

of both its financial instruments and projected cash flows from

operations.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at

the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual

undiscounted payments, is as follows:

As at 31 December 2024

3&%@@%%@5

ERER

m=E

RBE SRR

AEERBEEUERDERFETA &
REBESERNEAR - HTAEEZEHES
BMTAIMBEMEEREXHNARRS

S=}
ILE °

ERANRBEANT  AEE2RAER
REMRODEBEROT

R2024%F12 A31H

Within 1to
1 year 5 years Total
1FR 1E5%F HEt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTT AR®BTR ARETR
Trade payables B 5N RIE 638,407 - 638,407
Financial liabilities included in other STAHMBENRIERETERL
payables and accruals TR BE 230,231 - 230,231
Interest-bearing bank and other FTEERIT R HMIEK
borrowings 60,080 - 60,080
Lease liabilities HEARE 43,471 9,483 52,954
Total “ast 972,189 9,483 981,672
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Notes to Financial Statements

38.Financial Risk Management

Objectives and Policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)
As at 31 December 2023

A7 s et
31 December 2024
20244 12 31 H

3&%@@&%@9%&&%

m=E

REBESRERE (&)
R2023%F12 A31H

Within 1to
1 year 5 years Total
15K 1255 st

RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB’000
ARETIL ARBTT ARBTT

Trade payables B S 5RIE 518,613 - 518,613
Financial liabilities included in other ETAEMENFIERETEAD

payables and accruals TR BE 137,161 - 137,161
Interest-bearing bank and other FTEERIT R HMIEK

borrowings 100,675 - 100,675
Lease liabilities HEBE 33,637 36,867 70,504
Total st 790,086 36,867 826,953

Capital management E2ERE

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are
to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its

business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk
characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust
the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend
payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue
new shares. The Group is not subject to any externally imposed
capital requirements. No change was made in the objectives,
policies or processes for managing capital during the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023.

The Group monitors capital using debt to equity ratio, which
is total debt divided by the total equity. Total debt includes
current liabilities and non-current liabilities. Total equity includes
equity attributable to owners of the parent and non-controlling
interests.

AEBECEENTIRZENIREAKHE
BRENFBEKEREFRBRERNLERUX
FEEBRERREERZAL

NEETIEHERERE L IRELBER LD
BURBEEENRBRSBEEIEDH
B BRFUFAREALEE  AEETH
BRARFRFTORE  MBRRFEEARRK
BAHEK REETZEMRINR KNG
BEHTEMR - Bi=2024F12 A31A K
20283F 12 A31BIEFE  EAEIEERZE -
BRSO B B &8 -

>
i
i
H
3
m
fi

R (AR EBR AL
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31 December 2024
20244 12 A31H

38.Financial Risk Management
Objectives and Policies (Continued)

Capital management (Continued)
The gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting period were as

3. 2REMEEBFEREE
(&

E2EE (B)

HEMRNWEERBELRNOT ¢

follows:
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBET T AREET T
Total debt* BE 111,671 165,574
Total equity A RE 2,234,670 2,029,227
Gearing ratio BEAMELE 5.00% 8.20%

The Group’s total debt were defined as total interest-bearing bank and lease
liabilities.

39. Events after the Reporting Period

There is no material subsequent event undertaken by the Group
after 31 December 2024.
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40. Statement of Financial Position of

the Company

Notes to Financial Statements
I RS R 2R MY R T

Information about the statement of financial position of the

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

31 December 2024
20244 12 31 H

40. 71 B) B AR R 3R

ARABRMERROFBRRARERAT

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREEE
Property, plant and equipment W~ BB R&E 14,507 13,667
Prepayments, other receivables and ~ JEfTRUE - E b fE UL FRIE
other assets HEi&EE 7,678 5,081
Right-of-use assets FREEE 24,286 29,207
Other intangible assets HEthEREE 11,686 14,730
Investments in subsidiaries R B AR NEE 664,588 572,702
Investment in joint ventures RELERENIRE - 2,698
Investment in associates REFE R EIRIRE 109,667 39,200
Financial assets at fair value through A FEFABZNEMEE
profit or loss - 101,230
Deferred tax assets BERIARE 16,964 18,498
Total non-current assets FERBEERE 849,376 797,013
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Inventories FE 346 3,467
Trade and bills receivables B 5 FE W IR N B W R 1,090,620 721,745
Prepayments, other receivables and ~ JEFTFUIE - E b fE W 3R0E K
other assets HtEE 627,475 378,701
Financial assets at fair value through I AFEFABFNE R EE
profit or loss 126,293 216,812
Cash and cash equivalents RERRSFEY 76,697 219,983
Total current assets nBEELE 1,921,431 1,540,708
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40. Statement of Financial Position of
the Company (Continued)

40. N2 BB K (A&

2024 2023
2024%F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETTT
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade payables Z S ENRIA 414,112 221,496
Other payables and accruals H M E 5B M ERTE A 133,468 28,573
Interest-bearing bank and other FTERIT REME K
borrowings 40,080 40,008
Lease liabilities HEBE 17,869 12,799
Tax payable FEfT IR 11,403 30,560
Total current liabilities RENBELRRE 616,932 333,436
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 1,304,499 1,207,272
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEERARBER
LIABILITIES 2,153,875 2,004,285
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kREBER
Lease liabilities HESE 8,222 18,861
Total non-current liabilities JEmBAERARE 8,222 18,861
NET ASSETS BEZRE 2,145,653 1,985,424
EQUITY s
Share capital N 398,025 397,958
Reserves ] 1,747,628 1,587,466
Total equity R 2,145,653 1,085,424
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31 December 2024
20244 12 31 H

40.Statement of Financial Position of 40.7&KQA T &R NE (&
the Company (Continued)

Note: PsE
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: AARREBREWNT -
Share-
based Statutory
Share Share payment Capital reserve Retained
capital premium reserve reserve funds profits Total
EB

Bx RHRE  AREE  ERREE AeRkBEE: RENE st
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETR ARBTRL ARBTR ARRTR ARBTR ARBTR ARETR

At 31 December 2022 and R2022F 12831 B R
1 January 2023 20231818 396,958 772,886 194,083 110,602 40,207 284,181 1,798,917

Total comprehensive income for  ERZ AL

the year - - - - - 340,230 340,230
Final 2022 dividend declared ~ BRH)2022F RE R & - - - - - (99,489) (99,489)
Interim 2023 dividend 2003 RERS. - - - - - (195%)  (195%)
Issuance of ordinary shares BFTHEALREE

relating to initial public offering BB @R 1,000 20,777 - - - - 21,777
Share issue expenses RVETRX - (1,394) - - - - (1,394)
Equity-settled share-based NEREERHA

compensation HERMEM - - 4,975 - - - 4,975
Transfer from retained profits ~ BRBFEER - - - - 34,488 (34,488) -
At 31 December 2023 12023412 A31H 397,958 792,269 199,058 110,602 74,695 410,842 1,985,424

Total comprehensive income  ER2EUWA L

for the year - - - - - 750,667 750,667
Final 2023 dividend declared ~ Z k#2023 F R EfR 8, - - - - - (298,468)  (298,468)
Interim 2024 dividend 2024 HRE = = - - - (298,519) (298,519)
Equity-settled share-based NEREERNA

compensation HHEREH 67 = 6,482 = = = 6,549
Transfer from retained profits ~ BRBAEEAE - - - - 75,154 (75,154) =
At 31 December 2024 2024412 A31H 398,025 792,269 205,540 110,602 149,849 489,368 2,145,653
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31 December 2024
20244 12 A31H

41.Approval of the Financial Statements 41, #it /BB 3R K

FHEMRON2025F3 H20B EEF it
AR AR T B -

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue
by the board of directors on 20 March 2025.
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